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Pilot

Season 1
Episode Number: 1
Season Episode: 1

4 N\
Originally aired: Monday July 9, 2012
Writer: Kenneth Biller, Mike Sussman
Director: Alan Poul
Show Stars: Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent Kate
Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel
Pierce)

Recurring Role:  LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Jonathan Scarfe (FBI Special Agent
Roger Probert)

Guest Stars: Paulino Nunes (Dr. Martin Bryant), Kevin Hare (Clark Weilman), Dy-
lan Roberts (Timothy May), Laura Carswell (Stimulus Package/Karen),
John Mavro (Hippie Guy), Kate Etienne (Female Classmate), Joseph
O’Toole (Jimmy), Jeremy Ratchford (Detective Hammet), Colin Cun-
ningham (Gerard Permut), Ravi Patel (Dr. Harvey Kapoor), Debra Mc-
Cabe (Pamela Weilman), Rick Roberts (Philip Klane), Paul Essiembre
(Alan Dirk), Joanna Douglas (Valerie Nelson)

Summary: Neuroscience professor Dr. Daniel Pierce is recruited by a former stu-
dent, FBI Agent Kate Moretti, to help out on a case involving the death
of a pharmaceutical executive. But Daniel’'s schizophrenic hallucina-
tions could potentially derail or solve the investigation.

The episode begins with Daniel Pierce
asking his neuroscience class: What is re-
ality? Well, he does not get the answers he
is looking for. So, he tells the class that
reality is a figment of our imagination. He
then tells about dreams and nightmares;
and says that if what we perceive is often
wrong, then how do we know what is real
and what isn’'t! Next, we see Lewicki fol-
lowing Pierce and telling him to eat; well
he is the guy who takes care of Pierce’s
schedules, Food and puzzles. Just then
a student approaches him and asks him
if she could buy him a latte; she wants
to discuss her term paper. But he tells
Karen that discussing her term paper is a code for sex and so he declines it.

Later, Pierce is listening to music and solving crossword. Just then Kate Moretti approaches
him; she is a Federal Agent and his former student. She has brought a case for him to solve; the
death of a pharmaceutical lawyer guy named Clark. His wife has confessed that she is the one
who murdered the Clark. But Kate thinks that Pamela is too thin and no way could she have
bashed her husband’s skull in. So, the confession seems coerced. The pharmaceutical company’s
top executives received death threats telling them that they were poisoning people. Next, Pierce
interrogates Pamela. He asks her as to why she killed her husband. Pamela says that she doesn’t
know. But it appears that she told the police that she wants the insurance money.

Apparently, Pamela agrees to whatever Pierce tells her; even taking home a stray kitten. Pierce
comes out and tells the Detective that Kate was right; Pamela is innocent and she has Korsakoff’s
syndrome. It is a neurological syndrome, where she remembers something when she is told
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something; irrespective whether it is the truth or a lie. So when she was told that she murdered
her husband, she thinks that is the fact and she says that she did. Whatever the case may be,
she doesn’t belong to jail and needs a hospital. Detective Hammond is clearly unhappy. Daniel is
waiting for Kate while Kate tells Hammond to transfer Pamela to a psychiatric ward. Everything
in the office starts getting to him; it is driving him crazy. Hammond calls him a 'nut job’ and Kate
defends Pierce.

But just then they see that Pierce is standing on a table, conducting the music from his
headphones. Well, he might appear crazy; but actually he is schizophrenic. Next, Kate talks to
the executives of the pharmaceutical company, Tech San. She wants access to all litigation files
against the company. Kate then shows Pierce the anonymous emails that were sent to Clark. He
goes through the emails and figures out that there is an anagram: scum needs a hearty reminder.
Kate is surprised. It actually means: Tech San murdered Irene May. Kate runs a search on Irene
May. It appears that Irene’s son, Timothy filed on her behalf. Agent Robert appears to be shocked.
They then go to Timothy’s apartment.

They break open the door. Timothy tries to escape through the window. Kate announces
herself and follows him. She then jumps on him from the fire escape and Pierce thinks that it was
crazy. Next, Kate and Pierce interrogate Timothy. He tells them that he did not kill anyone; but he
also doesn’t want to co-operate with the government. Pierce sends Kate out on the pretense to get
him some tea. Pierce manages to get through to Timothy by expressing his dislike for processed
sugar and diabetes. He also tells him that he is not a Fed but a college professor. Timothy relaxes
a bit and starts opening up. He tells Pierce that his mother had diabetes and a drug that was
given to her by Tech San gave her a heart attack. He is angry at them as they did not even pay
for the funeral.

But he still maintains that he is not a murderer. Kate tells Pierce that they have the man who
was making threats in their custody and the murder is a police matter. Kate tells Pierce that she
was demoted as she had a tendency to go beyond the scope of her investigation. And both of
them know that they cannot let this case go away. Next, at Tech San, Kate talks to Dr. Bryan.
Pierce questions Bryan about the effects of a drug called ’insuprin’ and tells them about Irene’s
case. Allan, an executive of the company, tells them that the case was dismissed in summary
judgment. Bryan’s expression changes and on being asked, he tells Pierce that Irene was in the
placebo group and she wasn’t even taking the drug. Just then, Pierce notices a man working in
the lab. As Pierce approaches that man, Hammond walks in, searching for Valerie Nelson. He
says that Pamela had another motive to kill her husband.

He was having an affair with Valerie and was supposed to leave Pamela the night he was killed.
Kate feels that Pamela just did not remember why she killed her husband; but Pierce thinks that
she is wrong. He feels that Pamela is a victim. Kate offers food but Pierce turns it down saying
that he has an appointment. He then meets Natalie. Natalie tells him that he should have said
a yes. She also knows that consulting disrupts his routine. But he tells her that Lewicki keeps
him organized and he is confident that Lewicki wouldn’t graduate soon as he keeps changing his
majors. Natalie then leaves. After sometime, the door bell rings. It is the man he saw at the lab.
The man says that he is Gerard Permut and that he has information on Clark’s murder. He tells
Pierce that he did what the voices in his head told him to do.

He says that he was in love with Valerie and that she said that they could have a life together.
But then she was sleeping with Clark and when he found out about the affair, he killed Clark.
Pierce calls out to Lewicki. When Lewicki comes down, Pierce tells him that there is a situation;
but by gauging Lewicki’s expressions, he realizes that there is no one there. Gerard was a hallu-
cination. The next morning, Pierce is still seeing Gerard. Lewicki tells Pierce that maybe Gerard
is not only some hallucination; maybe there could be some love triangle going on. Just then there
is a call and Dean Haley wants to see Pierce; it is about Karen. He wants him to apologize to her
and her friend, who filed the complaint. Natalie tells Pierce that he turns downs any such offers
as he is petrified about an intimate connection with any human beings.

He tells her about his hallucinations and tells her that he is incapable of any intimate con-
nections. She knows about the incident that happened with him. But he seems more worried
than usual. It is because he does want it to happen in front of Kate. Natalie suggests going back
on medications; but he denies. Natalie says that the hallucinations at times tell him that his
mind cannot see. He tells her about the incident. And Gerard also called Valerie Nelson a liar.
Pierce takes Kate to visit Jimmy; he is an aphasic who is unable to comprehend regular speech.
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However his condition makes him pick up some deflections in the speech of a person who is lying
and they find it funny. So, when Jimmy is shown Valerie’s interrogation tape, he laughs. They
confirm Valerie is lying.

Pierce and Kate go to Valerie’s apartment; but they find her lying in a pool of her own blood.
Somebody attacked her. Robert wonders as to why Kate is still solving this case. Kate then talks
to the executives and finds out that Valerie had some information that could be dangerous to the
company. Robert and Pierce are watching the interrogation, when Gerard appears again. Pierce
manages to get Robert to leave the room. Gerard tells Pierce that the murder weapon is poison.
He also points out to his own name and reminds Pierce as to how much he likes puzzles. Gerard
Permut is an anagram for 'drug tamperer’. This means that someone tampered with the study
results; and they infer that it could be Dr. Bryan. Kate approaches Bryan and tells him that he
tried to kill Valerie as she found out that he was falsifying the reports. He smirks.

But then she says the name to the shoes he is wearing and tells him that he left a bloody
footprint at Valerie’s house when he had gone there and attacked her. Bryan confesses that he
attacked Valerie. But he also tells them that he found out the reason why the drug was causing
heart attacks and he was working on it. But Valerie was collecting evidence against him. But
then he saw her stealing pills and so he followed her. He saw her giving them to Clark. He tries
convincing Clark; but when Clark threatened to call the police, Bryan picked up a trophy that
was kept nearby and smashed Clark’s skull. Later Kate tells Pierce that the footprint story was a
lie.

Just then Pierce sees Gerard again. The case isn’t over yet. Pierce rushes to Bryan and asks
him the reason why the drug was causing heart attacks. It was because the drug depletes the
thiamine levels in the body. And decrease in thiamine causes Korsakoff's syndrome; the one
Pamela was suffering. They visit Valerie. Pierce tells her that Bryan was too paranoid and he
thought that Valerie was supplying Clark the pills as evidence. But in fact Clark and Valerie
were feeding the pills to Pamela to give her a heart attack. And she had informed the CEO of the
company as she needed a cover story. Valerie lawyers up.

Gerard disappears. Next, Pierce calls for Karen and he apologizes to her. but she takes her
shirt off and tells him that he was right about the coffee offer. Pierce calls Lewicki and asks him
to check whether this one is real; and yes it is! Next, Pierce is sitting and talking with Natalie.
Lewicki arrives. There is no one sitting next to Pierce; Natalie is one of his hallucinations! He
gives Pierce his music and leaves.
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Faces

Season 1
Episode Number: 2
Season Episode: 2

4 )
Originally aired: Monday July 16, 2012
Writer: Kenneth Biller, Mike Sussman
Director: Greg Beeman
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent)

Recurring Role: Jonathan Scarfe (FBI Special Agent Roger Probert), LeVar Burton
(Dean Paul Haley)

Guest Stars: Andrew C. Lim (FBI Security Guard), Zeljka Gortinski (Marriage Bro-
ker), Zoran Korach (Yuri Petrovich), Kinga Philipps (Female Hallu-
cination at FBI Hdqtrs), Dylan Kenin (Man), Ted Mattison (Jolene’s
Husband), Tessa Munro (Jolene Grey), Dimitri Diatchenko (Alexi
Topaloff), Katherine Boecher (Olena Marchenko Prentice), Winter Ave
Zoli (Paulina), W. Earl Brown (Frank Prentice), Jason Gerhardt (Jake),
Jamie Bamber (Michael Hathaway)

Summary: Pierce is enlisted to help crack the case of a murdered mail-order bride.
A twist marks the investigation when it’s discovered the prime suspect
suffers from an unusual condition. Elsewhere, Moretti is drawn to a
handsome new professor.

The episode begins with Pierce telling his class
about lying and how to figure out how to catch
someone lying. He tells them about the polygraph.
Alongside, we see that Moretti has hooked some-
one on to a polygraph and is questioning this man
about an intruder who broke into his house last
night. In the class, Pierce says that it is not a bad
tool but it only measures stress response. But he
poses a question to the class: Can the brain ever lie
to itself? At a café, Moretti bumps into a man and
spills tea on his jacket. He buys her a new tea and
then tells her that she could buy him a real drink.
She thanks him for the tea and leaves. She then
meets Pierce. She is actually there for a case; she
shows him a picture of Frank and Olena Prentice.

Olena is Frank’s mail-order bride from Ukraine and for that Frank had to spend a lot to solve
her immigration issues. But Frank did not have that kind of money to afford and so he had to
approach a loan shark’ Alexi. Later Alexi tells Frank that if he does not pay back then they would
take Olena to 'work off the debt. The Bureau has been trying to nail down Alexi for years for loan
sharking and prostitution. Moretti tells Pierce that last night when Frank arrived home, he sees
a blue Camaro parked outside and he finds an intruder inside his house. The intruder knocks
Frank unconscious. In the morning, the maid arrives home and finds Frank on the floor and
Olena missing. The problem is that Frank cannot describe the intruder despite being face to face
with him and also Frank’s memory is fine.

He can describe everything that happened last night in perfect detail. So how is it possible
that he isn’t able to remember just this one thing? The two arrive at the office and talk to Frank.
Pierce asks him to describe his wife. He tells Pierce that she is blond and has a hot body. Pierce
and Moretti then walk out of the room and he tells Moretti to wear a new jacket and tie her
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hair up. They again enter the interrogation room and Frank does not recognize Moretti! Pierce
concludes that Frank has face blindness; he can never remember faces. So such people identify
the people around them mostly by their voice. Roger says that the intruder never spoke, so Frank
will never be able to identify him. But Moretti points out that Frank talked to Alexi a lot of times
and that he could identify Alexi. Moretti tells Roger that they should go to Alexi’s company and
Roger tells the woman behind the desk that all this is a scam.

The woman tells them that Olena went back to Ukraine as Frank was very mean to her. Moretti
is not satisfied with this answer and she grills her a little. The woman finally gives Moretti a name;
Yuri Patrovich. They go to Yuri’s place and see that he has a swarm of wives. Just then Roger
gets a call saying that a body matching the description of Olena has been found. And now Yuri,
who was initially shaking down Frank, is now the prime suspect. Meanwhile, Haley introduces
Pierce to Prof. Michael; the same man who bumped into Moretti earlier. He has accepted Haley’s
offer only if he had the chance to work with Pierce. Lewicki tells Pierce that Moretti wants his
help. When Pierce returns to his office, he finds a man waiting for him. He tells Pierce that it
would be best for him if he doesn’t work with the FBI as he too can disappear.

Pierce feels that this man is the mole. Later, Frank ids Yuri based on his bone structure
and legs etc. Pierce notices a woman standing nearby; she is wearing a golden cross. In the
interrogation room, Moretti tells Yuri that he is looking at death penalty for murdering Olena.
But she can work things out for him if he tells her about Alexi. Yuri says that he would rather
take the death penalty than rat out on Alexi. Pierce is listening to music when the woman wearing
the pendant walks up to him. He tells her that Yuri has a similar pendant. She tells him that she
has been with a lot of Alexi’s men and hence she is in the task force. She asks Pierce whether
Yuri really killed Olena. He realizes that she is the mole. But she says that she isn’t; but that he
is right about there being a mole. She is one of Pierce’s hallucinations.

At home, Natalie wonders why Pierce didn’t tell Moretti about the threat from the Russian
mobster. He feels that the man was only a hallucination and that he didn’t want to look crazy
in front of Moretti. But there is also a probability that he is wrong and that he was actually
threatened. He tells her about the mole the guy mentioned. Natalie tells him that there are many
kinds of moles- but there is also a kind that burrows underground. And there is other fact-moles
are blind! He rushes to Moretti’s house and tells her that Yuri did not kill Olena. He feels that
Olena’s husband, Frank killed her. But Moretti argues that Frank passed the polygraph. He
killed his own wife without realizing it was her. He feels that maybe she was wearing some kind
of disguise and so Frank didn’t realize. Moretti finds this theory ridiculous.

But somewhere Moretti is kind of convinced as well. So they reach the Prentice’s residence
and talk to Masha, the housekeeper. She tells them that she was hired by them as Olena spoke
little English and she was her translator. Masha tells them Olena has a cousin in the States;
Paulina. But apparently, Frank did not like her and asked her to go away. She tells them that
Frank did not let Olena go anywhere and at times he also hit her. Moretti finds a note in Frank’s
wardrobe; it is from Jolene. Masha doesn’t know her and it appears that Frank was paying her
credit card bills. They bring in Jolene for investigation. She wants Moretti to keep things discreet
and doesn’t want her husband to know anything. She tells her that the charges on the statement
aren’t made by her and she doesn’t know Frank and hasn’t called him either.

Pierce’s hallucination, the lady with the pendant, appears again and tells him about Jolene’s
heels. She stole money to buy those shoes as buying new things for her makes her feel better.
Later, they find out that someone was using Jolene’s identity and that a mole actually means an
impostor. Someone had changed her appearance to look like Jolene and Pierce points out that
every Thursday, this impostor visits a bar. Today is Thursday, and the impostor would go to the
bar today as well. They leave for the bar. They find a blue Camaro parked outside the bar. Moretti
arrests the owner of the car. He tells Moretti that he did not kill Olena as he loved her. She had
told him that she was going to leave Frank. But the night when she never showed up, he got
worried and went over to Olena’s house to check on her.

But she wasn’t there. Just then Frank came in and he hit Frank with a lamp. Moretti then
asks her about Jolene. But he doesn’t know her. Just then Pierce enters the room and tells him
that he knows Jolene intimately. Next, they ask Frank to identify a body. He doesn’t recognize
the body. They tell him that they know about his affair with Jolene and he admits it. But then
they tell him that the real Jolene is very much alive and Olena had stolen Jolene’s identity and
that he killed his own wife thinking that it was Jolene. She took up Jolene’s identity as she was
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a prisoner in Frank’s house and that was the only way to get money out of him. They tell him
that she was having sex with the man who installed Frank’s satellite dish. He tells them that he
never meant to kill her.

He tells Moretti that his mistress was bleeding him dry and since he wanted to pay Yuri, he
asked her to return the jewelry. She started hitting him and he lost it and pushed her away. She
hit her head badly and died. Next, Haley tells Pierce that he wants Michael to work with him and
was Pierce to apologize to Michael as he had insulted Michael by calling his book rubbish. Haley
has got two Cubs tickets and wants Pierce to take Michael to the game. Moretti is waiting for him
in his office. He gives her those tickets. Michael meets Moretti in the corridor and she invites him
to the game. At home, Pierce tells Natalie tha he cannot understand as to how Olena could pull
off such a scam. Just then something strikes him and he calls Moretti. He wants to tell her that
Olena isn’t dead.

They reach Prentice’s residence and finds Masha ready to leave. Actually, Masha is Olena.
Pierce knows that her cousin Paulina protected her from Frank. She came to visit Olena and
then while she was staying with her, they realized that Frank would at times mistake Paulina to
be Olena. Later they realize that he was face -blind and Paulina made a plan to take all of Frank’s
money. She took up Jolene’s identity and as Frank wasn’t used to beautiful women giving him
attention, he spent a lot on Paulina who was his mistress Jolene. Then, Olena made Paulina
wear her clothes, her perfume and a haircut and made her look like her.

Paulina was a strong woman and she made Frank stop hitting her (his wife). So Paulina
became Olena and Jolene and the real Olena ended up becoming Masha, the maid. Olena knows
that when Frank gets out of prison he will hunt her down. But Moretti tells her that she is
going under witness protection. Haley tells Pierce that Michael is very happy and he is taking up
the job. Next, Olena leaves town, Frank is under custody and Pierce sees Michael and Moretti
together. He is upset and walks away with Natalie. Moretti sees Pierce walking down the street,
talking to himself.
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86°’d

Season 1
Episode Number: 3
Season Episode: 3

e N
Originally aired: Monday July 23, 2012
Writer: Stephen Tolkin
Director: Deran Sarafian
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent)

Recurring Role:  Jonathan Scarfe (FBI Special Agent Roger Probert)

Guest Stars: Sheryl Lee (Lacey Pinderhall), Dan Lauria (Joe Moretti), Pamela Reed
(Mrs. Pinderhall), Armin Shimerman (Dr. Cutler), Patrick Cassidy
(Kenny Strand), Pete Gardner (Simon Kaydee), Richard Edson (Keith
Trevoy), Paul Ganus (Assistant S.A.I.C. Tanner), Bobby Hosea (Coach
Parker), Pat Millicano (Eddie Russell), Sola Bamis (Nurse Hannah Ed-
wards), Jayme Lynn Evans (Melinda Davis), Phil Jones (III) (70 Year
Old Pierce), Angie Simms (Goth Girl)

Summary: Pierce and Moretti race to find clues when a serial killer from 1986
begins killing again. They catch a break when they learn that one of
the victims is actually alive. Moretti’s dad, one of the investigators on
the original case, offers his daughter advice. Pamela Reed also guest-
stars as the mother of the surviving victim, while Armin Shimerman is
the victim’s psychologist.

The episode begins with Pierce posing
a question to his class: What comes
first, yesterday or tomorrow? They have
a discussion. Next, Lewicki is discussing
Pierce’s schedule with him and just then
he sees Moretti arriving. He hands over a
book of puzzles to the professor and tries
to stop Moretti from talking to Pierce. But
Pierce sees Moretti and is interested in
knowing about the next case. Moretti tells
him about the case where a girl would
] go missing every Friday for five weeks
= L\ SN SR j around afternoon and land up dead by
e " l %= ' Sunday morning in the year 1986. But
. S il et then the killing stopped, but the guy was
never caught. Now he seems to have reappeared; the same MO.

They have found prints that are a 100 percent match with one of the crime scenes in the
eighty’s. Pierce wants to know how he can help. Moretti tells him that the sixth victim Lacey
was found alive and could be their clue. But she is suffering from a psychotic breakdown and
she is in a nursing home. Pierce tells Moretti that if he has to have a breakthrough, he needs to
have more information. She tells him that her father who was the officer handling this case, Joe
Moretti, could be of help. They meet Joe. He tells Pierce that the killer kept a journal. Moretti
has a copy. He reads about his experience with each victim. But it appears that he knew Lacey.
Moretti and Pierce leave to talk to Lacey. On their way out, Joe asks her about Donnie. He then
remembers who Pierce is and he declares that his daughter had a huge crush on him.

Moretti pulls Pierce out of the bar. Next, Moretti tells Pierce that Donnie is her husband and
they are getting a divorce soon. Next, they meet Dr. Cutler. He warns them that if they are looking

| i
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for any help solving a case, they are going to be really disappointed. Pierce tries talking to Lacey.
But she does not respond. Pierce asks for her complete medical reports. Pierce then discusses
the reports with Cutler wherein he tells the doctor that after a trauma and head injuries, Lacey
was administered with a drug known to cause psychosis. It led to her being put on other drugs
which almost led her in being comatose. Cutler does not appreciate this and asks them to leave.
Pierce tells him that he will be back and that he wants Lacey to be taken off from her medications
so that he could ask her some questions.

Cutler refuses to do so. They then go to Lacey’s house and Lacey’s mother shows them Lacey’s
room. Nothing in the room has been changed since the day she was gone. She had told her mother
that she was going for the movies. Her mother decides to stop Lacey’s medications. Pierce and
Moretti arrive at the hospital and they see that Lacey is freaking out. Pierce is upset and talks to
Natalie about Lacey. Just then he stops in front of the mirror and sees his reflection as an old
man and he immediately realizes what the problem with Lacey is. He tries to explain to Natalie
and just then Lewicki arrives and sees that Pierce is talking to himself again. Pierce rushes to
the hospital to see Lacey. He tells Cutler that Lacey reacted violently on seeing her own reflection
as she did not recognize herself.

He then talks to Lacey and asks her about the last thing she remembers. She remembers
talking to her friend Cindy on the phone and tells him that she is 17 years old. Pierce then
tells Moretti that Lacey had suffered from severe head trauma and due to that she was unable
to create new memories. Moreover she was drugged thinking that she was a psychotic patient,
making Lacey’s condition even worse. Pierce tells the detective that she does not even remember
her attacker. But then the fact that he killer knew Lacey for a while, he is sure that Lacey would
remember everything before the attack. Moreover since Lacey’s mother has kept her room just the
way it was when lacey left. Hence, they could get Lacey home and she will remember everything
what happened during that week.

At home, Lacey’s mother has put off anything that is new. They tell her to tell Lacey that
she bumped her head and that led to forgetfulness. They go to Lacey’s room; she is behaving
like seventeen year old. She sees Pierce’s Tears for Fear t-shirt and tells him that she loves the
band. They then ask her about what she did during the whole week. She first tells them about
her tennis coach and that there was something wrong about the way he looked at one of the
students. Apparently, today the coach is married to the same student, for the past 23 years. She
then tells them about a hot lifeguard, who today is playing in a band and has an alibi. Then she
tells them about a guy who worked in the law firm and they find out that he has been in a coma
for years. Just then Moretti gets a call; she is off the case. She goes to her father and asks him if
there is anything else from the 86 that he remembers which could help them.

Joe remembers nothing new. But then he tells his daughter that when Lacey was kidnapped,
she was 17 and he knows that 17 year olds never tell their parents the truth about their trips
and outings. And hence, Lacey could be lying about going to the movie alone! Moretti shows up
at Pierce’s house and Lewicki is not happy to see her and tells her that it is not good for her to
keep disrupting Pierce’s routine. But she tells him that it is urgent that she takes him to Lacey’s
house immediately. They go to meet Lacey again and she does not remember them. They tell her
that she can help them in finding the killer as they know the fact that she lied about going to the
movies alone. She tells them that she was supposed to go meet a guy who is older than her and
he is a photographer; Kenny Strand.

She also tells them that he kissed her but she swears that he never asked her to take off her
clothes. Moretti goes to meet Kenny. He tells them that all the pictures were innocent; they were
of girls celebrating their youth. Just then Moretti gets a call; another girl is missing. Kenny isn’t
their killer. It seems that a girl goes missing and that the boyfriend goes looking and the girlfriend
is gone. The bouncer says that a man in his fifties was carrying a drunken girl to his car. He asks
for help and says that his little girl has the sense to call her daddy when she is drunk. The girl’s
name is Melinda. Just then a guy rides into the office on his bike and then rides back into the
elevator. Next, Pierce is walking in the park and he sees another imaginary biker trying to run
him over. He meets Natalie, who is sitting on a bench. She likes his 'Tears for Fears’ t-shirt. He
tells her about the concert they went for together.

But Natalie tells him that they never actually went for the concert and she ended up going with
someone else. He pulls out the stubs to the concert; but they turn out to be the entire tickets.
Natalie tells him that the summer of 86 was the time when he started 'to break’. He confused

12



Perception Episode Guide

desires with reality. Just then Pierce realized that the killer too imagined spending time with his
victims; he never really spent time with them. The killer mentioned in his journal that he saw
Lacey everywhere and that is because he was following her around; on a bicycle. He then goes
t Moretti’s office and shows her Kenny’s picture book. Most of the photographs of Lacey had a
bicycle. In one of the picture they see the guy. They show Lacey the picture and she tells them
that the symbol on the shoulder bag is of the law firm she worked in and those were used by the
messenger boys. They run the records and they find that they are left with eight possibilities.

They narrow down on one likely suspect. The officers move out, leaving Pierce behind in the
office. He has one of his hallucinations and that leads him to the real killer-Keith Trevoy. He got
married eight weeks after the killings stopped and his wife died recently. He calls Moretti. Probert
and Moretti go over to Keith’s. They find Melinda there; she is tied up. moretti then goes in and
Keith holds a knife on Melinda’s throat. Moretti tells Keith that they have found Melinda’s diary
and that she has written that she loves him and he is the one she has been waiting for. Melinda
plays along. Keith puts down his knife and Moretti gets her shot at him. He is then arrested. At
the bar, Joe brags about his daughter’s victory. She tells him the truth about Donnie.

Pierce meets Lacey and hands over the tickets for the 'Tears for Fears’ concert. Lacey is elated.
It is a gift her mother can give her everyday even if she will never go. Lacey’s mother thanks Pierce
for bringing her daughter back to her. Moretti arrives to meet Lewicki and apologizes for bursting
in the way she does. But Lewicki too apologizes to her as he realized that Moretti too brings
Pierce puzzles which help keep the doctor out of his own head.
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Cipher

Season 1
Episode Number: 4
Season Episode: 4

( )\

Originally aired: Monday July 30, 2012

Writer: Jerry Shandy

Director: Deran Sarafian

Show Stars: Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent Kate
Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel
Pierce)

Recurring Role: Jonathan Scarfe (FBI Special Agent Roger Probert)

Guest Stars: Cary Elwes (British Intelligence Officer), Neal McDonough (Fredrick

James Dafoe), Laurie Fortier (Hospital Doctor), Gill Gayle (Paul), Tzi Ma
(Prof. Arthur Wei), Will Rothhaar (Eddie), Marc Aden Gray (Clausner),
Claudia Blair (Patty Dafoe), Greg Collins (SWAT Leader), Noel Conlon
(Charles Dafoe), James Hornbeck (Russ Anderson), Kristen Kerr (Maya
Benowitz)

Summary: Pierce tries to crack a coded message left in a newspaper by some-
one who may be connected to a murder. But time isn’t on his side as
another victim'’s life could be in danger.

The episode begins with Lewicki pointing
out to a letter to the editor in the news-
paper; some sort of an angry rant. Pierce
does not react much. Lewicki doesn’t like
the fact that he isn’t being appreciated
and so he goes on a strike. Moments
later, Pierce meets his hallucination for
the week; whose identity is classified.
He is there to help him crack the code.
Perce wonders what code and he says
that Pierce must have definitely noticed
the awkward syntax. It appears that the
angry rant is actually a message which
says one down, four to go and it is a crime
that would be the front page news. Roger
finds this whole thing amusing and tells Pierce that they have serious stuff to handle.

Moretti also doesn’t take Pierce seriously. But just then she gets a call; it is about a sarin
attack on some lawyer and the lawyer is dead. Pierce and Moretti talk to the lawyer’s assistant;
and she describes as to how the lawyer received a box in the mail and he opened it thinking it was
a gift. She is upset about the fact that she couldn’t help him. Pierce tells her that sarin is more
poisonous than cyanide and she couldn’t have done much. They then look into his case files.
Pierce comes across the file of Miller Klausner. He is an exterminator. They interrogate Miller. He
had the resources to make a sarin as he dealt in pesticides. But during the interrogation, Pierce
realizes that Miller is not their guy.

He is dyslexic and hence couldn’t have written the letter. No wonder, a man as smart as him
didn’t make it pass the eighth grade! Pierce tells Moretti that the guy needed approval and so he
has decided to write to their guy saying that he has done a great job; maybe he will talk to Pierce.
He drafts a letter with a code in every tenth word and Pierce uses the name "Kindred Spirit’. They
post it as a comment o the original letter. The guy replies to the comment with a promise that
another will be killed the next day and there is another cipher. Pierce is having a tough time
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cracking the cipher and his hallucination helps him with a clue. Pierce figures out the address
where the next attack is going to take place.

But Roger arrives declaring that they are late and the attack has already taken place; Russ
Anderson is on his way to the ER. The doctor tells Pierce and Moretti that Anderson is gone into
a coma. Pierce devices a way to talk to Anderson. He asks Anderson few questions and asks
Anderson to think about two different actions which would stand for a yes and a no and the
actions would light up different areas of the brain. This could be seen on the scan. Pierce asks
his questions and they learn that Anderson knew the other lawyer who was attacked. On asking
why they were attacked, Anderson manages to say 'DAFOE’ and dies. Next, Moretti and Pierce
talk to Mr. Dafoe. Dafoe tells them that they were business acquaintances. Moretti wants to know
what the one thing is that connects the victims in the killer’s eyes.

Dafoe tells them that there was a downsizing that happened last year and they had to lay
off many employees before an IPO. This was standard. It is a long list of 263 employees. This
time Pierce sends a direct message to the guy saying that he understands hi. But the guy replies
that he doesn’t and that he is done with him. Pierce goes home and discusses this with Natalie.
Just then Natalie points out to the sounds of sirens coming from next door; it seems that there
is some threat. Pierce goes to check and Moretti tells him that it was a sarin attack again. This
time no body opened it. It was dropped in the mail and it went off accidentally. Kelly Owens, who
was working there, got killed. Roger arrives with the news in the papers which state that Pierce
is helping the cops by solving the ciphers.

So it appears that Pierce is in danger. Moretti wants Pierce to be guarded and it is going to
be Roger! At home, Pierce is discussing with Natalie and he says that the package wasn’t meant
for him. Roger arrives asking for mustard and Pierce calls Lewicki. He reminds him that he is
on strike. But he helps Roger because he is a nice man. Pierce gets back his focus on the case.
Something strikes him and he goes through his faculty directory. He finds out that Arthur Wei
holds the Dafoe professorship for genetic engineering. Pierce visits Wei with Roger. He tells Wei
that he was the target for the attack in campus today. He wants to know what Wei did for Dafoe
that got him the chair. Wei admits that he created a new strain of corn for Dafoe’s company. But
the corn wiped out the corn in the neighboring fields.

Dafoe then started suing the neighboring farmers for selling his corn on the grounds of copy-
right infringement. The farmers ended up in foreclosure. Wei tells Pierce that he asked Dafoe to
drop the suit else he would inform the authorities. But Wei was offered the chair and the grant
money. So now, the lawyer who died handled the suits and the banker, Anderson fast tracked
the foreclosure so that Dafoe could grab the properties of the farmers. Dafoe tells Moretti that
he would utter a word without his lawyer. Moretti tells him that he is on the killer’s list. He then
tells them about an incident in the share holder’s meeting, where an angry man stepped into the
room yelling and threatening. He had to be escorted out. Roger finds out about the ’angry man’;
Paul. He is serving time. Pierce tells them that the message in the papers could be for him, as
Paul’s mails are opened and read.

They go to meet Paul. Paul tells them that after he lost everything, his wife hung herself.
Moretti wants to know about his son Eddie. Paul knows that the message was from Eddie; but
Eddie is his son and he couldn’t turn him in. Paul says that after all of this went down, something
in him broke. They tell Paul that they aren’t able to find his son as he is not home. Paul tells
them about a place he likes to go to think. When they reach there, they don’t find Eddie. Instead
they find another coded message. Pierce infers that Eddie is feeling guilty that he accidentally
killed an innocent college student. Pierce takes a look at the message once again and figures
out that it is a book cipher. But they don’t know which book. The hallucination arrives and tells
Pierce to search his mind. It is Pierce’s book; The Mind! They read the code and check for the
words in the book.

They get the message which says that today he is going to destroy the villain just like he
destroyed his family. The hallucination appears again and tells him that maybe there is another
clue hidden in the message. But Natalie appears and tells Pierce that he doesn’t need the hallu-
cination’s help. She tells him that all he needs to do is crack Eddie. She helps him realize that
Eddie is going after Dafoe’s parents. The team is outside Dafoe’s house. Pierce tells them that
Eddie wants to talk to him. But Eddie threatens to blow up the place if anyone else enters the
house with Pierce. Pierce finds Dafoe’s parents are alive. He tells Eddie that he understands why
he is doing all this.
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But he says that Dafoe’s parents are innocent. But Eddie argues that they raised Dafoe. But
Pierce reminds him that Paul raised him with a conscience. Pierce tells him that no one else
needs to die; Dafoe and Wei are going to jail. Eddie has finished the job. He tells Eddie that he
will talk to the US Attorney to have Eddie sentenced to the same prison as his father’s. He also
warns Eddie to get away from the window as one of the snipers take a shot at him.

Eddie is guilty about killing an innocent girl. Pierce tells him that he meant when he said
that no one else needs to die. Eddie surrenders. Next Pierce Asks his class: what is conscience?
Alongside we see that Eddie reunites with his father in prison, Dafoe is arrested and Pierce serves
Lewicki a plate of fruit! The strike is over!
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The Messenger

Season 1
Episode Number: 5
Season Episode: 5

4 \
Originally aired: Monday August 6, 2012
Writer: Stephen Tolkin, Jason Ning
Director: Christopher Misiano
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent)

Recurring Role:  LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Guest Stars: Roger Bart (IRS Agent Ethan Kendrick), Jaimie Alexander (Nicky
Atkins), Brett DelBuono (Kyle Jensen), Melissa Farman (Joan of Arc),
Tim Guinee (Tom Shelby), Lisa Waltz (Sandy Shelby), Christopher
Backus (VA Outreach Guy), Anita Finlay (Mrs. Baker), Piter Marek
(Hospital Doctor), Ryan Slater (Greg Jensen), Bradford Anderson
(Shane Flannery)

Summary: When Pierce and Moretti investigate the death of a young man they
must determine if his murder is linked to his past drug use or his new
life in a cult where a young man believes God speaks to him. Pierce
receives an award from the university for his research.

The episode begins with Daniel being in-
formed that he has won this year’s Dav-
enport Prize for exploration in science.
Daniel though is clearly not comfortable
with all the attention being showered on
him. Kate meanwhile comes in and asks
for Dean Haley’s help, in identifying some
tattoos on a murder victim’s body. She
asks him to closely look at the tattoos,
and see if they can help her ID the victim.
Kate on some pretense also manages to
get Daniel on the case, so he can avoid
the hoopla regarding his award. Later,
Daniel does a better job of identifying the

: : tattoos than Haley, and this helps Kate
get an ID. Turns out, the victim’s name is Jared and he was an addict. Later, his mother is
informed about his death.

She then tells Kate how she was expecting this to happen one day. She also tells Kate how she
tried everything possible to get rid of his addiction, but when he turned 21 and gained access to
his grandfather’s trust fund, there was no stopping him anymore. She also tells Kate, how Jared
had recently joined some religious cult, and claimed to hear the voice of God, which helped him
stay clean. Later, Kate informs Daniel about the cult, which is called 'Haven House’ which is
centered around a 16 year old kid, named Kyle Jensen. 'They say he talks directly to God’. Turns
out, the victim gave almost $500,000 to this cult.

Later, the two pay the cult a visit and sit through one of Kyle’s sessions, about the things God
told him. Daniel is shocked when Kyle looks at him and says that there is somebody here who
has only doubt, and I am glad that he is here. Later Kate is informed that, Jared was once again
seeing his addict friends. Then she is told about a guy named Shane, who was earlier in the cult,
but didn’t feel Kyle’s parents were doing enough for Kyle. She is informed that he was a kind of a
fanatic. Shane had allegedly threatened to burn down the house along with everyone in it. That
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is when Jared had asked Shane to leave, and when Shane refused Jared threw him out. When
Shane left, he was ranting about Jared paying for his sins. Later Daniel asks Kyle 'How did you
know I was a non-believer, did God tell you that?’

Kyle in return tells Daniel that he could simply see it in his face. He then tells Daniel how God
first began talking to him, when he was 12. He tells Daniel when he hears God’s voice it feels
to him like he is asleep and awake at the same time. He also reveals that, he gets headaches,
feels nauseated and also feels euphoria, during this experience. Later, Daniel tells Kyle and
his parents that the symptoms beings exhibited by Kyle are classic symptoms of temporal lobe
epilepsy, which can be caused by a tumor. Daniel asks that Kyle be tested by him, so he can find
if it’s really a tumor, as Kyle’s condition could be fatal. Kyle though is adamant he doesn’t want
the tests done, because even if it's a tumor, it was given to him by God.

Kyle’s parents tell Daniel that they will talk to him and try to convince him, but they shall not
force him to do anything that he doesn’t want to. Kate later tells Daniel that, if it will make him
feel better she will have the IRS look into the books of '"Haven House’, but her money is on Shane
being the culprit. Later, Daniel is informed that the cult’s books are absolutely clean. Shane is
meanwhile brought in for questioning. He reveals to Kate, how he saw Nikki the girl who is about
to get married to Kyle’s brother, in Jared’s arms, in Jared’s bedroom in Haven House. He then
insinuates that it was probably Kyle’s brother who killed Jared, as he too came to know about
Nikki and Jared having an affair.

Daniel meanwhile hallucinates, Joan of Arc sitting beside him and telling him that, Kyle is
not the killer. Nikki later admits to Daniel and Kate that she did go into Jared’s room, but only
because his room was besides hers and she heard him crying and had hence gone in to console
him. She also tells them her fiancé Greg, couldn’t have know about this as his room is downstairs
and in the back. She also tells them how Jared had admitted to her that he was slipping, and
also how he took her sympathy the wrong way and made a pass at her. She though told him she
is committed to Greg and left. She did not say all this before, allegedly because Greg loved Jared
and she didn’'t want to upset him. Later at home, Daniel is informed that Kyle is in the hospital.

Turns out, he had a seizure while climbing down the stairs, and in turn fell and hurt his head
which has caused internal bleeding. The doctor also reveals that the accident was a blessing in
disguise, as it was revealed that Kyle has an invasive tumor in his left temporal lobe. It’s possible
the fall dislodged the tumor, which is possibly causing the internal bleeding. Daniel meanwhile
figures out that, Kyle probably didn’t have a seizure, but had instead figured out who killed
Jared, therefore someone pushed him down the stairs. Later, Kate questions a man who was
seen roughing up Jared, right before he was killed.

Daniel meanwhile decides to stay at the hospital, for Kyle’s protection. The guy its turns out is
a war veteran, who was angry at Jared giving out pamphlets about a church giving donations. He
then reveals to Kate how the school in Afghanistan where Haven House claims to donate money,
actually does not exist. He then tells Kate how he was stationed in Afghanistan in the same place
where the school is claimed to be, according to the pamphlet, and no such school actually exists
there. He it turns out, told Jared about it just like he told her, and Jared outraged on hearing
this decided to report it to the IRS.

Kate is shocked to hear this, as the IRS gave the cult a clean bill of health. Later Kate confronts
Ethan the IRS official who had looked over the books of Haven House and had given it a clean
chit. Turns out, Ethan was making a run for it, when he was apprehended by Kate. Meanwhile,
the doctor at the hospital informs Kyle’s family that Kyle formed complications during the oper-
ation and has gone into a coma. He also hints that Kyle might not make it. Meanwhile, Ethan in
exchange for a lighter sentence admits to Kate that he did take a bride. Later Kate places Shelby,
Kyle’s stepfather who is at the hospital under arrest, for Jared’s murder. Kate later tells Daniel
how Ethan admitted to being bribed by Tom Shelby for a clean audit.

Daniel though doesn’t seem convinced about Tom being the killer and decides to stay with
Kyle for his safety, till the charge is proven. Tom is later visibly shocked at the accusations leveled
at him by Kate and claims to know nothing about any of it. Daniel meanwhile is alone with Nikki
and Kyle in the room. Nikki asks him for some time alone with Kyle so she can pray for him. Just
then Daniel hallucinates, Joan of Arc telling him how Nikki wants to kill Kyle and hence wants
time alone with him. Daniel on hearing this insists on staying. Daniel then pretends as if Kyle
is dead by removing the connection to his neuro-electrical sensor, which Nikki doesn’t notice.
She then rushes out to inform the family about Kyle passing away. Daniel then reattaches the
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connection and immediately informs Kate about Nikki being the killer and not Tom.

Kate decides to put a tail on Nikki and see where she is headed in such a hurry. Later NikKkKi is
caught red handed by Kate and her team, filling up a bag with bundles of cash, at a bank. Ethan
is then confronted by Kate once again. Turns out, he loved her and had hence lied, naming Tom
instead of her. Kate then gets him to spill the beans, by revealing to him how Nikki was planning
to leave the country with all the money, on her own, leaving him behind.

He reveals how Nikki planned the whole thing including her pretending to be a ’lost lamb’, so
she could enter Haven House, and swindle all the money. Jared came to know about this and so
did Kyle so she killed Jared and tried killing Kyle. Later the doctor informs Daniel that Kyle is out
of danger and shall recover fully. Later Daniel hands over the money he got from the Davenport
Prize to Kyle, who says he wants to open an actual school in Afghanistan for kids.
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Lovesick

Season 1
Episode Number: 6
Season Episode: 6

4 N
Originally aired: Monday August 20, 2012
Writer: Jason Ning
Director: Greg Beeman
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent)

Recurring Role: LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Guest Stars: Jamie Bamber (Michael Hathaway), Krista Allen (Allison Bannister),
Mary Birdsong (Cheryl Corvis), Vanessa Branch (Michelle Akers), J.R.
Cacia (Thomas Akers), Spencer Garrett (Howard Reycraft), John M.
Jackson (Vincent), William Ragsdale (Dr. Julian Corvis), August Emer-
son (Justin Reycraft), Jillian Murray (Misty Corbett), T.J. Hoban (Toby
Mulligan), Lendon LeMelle (Rodney), Wolfgang Bodison (Chris Leavins),
Brooke Newton (Weather Girl), Laura Carswell (Karyn)

Summary: Pierce is called upon to help the FBI investigate the murder of a ther-
apist. Moretti spends more time with Professor Hathaway. And Dean
Haley uses Pierce as bait to get a wealthy alumni?s widow to fund a
new building.

The episode begins with Daniel dis-
cussing about free will in his class. After
class while he is feeding the pigeons, Kate
meets up with him. Kate asks Daniel how
he would like to help the FBI bring down
‘a big bad insurance company?’ Daniel
jumps at the opportunity. Later he is in-
formed of a patient named Sanjay Patel
who was suffering from severe depres-
sion, and who eventually committed sui-
cide. Turns out, his medical insurance
company Genstar, did not cover his med-
ical costs in a satisfactory manner, and
hence he could not receive proper treat-
ment for his condition.

She also informs Daniel that, Sanjay was treated only for four sessions by a psychiatrist
named Julian Corves, who decided Sanjay was better after just 4 sessions with him, which Daniel
finds outrageous. She eventually reveals to Daniel, how Julian was recently found murdered in
his office. Someone as it turns out shot him in the face. Sanjay’s family on the other hand filed a
lawsuit against Genstar, and Julian too was slated to testify on this matter. Kate’s job for now is
to go over Corves’ flies and find out what he was going to reveal to the US Attorney. She in turn
wants Daniel as an expert, who can assist her on this case. Later at Julian’s office they find his
wife, sitting on the floor and crying. She is consoled by the two.

Daniel then asks Kate to take her home and he gets to working on Julian’s files. From the files
Daniel discovers, all the patients sent to Corves by Genstar, were seen by him only a few times,
as opposed to other patients who directly came to him and had the same problem but were seen
30-40 times. He and Kate both then conclude that Genstar was prompting Corves to pull this
con, in return he was possibly paid a major bonus by Genstar. He also finds out that Corves was
treating patients for a condition that doesn’t exist in known psychiatry, and interestingly these
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patients weren’t even sent by Genstar, but were paying cash. Later Daniel has an epiphany, and
tells Kate he thinks he knows who killed Corves. The two then meet the father of one of Corves’
patients named Justin.

The man tells the two how his son Justin who was a normal kid just changed, once he became
a teenager and started running with the wrong crowd. He had thought Corves could help him get
back on the right track. The man presently doesn’t have an idea where his son is, since the last
time he left his house in anger. Kate later arrests a guy, who was following them in a black SUV.
Kate later questions the man named Vincent, who it turns out is an ex-cop. He tells Kate that
he is working for Genstar now and was following Corves, in order to dig up dirt on him. He tells
Kate he did not see who killed Corves, as he was at an AA meeting at the time. He also reveals
to Kate how Corves was having an affair with a young woman, and how he was threatened by a
large man recently, right after he left the girl’s apartment.

Misty the girl he was having the affair with, tells the two that the large man was probably her
jealous ex, Toby. Later when Kate approaches Toby for questioning, he tries to make a run for it,
but is eventually apprehended with some help from Daniel. Toby then tells the two that, he ran
because he thought they were there asking about his usage of steroids, and assures the two he
didn’t kill Corves. He also reveals to them how he had told Corves’ wife about his affair. His wife
later tells the two that she knew about all of her husband’s affairs, but she liked the fact that
other women found her husband attractive. Later Justin is found and brought in for questioning.
He tells the two how Corves gave him some pill and made him watch porn. He told Justin it was
a cure for him being gay.

Later the two conclude that, the secret cure that Corves was supposedly working on, was
actually trying to cure homosexuality. Daniel concludes that just like Justin, Corves probably
had other patients too who were angry with him for him trying to cure their homosexuality.
Daniel then interviews the patients who were sent to Corves, in order for their homosexuality to
be cured. Turns out, he convinced these patients of his that their homosexuality was a neural
chemical disease that could be cured. They also mention about the pill and them being made to
watch porn by Corves. Apparently all his patients seem really happy with him, and tell Daniel
how Corves saved their lives. Daniel later tells Kate that Corves probably gave his patients a drug
that affected a part of their brain that caused sexual arousal.

Daniel tells Kate that they might find the traces of the mystery drug in Corves’ system, which
they can then analyze. Daniel also concludes that Coves was gay and was also possibly trying to
cure himself. The two later confirm their doubts and confront Corves’ wife, who claims Corves
had cured himself. Kate though gives her proof that he hadn’t, and that he was sleeping with
other men, even after supposedly being cured. Kate then adds that his wife was angry about
the fact that Corves would never be cured and hence had possibly murdered him. The wife on
hearing this refuses to answer any more of their questions and asks to talk to her attorney.
Daniel later figures out that, Corves might have abused his authority and he is sure, that is what
got him killed.

Later, one of Corves’ patients named Thomas is brought in along with his wife, for questioning.
Daniel then mentions to Thomas, how he had observed while interviewing Thomas earlier that,
he was experiencing side effects from the drug he was given by Corves, although he had claimed
he stopped taking it 6 weeks ago, as he was supposedly cured. Thomas on being cornered admits
that he is still taking the drug. Daniel then confronts Thomas about the fact that Thomas and
Corves were sleeping together, as it turns out. She then tells Thomas’s wife who is pretending to
be incredulous that, she has discovered she had a .38 registered to her name in college, and as
it turns out a .38 is what was used to kill Corves. Kate further adds that, the cops are searching
her place for the weapon, right now’.

She on hearing all of this admits that she did it and adds that she just wanted a regular
marriage. It was for this reason that she forced Thomas to go and see Corves, as she thought it
would fix her marriage, but 'he ruined it’. Daniel though interrupts her and tells Thomas ‘you
are not really going to let your wife take the fall for what you did?’ Thomas then admits to how
the drug initially worked, but eventually how he began cultivating feelings for Corves and had an
affair with him.

He loved his wife and wanted to be with her, so he needed the drug, hence he went to Corves’
office pointed a gun at him and was removing the pills from his locker, Corves on the other hand
was trying to convince him to stop living a lie and be with him. Corves also confessed his love for
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Thomas, but something inside Thomas snapped and he shot Corves. Later the two take Justin
back to his father, who welcomes him with open arms.
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Nemesis

Season 1
Episode Number: 7
Season Episode: 7

( N\
Originally aired: Monday August 27, 2012
Writer: Amanda Green
Director: Christopher Misiano
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent
Kate Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent)
Guest Stars: Tom Sizemore (Bobby Lonergan), Edward Furlong (Pete Dolan),

Jonathan Tucker (Brady McGraw), Mary Page Keller (Judge Karen
Trent), Lisa Banes (FBI Special Agent in Charge Irene Reardon), Conor
O’Farrell (David Trent), David H. Lawrence XVII (Public Defender),
Nicki Micheaux (Ellen), Chic Daniel (Team Leader)

Summary: Pierce must take a deep look into his own life when he is brought into a
case involving a schizophrenic. Meanwhile, Moretti stops at nothing to
impress her new boss at the FBI. Guest star Tom Sizemore plays a top-
level Irish mobster, while guest star Edward Furlong plays a would-be
tough guy who may have played a crucial role in the crime.

The episode begins with Pierce arriving
at Kate’s office. She wants to introduce
him to her new Director and wants to
make good impression on her. She intro-
duces Pierce to Irene Reardon and Jus-
tice Karen Trent. Irene tells the group
that Karen is shortlisted for the Solicitor
General. Irene tells them that Karen has
been receiving threatening letters and so
they are opening a formal investigation.
But Karen thinks that Brady is harm-
less. He was sentenced for trespassing
and domestic terrorism. But on an eval-
uation, he was diagnosed as a paranoid
schizophrenic. And so Karen sentenced
him for treatment instead of jail. Irene shows Pierce some of the threatening letters and she
wants Pierce to help get Brady off the streets.

Next, Pierce and Kate go to Brady’s place. At first he doesn’t let them enter, but when Pierce
tells him that Karen sent them, he opens the door. Pierce notices the paintings and letters on
the walls. He understands that Brady is on Karen’s side. In fact, he sees her as a superhero,
Nemesis. He tells Brady that he can trust them as he trusts the Healer. Pierce tells Kate that
Brady sees Karen as Nemesis who will avenge for Justice and save the earth. Brady explains
that he never meant to scare her but wanted her to know that he is on her side. Pierce asks him
whether he is seeing a doctor. Brady gets angry and tells him that when he takes medication,
he doesn’t receive any signals from Nemesis’ planet and then he is lonely. Pierce and Kate meet
Karen and her husband David.

David wants Brady to be locked up or be treated. Kate suggests Federal protection. Irene
declines. She felt like an idiot when there were feds following her on her morning run when she
was on an Irish mob’s case. At home, Natalie tells Pierce that not taking medications prevent him
from leading a normal life and making friends. Just then Kate arrives and tells Pierce that David
Trent came home and found Karen stabbed to death. Obviously, Brady is the prime suspect.
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They reach the crime scene. David and Irene blame Pierce. Next day, Kate tells Irene that there
is no evidence against Brady. She suggests some other suspects. She also points out that the
previous year; the Irish mob had put a bounty on her head. But Irene thinks that Pierce messed
up and so now he is off the case.

At home, Natalie feels that Pierce is over-identifying with Brady. She suggests that he should
find Brady. She tells him that he can understand Brady better and so find him might be easy
for Pierce. He goes to Kate. He feels that the healer might be someone from the psychiatric care
Brady was sent to. They go to the psychiatric care. The nurse there tells him that Brady couldn’t
possibly kill anyone as he freaks out at the sight of blood. She cares about Brady and wouldn’t
turn him in. Pierce promises her that he would try to keep Brady out of jail and send him back
to treatment. She then tells them about an abandoned warehouse. They go to Irene. She allows
the duo to raid the warehouse. At the warehouse, Pierce convinces Brady to come out, but when
the feds see his sword, they tase him.

At the office, Pierce tries to meet Brady. But Irene tells him that Brady has confessed and has
told them where the knife is. This doesn’t make sense. But Irene shows him the knife and says
that there are prints on it that are to be matched. Pierce and Kate watch the interrogation video.
Pierce thinks this is imagination inflation but Kate tells him that it was by the book. Kate also
points out that the blood on Brady was Karen’s and the prints on the knife matched his. Pierce
still doesn’t believe it. Next, Pierce meets his hallucination for the week; the Nemesis. She tells
him that Brady needs a friend and that he needs to help him. Pierce goes to the public defender’s
office and convinces him to let him evaluate Brady and testify. The public defender agrees.

Pierce meets Brady. But he is not able to get Brady to focus. He says that they are blocking
the frequencies and he can’t remember anything. He starts banging his head on the wall. He then
says that he is sorry he killed her. at home, Lewicki tells Pierce to snap out of it as he hasn’t left
home for three days and he cant miss anymore classes. He also says that Kate has been calling
and the public defender has said that Brady is doing better at the hospital. Natalie arrives and
says that Pierce too needs to be on medication. He gets frustrated and writes out a prescription
and asks Lewicki to get it filled. Next, Pierce meets Brady and Brady tells him that he cannot hear
the voices anymore; probably the meds are working. He wished that he had listened to Pierce’s
advice of being on medication.

He says that the voices told him that Karen was in danger and so he went to the house with
the sword. He says that he saw himself stabbing her over and over. He then saw himself trying to
stop the bleeding. Nemesis arrives and asks Pierce has he ever had a hallucination which turned
out to be real. Just then Pierce realizes something and asks Brady why he didn’t use the sword
to kill Karen and where he got the knife from. But he has no idea. Pierce meets Kate and tells her
that Brady saw the stabbing from the ceiling as if he was floating above. He then was kneeling
besides the Judge and was trying to stop the bleeding. Pierce thinks that he tried to save the
Judge. And he is sure about his theory of imagination inflation. The feds interrogating him told
him the story over and over again, to the extent that Brady started believing it.

Kate wonders why he went to Karen’s house. Pierce says that Brady was hearing voices. He
feels that the voices were real and someone was trying to set Brady up as the fall guy. He asks
if Brady’s phone records and emails were checked. They weren’t. So, someone who knew about
Brady set him up. Pierce thinks it is David. But he has an alibi. He could have hired someone.
But Kate then wonders about the motive. Kate is working on the angle and checks the phone
records. Irene asks her to ask Pierce about what happened last year. Kate meets Pierce and asks
him why he quit the consulting gig when she went to DC. He admits that he was in a psychiatric
hospital as he realized he needed help.

That is where he met Lewicki. He was an orderly. They then discuss about Brady’s phone
records. It appears that he was getting calls from a prepaid number on the day of the murder.
They trace the call. Kate arrives at a bar and lures the guy out of the bar. She hand cuffs him
and takes him to the warehouse as she cannot take him to the office. The guy’s name is Pete. He
says that it was not his idea. Kate feels it was David Trent. But Pete doesn’t know David. He says
that Bobby asked him to get Brady to the house. Bobby is a part of the Irish mob. Kate gets him
to the office. Bobby claims that he is a legitimate businessman. He is a real estate investor. They
got the right guy with a wrong motive! They bring David in and tell him that Bobby killed Karen.

But then they also bring up David’s financials which prove that David had borrowed two
million from Bobby as he was in a crisis. Bobby had bought some land and Karen had brought

28



Perception Episode Guide

in a ruling on re-zoning that that land. David tipped off Bobby about the ruling. He had to make
some money. But as Karen was nominated for Solicitor general, the background check would
bring up the money trail between David and Bobby which would ruin everything. He tried to
persuade Karen to withdraw from the nomination. She refused. He then went to Bobby and he
suggested David to be a little ‘creative’.

They set up Brady. And the whole thing worked perfectly when poor Brady confessed to the
murder. Next, Brady is leaving the hospital. Pierce tells him that work and friends help. At home,
Lewicki has got the medicines Pierce had asked for. But Pierce doesn’t take them and puts them
back in the cabinet. He plays the piano. Natalie joins him.
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Kilimanjaro

Season 1
Episode Number: 8
Season Episode: 8

( N\
Originally aired: Monday September 3, 2012
Writer: Amanda Green
Director: Tawnia McKiernan
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent)

Recurring Role:  LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Guest Stars: Jamie Bamber (Michael Hathaway), Lisa Banes (FBI Special Agent in
Charge Irene Reardon), Gabriel Basso (Billy Mitchell), Amelia Rose
Blaire (Annie), Shane Coffey (D. J.), Greg Ellis (Karl's Attorney), Molly
Hagan (Professor Alison Emmett), Aaron Hill (Brian Cahill), William
Moseley (Prince Karl of Hesse-Brandenburg), Christina Scherer (Shan-
non Duquesne), Dov Tiefenbach (Andre Lustig), Jazz Raycole (Dorm
Student), Azim Rizk (Student), Carlie Casey (Christina Lake), Kayla
Cherie Compton (Indie Girl)

Summary: Moretti and Pierce are called upon to solve a crime in their own back-
yard when a college student is killed in her dorm room. Pierce is forced
into the uncomfortable situation of interacting on a personal level with
more than one of his students, which forces him to confront difficult
truths about his own past. The case comes just as Moretti is beginning
to re-evaluate her relationship with Dr. Hathaway.

The episode begins with Pierce telling his
class about ambition. Towards the end
of the lecture, he asks the class o sub-
mit their papers to Lewicki and Lewicki
is supposed to read them all the same
night. One of the students, Bryan is seen
dozing in between the lecture. At home,
Lewicki is frustrated that none of the stu-
dents remembered to do a spell check;
except one guy; Brian Cahill, the sleep-
ing beauty. Pierce goes to the Principal
and tells him that Brian’s paper is pla-
giarized and he feels that there is no way
that Brian could have written that paper
as it is too good. Brian is a football star.
Pierce wants him thrown out, but Haley says that there is no proof that Brian cheated.

Just then Haley receives a call; there has been a campus murder. Kate is spending her evening
with Prof. Hathaway and Pierce calls her and asks her to come over to Haley’s office. Haley
educates Kate about the situation where the body of Christina Lake was found on the campus
and the COD is broken neck. Haley wants FBI to investigate so that the parents and students
could feel a lot safer. Reardon calls Kate and asks her to take up the case. Kate realizes that
Pierce called Reardon. While walking down the hallway, Pierce sees one of his students, who has
been missing class. Pierce had assumed that he was sick but now he appears to be just fine.
They then talk to the students from the dorm.

A girl, Anne who lives below Christina’s room, says that she was preparing for MCATs and
that Christina was playing the music loudly in her room. They also learn that Christina broke up
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with Billy. Christina dumped him and Billy wasn’t too happy about it. Moreover, Billy was on the
campus when the murder took place. They then go to meet Billy, but on seeing them, Billy runs.
Kate catches him in the bathroom. During interrogation, Billy tells Kate that he was supposed
to get transferred to MIT for a better chemistry program. But Christina begged him not to. Two
weeks later, she dumped him. He blames Karl, a foreign prince, for their breakup. He admits
that he fought with Christina, but says that he did not kill her. He also says that he heard Karl
yelling at Christina after he left.

He says he ran because he had a joint in his pocket. Next, Kate runs a background check on
Karl and learns that he is a problem child who has been suspended twice. He is also accused for
rape and assault. Reardon informs the duo that Karl took off to St. Louis, but the plane never
got there. Next, Pierce confronts the student who is missing class and tells him that he has time
until next day to hand over his mid term papers. Later, Pierce and Lewicki talk to Brian. Brian
admits that he bought the papers. But he did that as he is having trouble in concentrating. Pierce
notices a disparity in his pupils and Brian tells him that he has been having trouble breathing
and headaches. A scan shows that Brian had a subdural hematoma and this means that he
cannot play football anymore.

Brian says that if he doesn’t play then he would lose his scholarship. Next, Kate tells Reardon
that she found Karl and she wants permission to fly to him. Reardon agrees and Kate arrests
Karl. He says that he did not kill Christina. Meanwhile, the student who was missing class
arrives with his papers. But Pierce realizes that this was not the student’s work. This was the
paper that Pierce wrote when he was an undergrad. Pierce tells the student that he has ruined
his academic future. But the student says that he doesn’t want a life like Pierce’s as he finds
it sad and pathetic. He tells Pierce that his name is DJ; a short for Daniel J. Pierce. Pierce is
shocked; it is him, when he was young. DJ tells him that he is Pierce before he forgot how to
have a life!

Next, Natalie tells Pierce that he did not recognize DJ as Pierce’s dreams had died when he
got diagnosed with schizophrenia and that he wanted to forget everything that he had lost. But
she points out that despite his condition he is extremely successful and that it is nearly like
climbing Kilimanjaro; just like one of his dreams. She says that he is seeing his younger self now
as he is emotionally distanced from his students. She gives Brian’s example. He simply gave him
the diagnosis and walked away. Pierce calls Brian o his office and tells him that he is not losing
his scholarship since he sustained the injury on the field. Next, Kate arrives with Karl. He tells
her that Christina was alive when he left. The fight was because she chose studying over him.
Christina’s blood that they found on him was due to a nose bleed.

But it appears that Karl has an alibi; Shannon. She tells them that she saw him drive off
and Christina was yelling at him from the window. Kate is not buying the story and she thinks
that Shannon is lying for money. Pierce tells Kate to search Shannon’s room for cash. But Kate
does not have a warrant. Pierce then goes to Shannon’s room and finds her roommate. She lets
him in the room and leaves to attend her lecture. Pierce finds an old scrapbook and learns that
Shannon is totally obsessed with Karl. Shannon tells them that she liked Karl since she was 12.
She also tells them that they slept together on the night of a party. But then Karl started dating
Christina and Karl told Shannon that he slept with her because he was drunk.

She adds that lying to the FBI was worth it as now she can prove to Karl how much she
loves him. So, Karl is still the suspect and so is Shannon. Next, Brian gets injured while playing
football and is in the hospital. His paralysis disappears after the craniotomy. Brian tells Pierce
that football was his dream and that he is nothing if he isn’t playing. At the station, Reardon
lets Karl and Shannon free. She tells Kate that they have no grounds to hold them and that this
could lead to a diplomatic incident. In the hallway, Kate hides from Hathaway. She doesn’t know
why she keeps pushing him away. Just then young DJ arrives and tells Pierce that Kate is into
him. Pierce tells Kate to tell Hathaway how she feels about him.

Next, Lewicki is playing detective and he finds out about the person who sold the papers to
Brian; Andre, a PhD student. Haley and Pierce confront Andre. He doesn’t remember the names
of the students he wrote the papers for. Young DJ is also present. He doesn’t believe Andre.
Andre says that he doesn’t sleep much. He takes a study aid; a pill that some brainy kid in the
chemistry department makes. Pierce immediately realizes that it is Billy. Kate and Pierce go to
meet Billy. Billy tells them that he stole the pills from Prof. Emmett. It was an experiment she
was working on. They talk to Emmett. She says that she was working on the pill for the defense
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as they wanted soldiers to stay awake and alert. But then they had to terminate the study as the
pill had some major side effects; aggression.

They were conducting their experiments on rats and they found out that the pills made them
hypersensitive to loud noises. Pierce now knows who killed Christina. Pierce and Kate go to meet
Annie. Pierce intentionally drops a book on the floor and Annie jumps. Pierce tells her that she
is taking the study aid. She tells them that she needed an edge for the MCATs. She admits that
Christina’s music was driving her crazy. She went up twice and asked her to turn the music
down. Christina was with Karl and she did not listen to Annie. The third time when she went
up, Karl was gone and Christina was leaning out of the window, hurling abuses at Karl. Annie
walked in and slammed the window on Christina’s neck. She turned off the music and went back
to studying. She nailed the MCATS.

Next, Kate tells Hathaway that their relationship isn’t going to work out. Hathaway feels that
she is into Pierce and he tells her that he understands and that he isn’t the guy for her. Young DJ
arrives and tells Pierce that he came to say goodbye. He is going to Africa to climb Kilimanjaro,
which Pierce wanted to do. Next, Pierce is lecturing his class on ambition. Annie is arrested.
Shannon is going through her scrapbook while Karl gets back to his colorful life. Brian is trying
to find new dreams and young DJ vanishes.

33



Perception Episode Guide

34



Perception Episode Guide

Shadow (1)

Season 1
Episode Number: 9
Season Episode: 9

4 )
Originally aired: Monday September 10, 2012
Writer: Mike Sussman
Director: Kenneth Biller
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent)

Recurring Role:  Jonathan Scarfe (FBI Special Agent Roger Probert)

Guest Stars: Freddy Rodriguez (Wesley Sumter), Jayne Atkinson (Helen Paulson),
Jimmy Bennett (Alex Willingham), Steven Culp (John F. Kennedy),
Nicole de Boer (Janice), Matthew Glave (Senator Scott Ryland), Bridget
Regan (Victoria Ryland), Michael B. Silver (Lawrence Crawford), Dave
Thomas (Editor Star-Herald), Hira Ambrosino (Dr. Susan Hansen),
Kieron Elliott (Dr. Jonathan Ingbar), Whitney Avalon (Psych Nurse 1),
David Farkas (FBI Agent 1), Jeff Kueppers (EMT), Jules E. Theodore
(Security Guard)

Summary: When a former student tells Pierce about a potential conspiracy re-
garding a U.S. senator’s death, things soon spiral out of control. Pierce
may not be able to trust those around him.

The episode begins with Daniel asking his
class 'What are you afraid of?” He asks
his students if humans can override their
primal nature and not react due out of
fear. Next, Lewicki gives Daniel certain in-
structions as Daniel will have to spend
the weekend alone; Lewicki has to go
home for his parent’s 30th anniversary.
At home, Daniel is watching the televi-
sion news, where Senator Ryland is tak-
ing oath for office. Daniel is making fun of
the speech and Natalie reminds him that

2 E- he voted for Ryland. Daniel doesn’t be-
heve in Ryland’s ablhtles Lewicki is about to leave when he sees that Daniel has received a
letter; it is from a guy named Wesley, a former student.

Lewicki leaves. Daniel has a grave expression after reading the letter; something is wrong.
Next, Daniel meets Wesley in an isolated place. Wesley tells him that Ryland’s predecessor, who
was killed in an accident, was actually murdered; his plane was sabotaged by Lawrence Craw-
ford, CEO of an electronics company. Wesley tells him that Paulson chaired a committee that was
going to pass a clean energy bill which would have cost Crawford’s company billions. Moreover,
an engineer, Brian, died when he found out about the sabotage. Wesley thinks this is a murder.
He says that no one believed him; except for this one reporter, David, who later drove his car off
the road! Wesley thinks that he is going to be killed next.

He hands over an envelope to Daniel which contains evidence. Just then an arrow strikes
Wesley in the eye and he falls down dead. Daniel panics and calls Kate. She rushes to the scene
with Probert. Probert was the first to arrive on the scene and he tells Kate that there was no dead
body when he got there. Hours later, Kate tells Daniel that there are no witnesses or traces of
blood. Somebody has cleaned up the crime scene! The envelope contains nothing but newspaper
clippings and it is no evidence. Daniel isn’t a reliable witness. Also, there is no record of Wesley
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attending college, but Daniel tells her that Wesley only audited his class. Kate wonders if Daniel
was hallucinating.

At home, Natalie tells Daniel that the story seems just like the one a schizophrenic would
come up with. She doubts whether Daniel has been taking his meds. Natalie reminds him that
he needs to think about Kate’s reputation as well. Just then Kate arrives with a video proof from
a student’s cell phone. She is sorry for doubting him. Daniel feels that looking into what Wesley
was investigating would lead them to his killer. Daniel decides to talk to David’s boss. The boss
tells them that Wesley was crazy. Just then Daniel meets his hallucination of the week: John F
Kennedy! The boss tells them that he could give them the David’s belongings from his desk. They
go through the things in the box; and they find 'Pleiades’ written on a page. Just then Probert
arrives.

He finds that David’s call records show that there were seven calls made to Helen, Paulson’s
wife. Daniel pulls out a clipping which states that Helen was offered her husband’s post, but she
turned it down and nominated Ryland. They go to meet Helen. But when they reach her house,
they see that the EMT is putting her in an ambulance. JFK appears and says that it is Dallas all
over again; somebody tried to kill Helen. At the hospital, they briefly talk to Helen, where Helen
tells them that David told her about the sabotage and that Crawford was the one who did it.
But she did not believe him as Crawford was a friend. Daniel asks her why she turned down
her husband’s senate. But before she could say anything, she dies. The duo then meets with
Crawford and Daniel notices the Pleiades stars on the wall.

Daniel mentions that the systems were faulty and despite that the plane was allowed to fly
when it was not supposed to. Crawford says that the systems were working fine. Daniel feels that
since the company itself examined the systems after the crash, they could have falsified the data.
At home, Daniel is trying to work on the code 'Pleiades’. Natalie tells him that the stars could
signify something else; like history. Daniel reads that the Pleiades, was once known to be the
center of the universe. This gets him thinking and he concludes that Pleiades could also signify a
secret society, the order of Alcyone; where the society was killing Congressmen. This could also
be a group of corporate who did this to maintain their power. Just then JFK appears and says
that the conspiracy wasn’t about getting Paulson out; it was about getting Ryland in.

Next, Daniel goes to Kate’s house and tells her that Crawford’s company bought electronic
voting machines. They manipulated the votes, and got Ryland in. moreover, the election results
don’t match up with the exit polls. Next, they talk to a woman named Janice, who works in
Crawford’s company. She tells them that she had found a virus that was set up to alter the
voting results. She told this to Brian. He then hacked into Crawford’s emails and found out
about a big meeting with the senior council and Ryland. Janice is ready to testify. She hands
over a flash drive which has a copy of the virus. Next, the coroner tells Daniel and Kate that Helen
died of radiation poisoning; polonium. She was murdered. Kate gets a call. She tells Daniel that
the flash drive had nothing on it.

They go to her hotel room and find that she is murdered. JFK tells Daniel that the answer to
when the meeting is supposed to take place is in the stars. Daniel goes back home and draws
conclusions based on the Pleiades and the helical Rising and figures out that the meeting is
scheduled for the next day. Kate seems skeptical. Just then Probert arrives to arrest Daniel for
Wesley’s murder. He then shows them the video and we see that the man with the crossbow
who killed Wesley is Daniel. Daniel feels that he is being set up. Kate believes that Daniel is not
capable of hurting anyone, if he is in his right frame of mind. JFK arrives and tells Daniel that
there is a fox in the henhouse; Probert is one of the conspirators. Kate tasers Probert and dumps
him in the trunk of her car. She tells Daniel that she is going to plant a wire in the conference
room and that she will meet him in few hours.

He kisses her and leaves. Next, Daniel is waiting for Kate at the Millennium Park and is
worried as she is late. Daniel goes to the conference room, where the meeting is supposed to take
place. He enters in after punching the code 'Pleiades’. But after he enters, he sees that everyone
begins shaking hands with JFK. A guard tries to push Daniel outside; it is Lewicki! Daniel snaps
out of his delusion. We see that Daniel is actually at home with newspaper clippings all around
him and this whole thing was only his imagination!! Just then Kate arrives. He hugs her and
asks her why she didn’t meet him. She is confused as the last time she saw him was when she
drove him back home after looking for Wesley’s body two days ago.

Lewicki plays the video that showed the sniper; but it turns out to be a video that was meant
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for his class. Next, in the bathroom, Natalie tells Daniel that that he needs help and that he came
out of the delusional state only because Lewicki came home. Daniel takes out his medication and
says that he should have started taking this, weeks ago. But Natalie points out that he needs to
go to the hospital. Daniel needs to be with her. But Natalie says that having her around is what
got him into this mess. He needs to let go off her for his sanity. Meanwhile, Kate tells Lewicki
that there is no record of Wesley.

He goes downstairs and asks Lewicki and Kate for a ride. He checks himself into a psychiatric
hospital. Next, Probert tells Kate that she needs to see a video which popped up online an hour
ago; it is Wesley’s video recording which he had arranged to be released only in the case of his
demise. In the video, Wesley says, 'If you are watching this video, then I am already dead’.

To be continued...
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Light (2)

Season 1
Episode Number: 10
Season Episode: 10

( \
Originally aired: Monday September 17, 2012
Writer: Mike Sussman
Director: Kenneth Biller
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vin-
cent/Dr. Caroline Newsome)

Recurring Role: Jonathan Scarfe (FBI Special Agent Roger Probert), LeVar Burton
(Dean Paul Haley)

Guest Stars: Freddy Rodriguez (Wesley Sumter), Jimmy Bennett (Alex Willingham),
Jayne Atkinson (Helen Paulson), Bridget Regan (Victoria Ryland),
Matthew Glave (Senator Scott Ryland), Scott Paulin (Senator Ted Paul-
son), Allison Smith (Laura Crane), Paul Ganus (Assistant S.A.I.C.
Tanner), Bob Morrisey (Senator Ryland’s Personal Physician), Glenn
Fitzgerald (Leo Attinger), Michael Canaan (Security Guard), Sherina
Mikasa Manning (Psych Nurse 2)

Sumimary: New evidence found online has Moretti seeing Pierce’s conspiracy the-
ory in a new light. Pierce’s new doctor presses him to face the truth
about Natalie.

The episode begins with the FBI watching
Wesley’s video, in which he states that he
was looking into the suspicious deaths of
Senator Paulson, engineer Brian and re-
porter David. Kate says that they should
trace the IP address to the person who
posted this video. At the psychiatric hos-
pital, Daniel is approached by Natalie in
a doctor’s coat and Daniel tells her that
no one can see her as she is a part of his
hallucinations. But then the doctor asks
him, who is Natalie? Actually, the woman
who looks like Natalie is a psychiatrist
and her name is Caroline. Daniel thinks
she is messing with him. He thinks that

all of this his delusion and he begins to run.

He comes across Max and Max slaps him hard to make him realize that all this is real; well
that is what he was hired for! Later, when Daniel is asleep, Kate arrives at the hospital and insists
on seeing Daniel. Kate tells Caroline that the delusion that landed Daniel in the hospital may
not be a delusion as they have strong indications of a murder that took place. Caroline says that
reliving that incident might not be good for Daniel. Caroline doesn’t allow Kate to meet Daniel.
Kate receives a call from Probert, telling her that they traced the ip address and the software
engineer’s son, Alex Willingham, bought a coffee at a nearby café 10 minutes before the release.
They catch Alex and he admits that he killed Wesley, even though he didn’t want to.

He tells Kate that his father was acting weird as he was having trouble at work. He is sure
that his father was murdered. He knows this because, while researching about the company,
Alex came across a blog, where a guy named Truth-bomb had mentioned about the conspiracy
and that Brian was aware of this and that he was killed. Alex then met Truth-bomb, who turns
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out to be Wesley. They take the help of a reporter, David, but he too was killed in a crash. That
is when Wesley decided that they should take Daniel’s help. Wesley asked Alex to kill him so that
they could convince Daniel about the conspiracy. Hence, Alex shot Wesley with his dad’s crowbar
as it would leave no blood.

Wesley had also asked Alex to hide a tarp in the dirt, so that when Daniel is scared away, he
could simply roll the body and drag it away. Alex requests Kate to find the truth; else he killed
Wesley for nothing. Max tries his best to avoid Haley, but in the end Haley confronts Max and
Max tells him where Daniel is. Haley goes to the hospital and talks to Caroline. He tells her that
Daniel and he were roommates and that Daniel had a girlfriend named Natalie. He met her at a
party. It was a long distance relationship. Then Daniel started showing symptoms and he ended
up in the hospital. Caroline then goes to Daniel and tells him that she is Natalie.

She then points says that she spoke to Haley and she knows about their road trip to Michigan.
She says that she went to Michigan. Daniel had seen her at a fraternity party but was too scared
to talk to her. He started to walk away, when a voice in his head told him t go and talk to the
girl. The voice was the beginning of his problem. Next, Kate tells Probert that the company was
being investigated as Alex’s father was selling software codes to the competitors. The day he dies,
he was fired and was told that he is going to be prosecuted. Probert tells Kate that there was a
dent in the reporter’s car and his girlfriend took responsibility for it. The girlfriend is called for
interrogation.

She tells them that she works for the phone company and that David had asked access to
some guy’s voicemails. And whatever he heard got him driven off the road. She told the police
that she dented the car because she feared that she too will be kKilled if those guys found out
what she did. The man whose voicemail David listened to was Leo, the Senator’s chief of staff.
Leo tells the FBI that the night before Mrs. Paulson made the announcement; she left him a very
angry voicemail saying that she received the filthy package he sent and that she is withdrawing
her name. David went to Leo saying that he insinuated Mrs. Paulson by blackmailing her and
withdrawing her name.

At the hospital, Daniel tells Caroline that he knew Natalie wasn’t real as a kid pointed out
to him that he was talking to himself during a field trip to the museum. Caroline then tells him
about Kate’s visit and also that the crime he had witnessed had actually happened. He leaves. He
arrives at Kate’s and tells her that he wants back on the case. Kate lets him in. They then meet
Mrs. Paulson. She tells them that the package actually had a flash drive and a note saying that
it is best for her to withdraw from taking over her husband’s senate seat. The flash drive had a
video of Paulson and Ryland’s wife Victoria in his office. Victoria tells the duo that Paulson tried
to rape her; but she didn’t report her as he was the senator and her husband’s hero.

She says that she was in his office to discuss funding for a literacy program. She says that
Leo saw her leaving. Leo as Paulson’s aide and then came to Ryland stating that he could get
him elected. They meet Leo again and ask him if he had access to any of the security tapes of the
Senator’s office. Just then Ryland arrives and tells Leo to get him something to eat as salmon
is being served and he can’t eat it. Daniel notices that the Senator is having a stroke; Ryland
collapses. The doctor tells Daniel that Ryland did not have a history of stroke or clotting. He says
that he needs an autopsy done; he thinks that someone killed Ryland. The tox results are clean.
Daniel feels that something is not right. Max suggests that Daniel should go back to the hospital.
Daniel agrees.

He arrives at the hospital and asks Caroline to be Natalie for a while. He needs to know if his
brains work while he is on the meds. So, he narrates the whole thing to her and she tells him to
simplify his thinking. He then remembers that Ryland said that he couldn’t eat salmon; which
means that he was on some medication which prevent him from eating salmon. Daniel thinks
he was covering up a life threatening condition he had. And also that Ryland was not aware that
he is off his meds. Someone had switched his meds!! Next, in the news, Daniel sees that Victoria
is up for the Senate seat. So Victoria killed Ryland. This whole thing was no conspiracy against
Paulson or any such thing. It was the brains of a very clever and ambitious woman.

Kate tells Daniel that she got information which says that Victoria got her car repaired the day
after the reporter was killed. Daniel goes to talk to Victoria. He tells her that she went to Ryland’s
office to seduce him and then shot the video on her cell phone to blackmail him into resigning
from his post. But when his plane crashed, she saw an opportunity and blackmailed his widow
into turning down the Senate seat and to endorse Ryland. She knew about her husband’s health
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condition. So, she swapped the medicines that they bought from Mexico with some sugar pills
and waited for him to get a stroke.

Daniel tells her that if she doesn’t call the press and declare that she isn’t standing for the
Senate, he will go to the newspapers and tell them that he is tendering his resignation as the FBI
refused to look into allegations made against Victoria; this could lead to a lot of questions about
the rape video and the medications. Daniel leaves on his bike. Moments later, we see Victoria is
chasing the bike and she runs over the bike throwing the rider off the bike. The cops arrive and
Kate arrests her. The guy on the bike was Probert and this was a trap.

Kate later tells Daniel that he was right about the medicines being swapped. Next, Caroline
comes to meet Daniel. She tells him that she cannot be his psychiatrist anymore; but she could
definitely be a friend. Max is finally happy to see Daniel sitting on the bench and talking to
Caroline; instead of "Natalie”.
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Ch-Ch-Changes

Season 2
Episode Number: 11
Season Episode: 1

4 \
Originally aired: Tuesday June 25, 2013
Writer: Kenneth Biller, Jason Ning
Director: Greg Beeman
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vin-
cent/Dr. Caroline Newsome), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Guest Stars: Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan), Evan Jones (Billy Flynn), Gordon
Clapp (Alan Kendricks), Evan Helmuth (Charlie Kendricks), Brian
Thompson (Vernon Hill), Alexis Cruz (Joseph Garcia), Nancy Young-
blut (Judge Leslie Markway), David Paymer (Ruben Bauer), Mark Berry
(Jury Foreman), Dana Daurey (Sara), David Jung (Artist), Ray Chang
(Medical Examiner), Brooke Stone (Neighbor), Amy E. Kiser (Beautiful
Woman), Ingo Neuhaus (Prison Guard)

Summary: When Pierce is asked to verify the mental competency for a man being
retried for murder, his findings bring up more questions. Meanwhile,
Moretti’'s soon-to-be-ex-husband Donnie Ryan is the Assistant U.S.
Attorney prosecuting the case.

We open on Daniel showing his class
a scene from the filmstrip version of
Frankenstein. He then asks the class why
they're having "movie day?” Lewicki re-
sponds jokingly that Daniel wanted to
show the class what he does on his sum-
mer vacation. Daniel replies, "And peo-
ple wonder why mad scientists abuse
their assistants” then tells Lewicki to sit
down. Daniel stops the filmstrip, turns
the lights back on and then asks the
class, "What is an abnormal brain and
how does having one affect behavior?” He
goes on to say that sometimes it makes
the person crazy but that it can manifest
itself in other more ”structural ways” and can sometimes be treated with surgery or pills, "but
one thing is certain. We can’t exchange one brain for another. Like it or not, we're stuck with the
three pounds of cauliflower we're born with.” The class laughs.

Shoot to Kate drinking coffee while a female coworker comes up to her to whisper to her
about the "hot new district attorney, who isn’t wearing a wedding ring.” Kate then sees that it's
her "soon-to-be-ex-husband” Donnie, [played by Scott Wolf] and asks him what he’s doing there.
The female coworker departs as Donnie tells Kate that he was transferred from DC a few weeks
prior. He then adds that he’s tried to avoid her but now needs her help. Donnie explains that he’s
retrying a capital murder case that got overturned on appeal, he needs a psych witness and he
was told “you know the perfect guy.”

Shoot to Paul [played by LeVar Burton] approaching Daniel to be his "wingman.” "Did hell
freeze over and I missed it?” Daniel replies. Paul then explains that a woman named Elaine, who
only agreed to go out with him if he brought a friend for her friend. Daniel declines bringing up a
similar incident that happened 25 years ago that Paul can’t believe Daniel remembers. Paul just
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thinks that Daniel is nervous about meeting someone new. He then reminds him that he’s been
on his meds for nine months and has been looking and feeling good. Daniel still declines then
sees Kate.

Shoot to Kate showing Daniel a tape of Billy Flynn, "a member of the Road Ragers motorcycle
gang, with a history of violence” being arrested. Kate explains when the cops moved to arrest
him, on the tape, he got a cop’s gun and accidentally shot himself in the chin and the bullet went
through to his brain but somehow he survived. He recovered, then was sentenced to death for
torturing and murdering his wife, Amy, who had left him but he tracked her down. Daniel then
asks where he factors in. Kate explains that some "lefty, anti-death penalty lawyer” moved for a
retrial because Flynn’s first attorney "never requested a competency hearing.” Daniel surmises
that Kate wants him to determine if Flynn is mentally fit to stand trial a second time. Kate wants
him to evaluate Flynn and be the government’s expert witness. Daniel balks and Kate says that
she knows that Daniel "isn’'t a fan of the federal government” but Kate begs him for his help
since Flynn is a "really bad guy.” Daniel is intrigued about evaluating someone who survived
a bullet wound to the brain and lived. Kate then tells Daniel that he can’t see Flynn until the
following day but she wanted to catch up with him over tea. Daniel smiles but declines because
of a "previous engagement.”

Shoot to Daniel at a boring anatomy lecture. He asks Caroline, if she wants to leave as much
as he does. She replies that she does and they leave. It’s nighttime and they're walking. He makes
jokes of how else he could have spent his time rather than going to the lecture. She laughs
and he pulls her in for a passionate kiss. Caroline pulls away saying she was his psychiatrist
and what they’re doing is wrong. Daniel reminds her that she hasn’t been his psychiatrist for
months and that they agreed to be friends. She thinks that was a mistake and then brings up
his relationship with Natalie. Daniel reminds Caroline that Natalie was a delusion. "Based on a
chance encounter you had with me 25 years ago. When you look at me, you see her,” Caroline
replies and tells Daniel that he’s confused. He maintains that he’s never been clearer. Daniel
then lists all of Caroline’s likes and dislikes, says he’s falling for her and is sure she’s falling for
him. Then, Caroline kisses him and they make out.

Shoot to the next morning. At Daniel’s house, Lewicki immediately asks Daniel where he was
all night the minute he walks in. Daniel reminds Lewicki that he’s a grown man with no curfew
but Lewicki says he was worried sick and that Daniel could have called. Daniel promises to call
next time, then Lewicki says, "You got laid!” He’s happy for him, hi-fives him then asks him who
“the lucky lady” is. Daniel doesn’t tell him.

Shoot to the prison. Daniel is meeting with Flynn as Kate and Donnie watch behind a two-way
mirror. Daniel asks Flynn if he knows why he’s there. Flynn knows Daniel is there to see if he’s
in his right mind. Daniel then asks Flynn questions to test his cognition. While he’s asking him
questions, Flynn is drawing something. Daniel asks to see it and asks Flynn if he’s always liked
to draw or only since he shot himself. Flynn replies it’s only since he was shot. Daniel then asks
Flynn some questions that show he has compassion for other people’s feelings. Then, he asks
him if he knows why he’s on trial. Flynn knows it’s because he killed Amy. Daniel then asks him
why he killed her. Flynn replies because he was angry at her for leaving him but then says he
didn’t blame her for leaving, given all of the bad things he did her. It seemed like all the anger
was gone and now Flynn was docile as a mouse. Donnie thinks it has been proved that Flynn
is competent to stand trial but Daniel wants Flynn to get an MRI before he’ll testify that he’s
competent. After examining Flynn’s MRI, Daniel goes to Kate and tells her that the angry Flynn
that murdered Amy no longer exists.

Shoot to Donnie just filing Daniel’s assessment of Flynn away and deciding to not call him
as a witness at the trial. Donnie apologizes to Kate for sleeping with her best friend and tries to
make nice by ordering her favorite takeout. Kate tells him to "shove it up your ass” and leaves.

Shoot to Daniel and Caroline eating pizza in bed together. Daniel then says that they should
“go out on a proper date, like at a fancy restaurant.” Caroline wants to "go slow with the whole go-
ing public thing.” Daniel thinks she’s ashamed to be dating him, which she denies. Unbeknownst
to Caroline, Daniel’'s hand starts to shake as she explains that she’s not ready to explain their
relationship to someone she knows if they were seen together in a romantic setting. Daniel says
he’s fine when she asks him if he’s okay then says he’d rather stay in bed then go to a restaurant.
Then, they make love.

Shoot to the courtroom. Donnie calls the coroner to the stand to testify that Amy’s cause
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of death was strangulation, another witness, who identifies Flynn as the man threatening Amy
before her death and a member of Flynn’s motorcycle gang to testify that Flynn said he’d "kill the
bitch” when he found out that Amy had planned to leave him. Bauer, [played by David Paymer]
Flynn’s attorney, has no questions for any of these witnesses.

Shoot to Paul giving Daniel theater tickets as an enticement to go on the double date. Daniel
then tells Paul that he’s ”"seeing someone.” Then, a girl approaches Daniel. Paul thinks it's
Daniel’'s lady, he whispers that it isn’t. Turns out she’s a process server with a summons for
Daniel to appear in court.

Shoot to Bauer calling Daniel to the stand because he found his report on Flynn saying he
was a changed man. While Daniel is on the stand, Amy’s father tries to attack Flynn and says
he should be dead for what he did to Amy. He’s restrained. Then, Bauer tells the judge that
he can prove that Flynn is now a completely different person since shooting himself by calling
people to the stand who knew Flynn before. Amy’s brother, Charlie, is then called to the stand
and shockingly vouches for Flynn’s change by citing a conversation he had with Flynn about his
garden and said he thinks that Flynn should be set free. Donnie, in turn, tries to win the jury
back, by calling Daniel’s testimony into question because of his paranoid schizophrenia. Daniel
then leaves the courtroom. Kate follows him and he tells her that he thinks she told Donnie about
his condition. Kate replies that if thought that, he didn’t know her as well as he thought he did
and walks away. The jury then returns with a not guilty verdict.

Shoot to Daniel telling Caroline what happened and that he knows that he shouldn’t be
ashamed of his condition, but is bothered that it’s now a matter of public record so everyone will
know.

Shoot to Flynn finding Daniel on campus and bragging about how gullible everyone is that he
had changed before going off on his motorcycle to make more trouble. Then, Daniel goes to tell
Kate that Flynn fooled him but she tells him that Flynn was been killed 12 hours earlier, which
means Daniel is having hallucinations again.

Shoot to Daniel telling Kate about his hand tremor, which is a side effect from his meds.
Kate correctly assumes that Daniel went off his meds and he admits to weaning off his current
meds to try new ones. Daniel then changes the subject to Flynn’s murder. Kate says she’s on
her way to talk to a witness who was shot with the same gun six years earlier to see if he can
identify the shooter. Daniel wants to come but Kate advises against it given his recent “episode.”
He convinces her to let him come so she can keep an eye on him. They talk to the witness, Joe,
who says he didn’t see who shot him. Meanwhile, Daniel keeps hearing a motorcycle, which Kate
and Joe don’t hear. Daniel realizes it was Flynn’s motorcycle gang that shot Joe and threatened
him to keep quiet. Joe admits that Daniel’s right and he’s scared. Then, Kate tells Joe that if he
testifies, he can go into the Witness Protection Program and he won’t have to be scared anymore.

Shoot to Joe talking to Donnie, with Daniel and Kate there. He tells him what happened when
he was shot. Joe then identifies the biker who shot him from a picture lineup Kate shows him.
He identifies Vernon Hill, who was the biker who told the jury that Flynn said he’d “kill the bitch”
when he found out Amy was going to leave him. Donnie replies that he’ll issue a warrant then
apologizes to Daniel saying his behavior towards him was nothing personal and that he was only
doing his job. Daniel then diagnosis Donnie as a narcissist and says he was only doing his job.

Shoot to Kate and Donnie telling Hill that the gun that shot Joe was the one that killed
Flynn and that Joe identified him as the one who shot him. Hill denies shooting Joe and says
it was Flynn who shot him. Meanwhile, as Daniel watches behind a two-way mirror, he hears a
hallucination of Flynn talking to him. "Flynn” then told Daniel again how gullible he was but not
about him faking his personality change, someone else fooled Daniel. Daniel then bursts in and
tells Kate and Donnie that Hill didn’t kill Flynn and he knows who did.

Shoot to Daniel and Kate going to see Charlie and his dad. Daniel tells Charlie that he knows
he never changed his mind about Flynn, like he said he did on the stand. Daniel then explains
that he found the gun in question when he went back after Amy died to salvage something of
hers. Then, Charlie admits to killing Flynn because the jury bought that he’d changed. He added
that he vouched for Flynn in court to ensure that he got out so he got “the justice he deserved.”
We see Charlie shoot Flynn in a flashback. He then says when Flynn killed his sister, he became
a different person.

Shoot to Donnie telling Kate that Charlie rejected a deal, wants a trial and that Bauer has
agreed to represent him. Donnie then wonders to Kate if he could be a different person from the
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one she hates so much. "Maybe if I shot you in the head,” Kate says as she leaves.

Shoot to Paul telling Daniel that he owes him because he had to invite someone else to be his
"wingman” and it was a disaster. Paul then begs him to get whoever he’s dating to set him up
with one of her friends.

Shoot to Daniel telling Caroline that he told Paul that he’s "not a dating service.” Then, Caro-
line comes in with tea and Daniel realizes that he was talking to Natalie, his delusion.

Shoot to Daniel asking his class if people can really change and says the theory of neuroplas-
ticity, says that we change with our experiences. As he’s talking, we see Charlie’s dad watching
Charlie being led away in cuffs by Kate, Bauer representing Charlie in court and Kate looking at
an old picture of her and Donnie when they were happy.

Shoot to Daniel with Caroline, then looking at Natalie, sitting next to him, when she walks
away.
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Alienation

Season 2
Episode Number: 12
Season Episode: 2

4 )
Originally aired: Tuesday July 2, 2013
Writer: Mike Sussman
Director: Greg Beeman
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vin-
cent/Dr. Caroline Newsome), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Guest Stars: Raphael Sbarge (Gerry Bruckner), Hedy Burress (Ellen Resnick),
Robert Picardo (A. Z. Weyland), Maggie Wheeler (Barbara Bruck-
ner), Johnny Pemberton (Imaginary Fanboy), Geoffrey Blake (Preston
Resnick), Brad Rowe (FBI Agent Dalton), Tom Virtue (Doctor), Teddy
Vincent (Donny’s Grandmother), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan),
Melissa Carnell (Princess Leia), Rakefet Abergel (Fangirl)

Sumimary: Pierce and Moretti deal with a woman who says aliens have abducted
her husband. Meanwhile, Pierce’s relationship with his real-life girl-
friend, Caroline, could be in trouble if he can’t rid imaginary Natalie
from him mind.

We open on Daniel lecturing his class
about love’s effects on the human brain.
After class, Daniel blows off a student
conference Lewicki reminds him about
because he has a "lunch.”

Shoot to Daniel and Caroline in bed
after having sex. Caroline comments on
how much she enjoys their "lunches.”
Caroline then gives Daniel a present, a
new cell phone. He thinks it's so she can
keep tabs on him but thanks her anyway.
She then asks him if he’s okay since she
saw him talking to himself. Then, "Na-
talie” appears in bed with them urging
Daniel to tell Caroline that he went off
his meds. He ignores her. When Caroline
goes to take a shower, "Natalie” tells Daniel, "If you're going to have a relationship with your real
girlfriend, you're going to have stop seeing your imaginary one.” Daniel tells "Natalie” that he
plans on telling Caroline that he went off his meds "when the time is right.” "Natalie” thinks he
isn’t telling her because he’s afraid it will scare her off. He replies, "Maybe you’d like that.” She
answers back, "Do you know how crazy that sounds?”

Shoot to Kate running into Donnie. He asks her to come to his grandmother’s picnic birthday
party. She correctly assumed that Donnie hasn’t told his grandmother they they’re divorcing and
wants her to keep up the illusion that they're still happily married. She declines the offer. Donnie
then tells Kate that he got the final divorce papers in the mail. She asks if he signed them yet.
He replies that due to his heavy case load, he doesn’t know when he’ll get around to doing so.
She replies, "Blackmail, really?” Donnie calls it a "hostage negotiation” then begs her again to
come. She relents only for his grandmother’s sake, not his then says she wants him to sign the
divorce papers. Then, a male colleague of Kate’s comes over and says he’s got a case that would
be perfect for Daniel.
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Shoot to Kate asking for Daniel’s help on an abduction case but then she tells him the wife
claims that her husband has been abducted by aliens. Kate says they're obligated to look into
it in case there really is an underlying crime. Daniel then mentions Roswell, etc. and says that
they “"could blow open the biggest cover-up in American History.” Kate looks at him like he nuts
and then he says, "Had you going there for a minute, huh?” Kate then punches him for joking
with her.

Shoot to them going to the Resnicks’ house. Ellen Resnick answers and says her husband,
Preston, went on a business trip and she hasn’t seen him since. Then, Preston comes to the door
but Ellen says he isn’t her husband...he’s an alien!

Shoot to Preston talking to Kate alone. He says Ellen was fine before he left on his trip but
when he came home early to surprise her, she freaked out and locked herself in the bathroom
until they came. Meanwhile, Daniel is asking Ellen when she realized her husband was really an
alien. She tells him it was when she thought her husband came home early from his business
trip. She turned on the light and saw the alien. Daniel then sees a copy of the novel Preston
just had published about alien abduction. She then tells Daniel that she knows it wasn’t Preston
because the real Preston wouldn’t have raped her.

Shoot to Kate and Daniel talking to Preston alone. Daniel asks Preston if Ellen had been
acting odd prior to this. Preston then says she’d been paranoid that she was being followed. He
thought she was imagining it since she always said it was a different car "first a Chevy then a
Ford and the last time it was a Hyundai. She said it got too close, ran her off the road and she hit
a telephone pole.” Daniel then tells Preston that he thinks Ellen is suffering from a neurological
disorder known as Capgras delusion, where people think their friends and family have been
replaced by imposters. Daniel then suggests letting Ellen continue with her delusion but also to
get her to the hospital to be checked out.

Shoot to Daniel telling Ellen that they are taking her to the hospital for a brain scan. She
thinks it's because they think the alien did something to her. Daniel tells her that it’s just a
precaution. She then asks what’s going to happen to the "alien?” He tells Ellen that Kate will put
him in custody.

Shoot to the hospital. Daniel tells Preston along with Gerry [played by Raphael Sbarge from
ABC’s Once Upon a Time] and Barbara Buckner [played by Maggie Wheeler, better known as
‘Janice’ from Friends] his and Ellen’s closest friends, that Ellen suffered a ruptured aneurysm,
probably from the car accident and that it probably caused the Capgras. Preston’s afraid that
Ellen will never recognize him again but Daniel tells him that there are therapies they can try.
Daniel then says he’ll have to only talk to her on the phone for the time being. Daniel then says
he’s convinced Ellen to stay the night at the hospital but tells Preston that when she comes
home, he can’t be there. He says he’ll check into a hotel. Barbara, who’s his publicist, then tells
Preston that she’ll cancel his appearance at the sci-fi convention. He tells her not to because he’ll
need the distraction. Gerry and Barbara then ask Daniel if they can see Ellen. He says they can.
When they do, Ellen asks Barbara to go ask the nurse for some cranberry juice. Once Barbara
walks away, Ellen whispers to Gerry that Barbara is an alien too. Daniel hears this.

Shoot to outside Ellen’s hospital room. Barbara asks Daniel why Ellen thinks she’s an alien
but not Gerry. Daniel thinks Ellen doesn’t have the same emotional connection with Gerry that
she has with Barbara and Preston. Gerry then says he’ll help Ellen all he can.

Shoot to Daniel and Caroline having dinner at his house. Caroline tells him she’s never known
a patient with Capgras and starts to suggest possible therapies for Ellen when "Natalie” appears.
She notes to Daniel that Caroline made him couscous with raisins and he hates raisins, which
suggests that Caroline doesn’t know him so well. Daniel makes an excuse, leaves the room, goes
into another and closes the door. "Natalie” is there too and Daniel asks her why she’s doing this
to him. "Natalie” tells Daniel that he’ll stop seeing her if he goes back on his meds. He says
he can’t because they were giving him tremors and "Natalie” suggests trying new meds. Then,
Caroline knocks on the door. Daniel opens it and she gives him his cell because Lewicki is calling
him. Lewicki tells him that Ellen checked herself out of the hospital. He then asks Caroline to
drive him over to the Resnicks’. Shoot to Daniel and Caroline going to the Resnicks’ and finding
the front door ajar. When they go inside, they find Preston on the floor dead, with Ellen straddled
over him with a knife covered in blood. Caroline is horrified but Ellen tells Daniel that it’s okay
because it isn’t Preston, it’s the "alien.”

Shoot to Caroline calling the police. Meanwhile, Ellen explains to Daniel what happened. She
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tells him that Preston called her and told her he wasn’t at home but she heard their distinctive
doorbell in the background and thought Preston was being forced to lie and was in trouble.
She then checked herself out of the hospital and went home. She found the ”alien” shot dead
on the floor then thought she’d cut him open and expose his alien organs so people would
realize he wasn’t her husband. Then, Kate arrives on the scene. Daniel tells her the police’s
“ridiculous theory that Ellen shot Preston in a fit of rage, left the house to dispose of the gun,
which they haven’t found, then came back to perform an alien autopsy.” Daniel thinks the police
are ’railroading” Ellen. Then, Kate sees that Caroline is there. She tells Daniel that she’s been
cleared to leave and Daniel tells her he has to stay and work with Kate. After Caroline leaves,
Kate asks Daniel what his former therapist was doing at the crime scene. He lies saying he
and Caroline were discussing Ellen’s case when the call came in. Daniel then tells Kate that they
have to figure out who killed Preston because the police won’t. Kate then asks Daniel who besides
Ellen could have killed him?

Shoot to Kate and Daniel talking to Barbara, who points to fellow author, A.Z. Weyland as Pre-
ston’s murderer. She tells them that Weyland wrote an "autobiography” about his alleged alien
abductions but Barbara maintains that it’s fiction. Kate then asks Barbara why she thinks Wey-
land killed Preston. Barbara says that Weyland accused her of giving Preston his manuscript and
that Preston used it as the basis for his novel. Daniel asks if she gave Preston the manuscript and
if he plagiarized it. Barbara denies both. Kate then asks Barbara where they can find Weyland.

Shoot to a sci-fi convention. Kate leaves Daniel alone to find a map to find Weyland’s booth.
Daniel runs into Lewicki, who is dressed like Lando Calrissian from Star Wars. Daniel then
becomes overwhelmed by all the people and ducks into an elevator. He meets a red-haired kid in
the elevator, who seems to know a lot about Daniel. He then realizes, the kid is a hallucination.
Then, the elevator doors open and Kate is there. She asks Daniel if he’s having an "episode?” He
says he isn’t. They then find Weyland [played by Robert Picardo,] who says he didn’t know that
Preston was dead but won’t say where he was at the time of the murder. Then, he flees. Kate
runs after him and he is subdued by two people wearing Star Wars costumes. Kate thanks them
for their help.

Shoot to Kate questioning Weyland at the station while Daniel watches through a two-way
mirror. Weyland finally says that he was being visited by aliens when Preston was murdered.
Meanwhile, the red-haired kid notes to Daniel how Weyland is slurring his words and a few other
physical attributes. Daniel then interrupts Kate and tells her that Weyland is suffering from sleep
deprivation and couldn’t have killed Preston. Just then, a male colleague comes in saying they
found the gun that killed Preston at Weyland’s apartment. Kate’s ready to charge Weyland with
Preston’s murder but Daniel insists he’s being framed. Kate then says she’s going to have Ellen
released.

Shoot to Daniel telling Gerry that Ellen is signing her release form and then he can take her
home. He then advises Gerry not to mention Preston’s death to Ellen. Gerry agrees. He then gives
him Caroline’s address so he can set up an appointment with her for Ellen. Before they leave,
Ellen asks Daniel why Weyland killed the "alien.” Daniel says he doesn’t know. Ellen then tells
Daniel to thank Weyland for her because now the alien can’t hurt her or Preston ever again.

Shoot to Daniel obsessing over the case as Caroline wonders why. He tells her that Weyland
is being framed and that he has to figure out who would want to frame him. He suddenly thinks
of Barbara, who pointed him and Kate in Weyland’s direction in the first place. Daniel then
thinks that Barbara did give Preston Weyland’s manuscript, that he did plagiarize it and that
Barbara killed Preston because he wanted to come clean and she would be ruined. Caroline then
tells Daniel that she doesn’t think it’s good for him to be consulting on these cases. He disagrees
saying it’s giving him "something to focus on.” Daniel then asks for her help and she replies, "You
don’t want me to be your shrink and I don’'t want to be your Natalie.” Then, "Natalie” appears
telling Daniel that it’s "lucky I'm still here.”

Shoot to Donnie taking Kate to his grandmother’s picnic birthday party. In the car, he gives
her he wedding ring to put on. She refuses. He says his grandmother will notice if she’s not
wearing it. She puts it on. When Donnie goes to get his grandmother the blanket she asked for,
his grandmother tells Kate that she knows they're divorcing. Kate asks if it’s that obvious. His
grandmother then says that Kate wasn’t looking at Donnie like she used to. Kate tells her that
Donnie hurt her and his grandmother apologizes. She then says if Kate still wants him, he can
change.
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Shoot to Daniel going to the sci-fi convention and listening to Preston’s memorial service.
Barbara and Gerry are there. The red-haired kid appears again to Daniel and points out Ellen’s
unusual presence there since she’s supposedly believes that her husband is still alive. Daniel
then chases after Ellen when she sees him, but she calls him a liar and rushes off. Daniel then
approaches Gerry and Barbara and asks them if they said anything to Ellen. Barbara says that
Gerry tried and Ellen freaked out and now Ellen thinks Gerry is an alien too. Barbara then begs
Daniel to help Ellen.

Shoot to the hospital as Caroline asks Daniel’s current psychiatrist, Rich, about his progress
with his meds. Rich reminds Caroline that he can’t divulge any info about Daniel to her because
of doctor-patient confidentiality. Rich does tell her that Daniel has missed his last three or four
sessions with him.

Shoot to Daniel venting to "Natalie” about Ellen not trusting him anymore and why she’s in
mourning if she thinks Preston is alive? "Natalie” then tells Daniel that he needs to figure out why
Ellen now thinks Gerry is an alien too when yesterday he was just Gerry. Why did she develop an
emotional connection to him overnight like the one that caused her to think Barbara and Preston
were aliens? Caroline overhears Daniel talking to "Natalie.” Daniel realizes that Ellen must have
fallen in love with Gerry. Then, "Natalie” asks Daniel what Gerry could have done in 24 hours to
make Ellen love him? Daniel replies, "I love you, Natalie Vincent” and Caroline hears him say it.
Daniel then opens the door and finds Caroline standing there. She tells him that they need to
talk but he says he knows who killed Preston and rushes off.

Shoot to Daniel and Kate questioning Gerry. He tells them how long he’s known Ellen and
Preston. Kate shows him pictures she got off Facebook of trips the four took together. Gerry then
asks why he’s there. Daniel mentions how when Gerry heard Ellen’s diagnosis he was “offended”
that Ellen didn’t share the same emotional connection she had with his wife or Preston to make
her think he was an alien. Daniel asked him why he was “offended.” Gerry scoffs saying it was
a "bad joke.” Daniel doesn’t think so and says he thinks Gerry was upset that Ellen didn’t have
the same feelings for him. Daniel thinks that "stung” Gerry, who brushes Daniel’'s comment off.
Kate then mentions about Gerry renting a lot of cars recently specifically a Hyundai, which was
the car Preston mentioned ran Ellen off the road. Gerry says there must be a million similar
cars on the road but Kate questions him renting such a car when he owns two German luxury
sedans. Kate then accuses Gerry of stalking Ellen, that he rented cars to follow her since she’'d
recognize his car, got too close to her one day and caused her accident. Gerry then asks for a
lawyer. Kate then asks Gerry if he feels guilty about causing Ellen’s brain injury. Daniel tells
Kate that Gerry couldn’t have known about Ellen’s aneurysm and says it was Preston’s fault for
taking her to the hospital. Gerry then says Ellen deserved better. Gerry then tells them he just
wanted Preston to go away. He tells them he went over to the Resnicks’ house to tell Preston
his marriage was over since Ellen thought he was an alien but Preston wouldn't listen. So, he
shot and killed Preston and framed Weyland because he knew he had threatened Preston and
Barbara and no one would question it. But, Daniel can’t understand why Ellen thought Gerry
was an alien practically overnight. He remembered Gerry being there when Ellen told Daniel to
thank Weyland for killing the “alien.” Gerry knew she was thanking the wrong person and wanted
to set the record straight. Gerry then says he told Ellen that he killed the "alien” not Weyland. He
then told Ellen that he did it to protect her and that he’s loved her for years. Ellen reminded him
that she was married but he told her that Preston wasn’t coming back and told her Preston was
dead. Gerry then said she cried for hours and when he went to check on her, she was so grateful
to him for killing the "alien” that they made love. Gerry says it was the "most wonderful moment
of my life,” but the next morning, Ellen thought he was an alien too. "I wanted her to love me
and for one night, she did,” Gerry tells them. As Kate leads Gerry away in cuffs, the red-haired
kid appears again to Daniel then disappears.

Shoot to Kate giving Donnie back the wedding ring. He tells her that he wants her to have it
and if she doesn’t want it, she can sell it. He then gives her the signed divorce papers and says
he lied about being transferred there and that he asked for the transfer...”because I missed you.”
He then tells her that he hopes she doesn'’t file the divorce papers. Kate says nothing and just
walks away.

Shoot to Caroline approaching Daniel. He tells her that he’s been trying to call her. She says
that she knows and thought it would be better if they talked in-person. Daniel then tells her that’s
he been off his meds and apologizes for not telling her sooner. Caroline replies that she already
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knew. Daniel is surprised. Caroline says she overheard him talking to "Natalie” in his office.
Daniel tries to make like it was no big deal but Caroline adds that he heard him say he loved
"Natalie.” Daniel still says that Caroline doesn’t understand and his relationship with "Natalie”
and his relationship with her are different. Caroline asks if he’s hearing what he’s saying. He
apologizes again for going off his meds and not telling her but Caroline says it’s her fault because
when “you told me that you saw me once 25 years ago and that you'd fallen in love with me
at first sight. I guess I was taken by how romantic that sounded. And then you went on your
meds and started getting better and I was so attracted to you, but I guess I was the one being
delusional. To convince myself there was a world in which this relationship could be healthy
for either of us, but it was a mistake.” She then tells Daniel that she can’t see him anymore,
apologizes and walks away. Then, "Natalie” appears and tells Daniel to go after her and tell her
that he’ll get help. "Tell her that she means more to you than I do,” she tells him. He replies, "No.
I can’t lie to her anymore.”

Shoot to Daniel asking his class, "Why do we bother with relationships?” We see Donnie, his
grandmother and Kate having a good time. Then, we see Kate walking with Gerry in handcuffs.
Then, we see Lewicki holding Daniel’s cell phone, which is now a charred mess. We see Kate
looking at the signed divorce papers and also signing them. We also see Daniel watching Caroline
walk away with "Natalie” sitting next to him.
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Blindness

Season 2
Episode Number: 13
Season Episode: 3

4 \
Originally aired: Tuesday July 9, 2013
Writer: Nicki Paluga
Director: Jeff Woolnough
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent/Dr. Caroline Newsome),
Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Guest Stars: Nick Chinlund (Kevin Connor), Brad Rowe (FBI Agent Dalton),
Sundra Oakley (Jennifer Britton), Tim Ransom (Dr. Robert Mills),
Danielle Rayne (Janet Larsen), Frank Farmer (Basketball Fan), Evelyn
Christina Tonn (Judge Cleland’s Secretary), Del Zamora (Emmanuel),
Jonathan Goldstein (I) (Guest Star), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan),
Matt Kaminsky (Tom), Aaron Behr (Shane Murphy), Ariel Fournier
(Suzi), Daniel Kash (CPD Cop), Jessica Cook (Sexy Student 1), Hilary
Anderson (Equally Sexy Student)

Sumimary: Donnie doubts Pierce’s theory about inattentional blindness as it re-
lates to a series of bizarre public murders. But Pierce has a way to
prove his point so they move quickly to piece together the clues and
outsmart the clever Killer before he can murder again.

We open on Daniel lecturing to his class
about seeing things we want to see like
Elvis sightings at malls or the image of
Jesus on a piece of toast. Then, his pro-
jector malfunctions and he asks Lewicki
to fix it but he’s texting on his smart-
phone, which annoys Daniel. But, then
Lewicki then tells Daniel that the text
is for him. It's from Kate asking Daniel
to meet her at the courthouse and that
it’s an emergency. Lewicki offers to finish
Daniel’s lecture but Daniel dismisses the
class instead.

Shoot to Kate and Donnie telling
that Judge Cleland was murdered in his
chambers an hour ago, he was stabbed in the neck and the developmentally challenged janitor
was found standing over Cleland’s body holding the knife. The janitor won’t talk and they’re
hoping Daniel can get through to him.

Shoot to Daniel alone with the janitor, Emmanuel. Daniel notices Emmanuel’s watch and he
tells him that the judge gave it to him as a birthday present and they were friends. Daniel then
asks Emmanuel what happened. He tells Daniel that he went into the judge’s chambers and
saw him on the floor, he thought he was sleeping but then he saw the knife in the judge’s neck.
Emmanuel then says he didn’t like that so he pulled it out of the judge’s neck then he yelled.

Shoot to Daniel telling Kate and Donnie that Emmanuel didn’t kill the judge and he wouldn’t
be able to concoct an elaborate cover story. Kate then says that Cleland’s Secretary was the one
who found Emmanuel standing over Cleland’s body but that her story didn’t sit right with her.

Shoot to Daniel, Kate and Donnie talking to Cleland’s secretary. She says the judge went into
his chambers while the jury deliberated on his case then a bailiff knocked on his door to tell him
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the jury had reached a verdict then she says Emmanuel went in and started screaming. Daniel
then questioned the Secretary that she didn’t see the judge return from the courtroom. She says
she "watched him like a hawk” because she wanted to ask him if she could leave early.

Shoot to Donnie telling Kate and Daniel that either the secretary or Emmanuel is lying but
Daniel says that neither of them could be lying. Donnie maintains that saw Cleland in court but
when a cop brings something of Cleland’s found in the stairwell Daniel reiterates that Emmanuel
isn’t the killer.

Shoot to Daniel telling Kate and Donnie his theory about how the murder occurred. It all
comes down to the killer putting on the judge’s robe, coming into the courtroom for the verdict
and leaving. Donnie maintains that he would have noticed that it wasn’t Cleland. Daniel then
says that Donnie experienced "change blindness,” where someone doesn’t see an action because
they’re focused on something else. Donnie doesn’t buy it and says that Daniel’s theory only works
if the 40 other people in the courtroom also experienced "change blindness.”

Shoot to Daniel talking to "Natalie” about Donnie prosecuting Emmanuel for a crime he didn’t
commit. "Natalie” advises Daniel to "open Donnie’s eyes.”

Shoot to Daniel and Kate setting Donnie up in a "change blindness” experiment. A woman
stops Donnie and asks him for directions. Two men carrying a large obstructing object passes
between them and it's a different woman but Donnie doesn’t notice. Kate and Daniel then tell
Donnie that he experienced “"change blindness” for the second time. He maintains that their
experiment doesn’t prove Emmanuel’s innocence but says if they can find another suspect that
fits the theory, he’ll listen.

Shoot to Daniel and Kate going to his house with lots of files. He calls Lewicki to gel but he
doesn’t answer because he’s engrossed in an online video. Daniel is annoyed until Lewicki shows
him the video of a news report of a referee at a local high school basketball game being stabbed in
the neck in front of an auditorium full of people by the mascot, an alligator, and no one noticed.
Daniel then tells Kate that he thinks they have a serial killer on their hands.

Shoot to Daniel showing Kate the video in slow motion and she sees the mascot stab the
referee then run off. They talk to some of the witnesses who only noticed that something was
wrong when they saw blood. They all can’t believe they missed it. Then, Donnie calls Kate.

Shoot to Donnie introducing Jennifer Britton, profiler from the criminal analysis unit brought
in to help on the case. Reporters are there as well as Daniel and Kate as Jennifer was the killer
is a "thriller seeker...someone who’s into extreme sports.” Daniel interrupts saying it's early to
make such assumptions. Jennifer says the killer is "attracted to risk” whereas Daniel thinks that
the killer “could just want attention.” Jennifer also says the victims are connected because they
represent "archetypal authority figures probably from the killer’'s childhood.” Daniel says that he
thinks the victims are connected but isn’t sure how. He then hallucinates seeing the alligator
mascot and leaves, frustrated.

Shoot to Kate asking why he brought his own expert in and he says that her boss brought
Jennifer in. Donnie then adds that their "change blindness” experiment was Daniel’'s way of
making him look stupid in front of Kate.

Shoot to Lewicki asking Daniel what he should do about his class. Daniel tells him to cancel
it. Lewicki says that he could handle it but Daniel refuses to let him. Lewicki reluctantly agrees
to cancel the class. Once he’s gone, "Natalie” tells Daniel that he should have let Lewicki do the
lecture but Daniel’s says the students paid for him to teach the class not Lewicki. "Natalie” thinks
that Daniel doesn’t want to be more dependent in Lewicki than he already is. Daniel denies this
and is still trying to connect the judge and the ref. "Natalie” suggests connecting the victims
through the idea of "cognitive blindness.”

Shoot to Daniel telling Kate about the case against Kevin Connor, who was convicted of perjury
because he said he didn’t see four of his cop buddies beat a suspect senseless. Daniel thinks that
Connor wasn't lying. Kate sees Daniel’s point and searches for Connor’s current whereabouts.
Turns out he was just released from prison three weeks before the judge’s murder.

Shoot to Kate and another male colleague going to Connor’'s home. He opens the door and
says, "What took you so long?”

Shoot to Kate and Daniel questioning Connor. Kate reads Cleland’s comments on Connor’s
case and how his "punishment was richly deserved.” Connor says that he knew he would be
a suspect when he heard Cleland was murdered but maintains his innocence. Kate asks for
Connor’s alibi at the time of the murder but he asks for a lawyer. Daniel then tells Connor that
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he might have Bern wrongly convicted. Connor then tells Kate and Daniel that he was chasing a
suspect and was so focused on catching him, he didn’t see the assault they said he lied about not
seeing. Daniel asks Connor if he’'d ever heard if "inattentional blindness.” Connor says a shrink
mentioned it at his trial but the judge told the jury to dismiss the shrink’s testimony.

Shoot to Daniel and Kate telling Donnie that Connor wasn’t lying about not seeing the assault
back in 2000 but is lying about killing the judge. Kate tells Donnie that she wants a warrant to
search Connor’s house. Donnie then asks what the connection is between the judge and the ref.
Before Daniel can answer, Donnie turns up the television as Jennifer is giving her assessment on
the killer. Daniel is outraged saying that Jennifer is giving the killer what he wants...attention.
Donnie does say he can get the warrant and Kate thanks him.

Shoot to Connor’s house being searched. They find old newspaper clippings about Connor’s
trial. Connor says that his ex-wife must have collected them. Daniel asks to keep them and
Connor agrees.

Shoot to Daniel’s house. "Natalie” comments about Daniel’s messy house and says, "The last
time your house looked like this you ended up in the psych ward.” Daniel ignores the comment.
Then, Lewicki comes down and asks Daniel if he’s talking to "Natalie.” Daniel apologizes to
Lewicki for waking him. Then, Daniel finds something in one of the old newspaper clippings.

Shoot to Daniel reading a letter to the editor of a newspaper written by the murdered referee
applauding Cleland for debunking the "expert witness” in Connor’s trial and his "junk science” to
Kate, Donnie and Jennifer, Daniel thinks Connor killed both the referee and the judge because
they both humiliated him. He then insists that Connor will murder other members of the pros-
ecution who "shamed” him and wants Connor picked up. Kate then tells Daniel that they just
arrested a man named Shane Murphy, who tried to stab someone in the neck onstage in front of
500 people and he confessed to killing the judge and the referee. Daniel sees the alligator mascot
hallucination shaking its head at him.

Shoot to Donnie and Kate questioning Murphy. Meanwhile, Daniel and Jennifer are watching
behind a two-way mirror. Jennifer thinks Murphy matches her profile of a thrill-seeker perfectly.
Daniel then bursts in and asks Murphy how he got the knife past the courtroom metal detectors.
Murphy won’t say. Donnie then drags Daniel out of the room and yells at him for barging in.
Daniel tells Donnie that Murphy isn’t the killer and that he’s just an "attention-seeking confessor”
who saw Jennifer on television. Donnie thanks Daniel for his help and tells him to go home and
get some sleep.

Shoot to Daniel’s house. Lewicki asks him about his next lecture and Daniel tells Lewicki to
do it. Lewicki is shocked and Daniel says he should have let him do it the first time he asked but
he didn’t because he thought he depended on Lewicki enough. Lewicki thanks him and offers to
make him tea. Daniel asks for chamomile, which they don’t have so Lewicki volunteers to go out
and buy some. As soon as he’s gone, Daniel calls a cab and "Natalie” appears and asks him what
he’s doing. He says he’s going to the police to warn them about Connor. "Natalie” then says that
Daniel’s whole speech to Lewicki was just to “soften him up” but Daniel insists that what he said
was true.

Shoot to Daniel at the police station. A lot of people there are coughing and there’s a blind
man there with a neck brace. A detective then approaches Daniel, who asks to see Det. Koepher.
The detective brings Daniel into another room. Daniel tells the detective that he needs to warn
Koepher about Connor. The detective tells Daniel that Koepher has been missing for two days and
that he’ll issue a warrant for Connor. He then leaves a relieved Daniel alone. Then, the alligator
mascot hallucination reappears to him making the crazy sign and pointing to him. The alligator
then tells him to leave but when he tries to he finds the door is locked and no one will let him out.
Later, Kate arrives and tells Daniel that the detective thought he had something to do with the
murders so he locked him in the room. She also tells him that she has two policemen stationed
outside the houses of the two men Daniel said Connor would kill next. Daniel is relieved that
Kate believes him. As they go to leave, Daniel notices the blind man again and tells Kate that it's
Koepher. She takes off his neck brace and we see a stab wound in his neck.

Shoot to Kate and Daniel questioning Connor again, who denies killing Koepher. Kate then
asks Connor if someone could be killing on his behalf. Daniel mentions his son, who Connor said
called him a “racist” after he was convicted and wouldn’t even accept a birthday card from him.
Daniel then see the alligator mascot hallucination again. Meanwhile, Connor insists that "no one
gives a rat’s ass about me” but Daniel then says that someone does and he knows who.
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Shoot to Kate and Daniel telling Donnie and Jennifer about Dr. Robert Mills, the expert wit-
ness in Connor’s trial. They reread the murdered referee’s letter to the editor and says it was
Mills who was offended by the referee’s comments NOT Connor, Kate then adds that since Mills
couldn’t help Connor he’s been killing off everyone who ruined his life. Donnie asks why. Then,
Kate and Daniel tell him and Jennifer that Mills’ wife was killed and his young daughter became
a quadriplegic after a car accident where the driver was distracted because he was talking on a
cell phone. Since then, Mills has made it his mission to call attention to "cognitive blindness.”
When Jennifer questions why Mills would start to kill now. Kate then adds that the daughter
died three months earlier from complications stemming from her injuries in the car accident.
Jennifer correctly assumes that made Mills snap. Donnie and Jennifer then ask why Mills didn’t
go after the distracted driver. Daniel replies that the distracted driver died four weeks earlier
when he was too distracted to see an overpass. Jennifer then says that Mills has to be picked up
but Daniel and Kate think that Mills wants the issue of "cognitive blindness” to get attention so
give it some.

Shoot to Jennifer and Daniel going on television to talk about the murders and Mills has been
invited as a consultant, while Donnie and Kate look on. Daniel eggs Mills on saying that talking
on one’s cell phone isn’t that distracting while driving. Daniel also says that the killer "isn’t
trying to send out some public service announcement about the dangers of distracted driving,”
but Mills contends that the killer is "trying to challenge our assumptions about perception.”
Daniel replies that when someone in an alligator costume stabs a referee, no one is thinking
about their perceptions, they're thinking, "Wow, an alligator just stabbed a referee. Then, they're
texting their friends about it while driving to the mall.” Mills replies that "the Killer is trying to
spark a national dialogue about the dangers of "inattentional blindness.” Daniel then asks Mills
how he knows that. The newscaster then mentions how Mills lost his wife and daughter in an
accident with a distracted driver. Daniel then notes that Mills’ book didn’t sell so he started
“killing to force people to pay attention to the idea of "cognitive blindness.”” Daniel then tells Mills
that the cameras are rolling to possibly air on a later news broadcast and now was his chance
to get millions of people to care. He then adds that if he confesses, the footage will air, otherwise
it will go in the trash bin.” Mills then explains that when the distracted driver hit his car, the
driver was still talking on his Bluetooth headset after the accident, that left his wife dead and
his daughter paralyzed. Mills then confesses to the murders but says that his "actions will save
millions.”

Shoot to Kate congratulating Daniel. When Kate walks away for a minute, Donnie comes over
and tells Daniel that Kate is "really into you. You know that, right?” Daniel doesn’t know what
Donnie is talking about. Donnie insists that he knows Kate and the way she’s acting with Daniel
was the way she used to act with him. Daniel insists that he and Kate are just "colleagues,
friends, that’s it.” Donnie then asks Daniel if he’s “into her?” Daniel replies that he isn’t and tells
Donnie to stay out of Kate’s personal life. Donnie just says that she deserves better than him
(Donnie) and deserves "better than staying hung up on someone who’s not interested” meaning
Daniel. Donnie then says that neither one of them is probably good for her and they should let
her move on with her life. Daniel insists he’s not standing in her way and Donnie says that it
looks to him like he’s "leading her on, not on purpose, but I'm just saying that if you care about
her, and I think you do, maybe you should let her know you're not interested.” Then, Donnie
walks away.

Shoot to Lewicki conducting the lecture for Daniel’s class. He’s talking about “cognitive blind-
ness” and how everyone has a "blind spot.” In the middle of the lecture, Daniel makes his pres-
ence known but tells Lewicki to continue with the lecture. As Lewicki continues the lecture, we
see Connor looking at a newspaper story exonerating him then we see him opening his front door,
his son is there, who then hugs him. We then see Mills being led away in handcuffs as Daniel
watches. Then, we see Daniel saying hello to Emmanuel, the janitor, at the courthouse. Next, we
see Kate running to catch Daniel as he’s going down in an elevator. She wraps the scarf he left
behind around his neck and they both smile as the elevator doors close. Then, we see Lewicki
say, "the eye sees only what the mind is prepared to comprehend.” Daniel then nods.
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Toxic

Season 2
Episode Number: 14
Season Episode: 4

4 N\
Originally aired: Tuesday July 16, 2013
Writer: Warren Hsu Leonard
Director: Jeff Woolnough
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Recurring Role:  Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan)

Guest Stars: Lisa Sheridan (Rebecca Abbott), Ray Wise (Martin Sullivan), Martha
Hackett (Leah Sullivan), Caleb Hunt (Chad), Vanessa Marano (Riley),
Brad Rowe (FBI Agent Dalton), Susan Walters (Anne Wallace), Laura
Wiggins (Patti Wallace), Taylor John Smith (Braden Sullivan), Lindsay
Bushman (Maddy), Damaris Diaz (Zoe), Tiffany Boone (Teenage Girl),
Jim Turner (I) (Dr. Bilson), Velinda Godfrey (Thin Brunette), David
Stifel (Worker), Carolyn Ann Clark (Flight Attendant), Trevor Doyle Nel-
son (Shy Guy)

Summary: Moretti questions why Pierce is working a case without her after he ac-
cepts an invitation from a renowned environmental activist. The case
involves a chain of abnormal neurological reactions, but Pierce’s ex-
amination of the group of young girls involved uncovers a dark secret.

We open on Daniel lecturing his class
about secrets. Basically, he tells them
that "biologically, it's healthier to confess
your secrets, so what is it about human
nature that makes us work so hard to
keep them hidden?”

Shoot to Donnie surprising Kate with
her favorite kind of coffee. She then asks
him what he wants. He tells her that he’s
been assigned the Carl Huffman case, a
real estate mogul who got busted running
Ponzi schemes out of retirement centers.
Donnie tells Kate that he needs someone
to do background interviews on the vic-
tims. Kate says that she’s too busy. She

: suggests Daniel help and Donnie asks
why she keeps feeling the need to involve him. Her response, "Because he’s brilliant and he
never says no to a case.”

Shoot to Daniel saying no to Lewicki about meeting a female environmental activist. But,
Daniel finds Rebecca Abbott, the environmental activist, in his office. She tells him that she’s
a big fan and has read all of his books. She then tells him that he needs to see something. On
a tablet, Rebecca shows Daniel a bunch of young girls who exhibit physical tics. Daniel says
that it looks like they all have Tourette’s but then Rebecca tells him that they all live in the
same small town and started exhibiting these symptoms within days of each other. Daniel says
that Tourette’s isn’t communicable. Rebecca then tells him that one of the girls’ mothers found
her web site and contacted her because she thinks the girls were poisoned by an environmental
contaminant, TCE, Trichloroethylene, and a chemical plant nearby processes loads of it. She

59



Perception Episode Guide

then says that tox screens on the girls came up positive for TCE in their systems. Rebecca thinks
the TCE has ended up in the water supply there and the company is trying to cover it up. She
then adds that she’s filing a class action lawsuit against Brooksville Chemical and wants Daniel,
a top neuroscientist, to testify that TCE caused the girls’ symptoms. Daniel then says he’d have
to examine the girls. Rebecca then offers to cover his hotel bill and plane ticket. When he finds
out that he needs to fly to Pennsylvania, Daniel all of a sudden says that he’s too busy but
Rebecca begs him to help the girls and leaves in a huff that he won’t. Kate arrives as Rebecca
storms out of Daniel’s office. She tells him about helping her with the Huffman case and he says
he can’t. She asks why. He says that he’s already working on a case. Lewicki, in the background,
looks puzzled. Kate asks Daniel if it’s for the FBI. He says that it isn’t and it’s for the woman who
just stormed out of his office. He then says that he and Lewicki will be out of town for a few days.

Shoot to Daniel at home packing as "Natalie” questions him going on a plane and staying in
some “hick town because you're interested in a case” then asks him what’s really going on. He
tells "Natalie” that Donnie told him that Kate has a "thing” for him and thinks her asking him to
help her on cases is a way to be closer to him. "Natalie” asks if that’s a bad thing since Kate is
smart, attractive and accepts him for who he is. Daniel replies that he doesn’t want to subject
Kate to the "craziness of my life.” "Natalie” then asks if his solution is to "scamper out of town
on a case.” Daniel denies "scampering” and then Lewicki pops in with bags asking Daniel if he’s
ready to leave. "Natalie” then asks Daniel if he’s "ready for this” and he replies, "How bad could
it be?”

Shoot to an overcrowded airplane, in coach, and a baby crying, as Daniel, with headphones
on, tries to distract himself by reading a magazine. Lewicki isn’t too comfortable either. Someone
then sits their seat back and spills food all over Daniel.

Shoot to the hotel. Daniel tells Lewicki that he can’t stay in the room with its "faux Thomas
Kinkade artwork... the bacteria infested bed.” Then, Chad, Rebecca’s assistant, arrives and in-
troduces himself. He apologizes for being late because someone slashed the tires on his rental
car...again. He says it's because some aren’t happy about his and Rebecca’s presence. He then
tells Daniel and Lewicki that they are late for a town meeting. Daniel doesn’t want to go and says
that he’s there to examine the girls. Chad tells Daniel that is where they are. Lewicki tells Daniel
to go and that he’ll deal with the room.

Shoot to the town meeting as Rebecca is speaking and the girls are twitching. Rebecca states
that "Brooksville Chemical and Martin Sullivan do not care about how many people they hurt in
this town!” Suddenly, a woman stands up and calls Rebecca a “liar.” She’s Sullivan’s wife and his
son also says he won'’t listen to any more "bulls*it” and gets up to leave. Sullivan then apologizes
for his wife and son’s outburst, says that he’s sorry and talks about how his grandfather worked
the land the company was founded on. Rebecca insists that all the company cares about is its
stock prices. Sullivan shoots back that the company has stayed in the town to help the economy
and yells at Rebecca for her "frivolous lawsuit.” Rebecca then introduces Daniel to back her
claims. Daniel is uncomfortable with everyone staring at him. He runs out but is followed by a
woman who asks him, "Could these chemicals have killed my daughter?” She begs him to look at
the picture of her daughter. She’s a young beautiful brunette. He notices her eye color and asks
her mother if she had the same "spasms as the other girls.” Her mother says no and shows him
her daughter’s toxicology report. The woman then said she was away for the weekend and came
back to find her daughter, Patti, had hung herself in the closet. She blames herself for leaving
her alone. She thinks the chemicals made Patti depressed but Daniel says TCE doesn’t affect
one’s mood and tries to run away again. Rebecca then catches up with Daniel and asks him if
he’s trying to make her look bad. He claims she "ambushed” him. She then tells him that the
tests came back that prove the groundwater in the town is contaminated. Suddenly, a gunshot
rings out! Rebecca is hit in the shoulder.

Shoot to the hospital. Lewicki asks Daniel how Rebecca is. He tells him that she was lucky
being shot only in the shoulder and that she was in surgery. Daniel is on edge and Lewicki
suggests they head back to the hotel so Daniel can "put on a clean shirt.” Daniel agrees.

Shoot to their hotel room. Lewicki made over the room so Daniel would be comfortable staying
there. Then, Lewicki gets a call from Kate asking to speak to Daniel. Daniel tells him to tell her
that he’s busy but Lewicki says that he called her and told her about the shooting. Daniel asks
him why he did that. "Because you almost got shot and she’s the FBI,” Lewicki replies. Daniel
gets on the phone and Kate tells him that she’ll be on the next flight out to where he is. Daniel
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tells her that she doesn’t have to but she insists since he was shot at. Lewicki told her what a
small town it is and that “the local PD won’t be that thorough especially if it's a company town.”
Daniel asks if a local FBI field office could handle it and Kate replies that Pittsburgh "probably
won’'t want to work with you because you're not exactly conventional.” Daniel then tells Kate that
he has to go and hangs up on her. Daniel then tells Lewicki to call Chad and tell him that he
wants to see the girls right then. Lewicki asks if it could wait until the morning. Daniel replies
that he won’t be intimidated by the shooter.

Shoot to Daniel talking to one of the stricken girls and her mother. One is telling him when
her symptoms began. She tells him that she can’t control her movements. We see Daniel talking
to each girl, with their mother. He asks one girl if she’s been able to sleep and she says no and
that when she tries the twitching wakes her up. She then asks the girl if she’s been under any
stress and she fires back that she’s ”a high school girl with tremors and facial tics. I think that
qualifies as stressful.” Daniel then tells Chad that he wants to meet with all of the girls’ doctors.
Chad tells him that Dr. Bilson is the only pediatrician in town, and that he treats all of the girls.
Daniel insists on meeting with him immediately.

Shoot to Bilson asking Daniel if he thinks the girls were poisoned by TCE. He tells him that
their TCE exposure levels were low and that they aren’t exhibiting other "neurotoxin symptoms.”
Bilson then asks Daniel if he thinks the girls are faking it. Daniel doesn’t think so, then he asks
Bilson if any of the girls had any other health issues before the symptoms. Bilson mentions a
strep throat outbreak a few months back.

Shoot to Daniel telling Rebecca, who is still in the hospital, about a condition called Pandas.
He tells her that it’s "a neuropsychiatric disorder in children and it can cause motor tics and
tremors.” Daniel then adds that it’s caused by strep throat infections and that he wants to run
more tests on the girls. Then, Chad interrupts them and says that "CNN wants to do a live
remote to talk about the case.” Rebecca tells Chad to tell them yes. Once Chad leaves, Rebecca
tells Daniel that she flew him there to support her case that TCE poisoning was the cause of
the girls’ problems. Daniel shoots back that he’s there to find out why the girls are sick, "not to
rubber stamp any theory that supports your case.” He then leaves Rebecca’s room.

Shoot to Daniel trying to sleep in the hotel room but he hears a woman whisper, "Help me,
please.” He keeps hearing the voice and then the sliding mirror closet door opens on its own.
Daniel gets out of bed, turns on the light in the closet to investigate and finds nothing. He shuts
the light and slides the door closed. He then sees a reflection of Patti standing behind him. She’s
holding out her hands to him but when he turns around, she’s gone. Then, there is a knock on
his door. Daniel, spooked, cautiously inches toward the door. It's Kate. She tells him that she
stopped by the local police already and that they have no suspects in the shooting but know who
vandalized Rebecca’s rental car.

Shoot to Daniel and Kate talking to Sullivan’s son and wife. Sullivan’s son denies shooting
that "crazy bitch” but Kate says that she knows he slashed the tires on Rebecca’s rental car.
Sullivan’s wife insists it was a prank and that her son apologized to the police. Kate then asks
Martin Sullivan if he owns a rifle. He tells her that everyone in town owns one so everyone would
be a suspect in the shooting. Daniel notes that the son, Braden, had motive to shoot Rebecca
because she had just disparaged his father in front of the whole town. He then added that
he stormed out of the town hall minutes before the shot was fired so he had the opportunity.
Martin wants Daniel and Kate to leave but not before telling them that Brooksville Chemical has
commissioned its own TCE tests on the girls and shows them that the results say there isn’t any
contamination in the air, soil, anything.

Shoot to Daniel’s hotel room as Kate says the company commissioned its own tests and gave
themselves "a clean bill of health, yeah,” she adds sarcastically. Daniel then proposes that it’s
Rebecca’s tests that are “off.” Kate then asks Daniel if he thinks she faked them. Kate is shocked
that Daniel is proposing that "the big bad corporation isn’'t the enemy.” Daniel tells Kate that
he thinks it’s more about publicity for Rebecca than finding out the real cause of these girls’
illnesses. Kate then says she’ll subpoena the lab that did Rebecca’s original testing to make sure
they are getting the actual results. Daniel then tells Kate if the tests results were phony maybe
the shooting was too.

Shoot to Daniel and Kate going to see Chad, Rebecca’s assistant. Daniel introduces Kate to
Chad as an FBI agent, who is there to see him. Kate questions Chad about purchasing a rifle the
week before and Daniel suggests that Rebecca wanted to make it look like she was being targeted
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so Chad shot at Rebecca. Chad denies it but Kate tells him that ballistics reports will match the
gun and Chad is now on the hook for attempted murder. Kate tells Chad that he’s going to jail
“unless, of course, you help us out.”

Shoot to Kate and Daniel confronting Rebecca, who denies that it "was a publicity stunt. I
almost died.” Kate then says that Chad wasn’t supposed to hit Rebecca. Daniel then gets mad
that Rebecca sucked him into going after a company that hasn’t done anything wrong when
there are tons of corporations out there that are. Rebecca stands by her results but Daniel says
the TCE levels in the girls weren’t high enough to make them sick. She then insists TCE is
in the groundwater and Daniel notes the company’s own tests cleared the groundwater of any
contaminants, that her original results said the same and that she lied to him. Daniel then tells
Rebecca that Chad is testifying against her. Rebecca continues to insist that she was looking out
for the girls and now they’ll get nothing where they would have gotten a million each without
Daniel’s interference. Kate adds that Rebecca would have gotten 33 percent of that. Kate lets in
cops ready to arrest Rebecca but then Daniel sees Patti’s image again. She’s glaring at him and
walks away so Daniel chases her as Kate calls after him. Daniel follows Patti’'s image and she
again whispers to him, "Help me.” Then, Bilson and Kate catch up to him. Bilson tells Daniel
that three more of his patients are exhibiting symptoms. Bilson then tells Daniel, "Whatever this
thing is...it's spreading.”

Shoot to Daniel telling Kate that she can go home because the case is now a "medical mystery.”
Kate then asks Daniel if she’s done something to offend him. He tells her that she hasn’t but she
notes how he turned down helping her on a case, which he’s never done then he hopped on
a plane and now he can’t get her out of town fast enough. "Natalie” appears and tells Daniel
that Kate breaks serial killers so she’ll get the truth out of him eventually. Daniel then says
to Kate, "I can’t have a relationship with you.” Kate doesn’t know what Daniel means. He then
clarifies that he can’t have a relationship "with anybody right now.” Kate replies, "What gave you
the impression that I wanted a relationship?” Daniel says he doesn’t know and mutters that he
picked up signals. Kate then says that if she has feelings for him she would tell him, NOT send
out signals. She then adds that any signals she sent out were “all in your head and don’t worry
about avoiding me anymore, I'm leaving tonight.” When Kate walks away, Daniel tells "Natalie”
what a great idea it was to tell her the truth. "Natalie” admits that the idea was good but his
execution was off. Nurses see Daniel talking to himself about the "nightmare of a trip.” "Natalie”
insists that Daniel is upset about Kate not about the trip, the hotel room, etc. "Natalie” then
thinks it’s nice to think that someone has a crush on you and that’s what's bothering Daniel.
Daniel walks away from "Natalie” as she tells him that "bottling up your emotions isn’t healthy.
They’ll eventually bubble to the surface.”

Shoot to Kate drinking a beer in the hotel bar. She ignores a call from Daniel then Lewicki
arrives. They start binge drinking beers. A drunk Lewicki tells Kate that they should "talk daily,
no hourly.” "A Friends of Dr. Daniel Pierce support circle,” Kate proposes. Lewicki agrees. Kate
then asks Lewicki if she gives out "signals” and asks him if she’s ever given him the impression
that she has a "thing” for Daniel. Lewicki replies by asking Kate if she does have a "thing” for
Daniel. She says that she doesn’t, but wants to know if it seems like she does. She then calls the
whole idea stupid and asks Lewicki if they should each order another beer. Lewicki replies that
they should get together more often.

Shoot to Daniel in his hotel room researching. All of a sudden, the radio shuts off and the
light blub in the lamp explodes. He hears Patti whispering again, "Help me.” He opens the closet
and finds Patti crouched in there. She begs him to help her and then her face suddenly becomes
filled with red dots. Daniel covers his eyes. When he uncovers them, Patti is gone, the radio
comes back on and so do the lights.

Shoot to Daniel going to see Patti’s mother and asking to see Patti’s autopsy report again.

Shoot to Kate leaving the hotel but Daniel catches her and tells her that he was wrong. He
tells her that she can’t leave town because they have a murder on their hands.

Shoot to Daniel showing Kate Patti’s autopsy photos and tells Kate that her death was ruled
a suicide but "asphyxiation causes capillaries in the face to burst, causing red dots on the face”
which means she didn’t hang herself. Kate then asks Daniel how the coroner could have missed
this detail. He says the coroner is “a funeral director not an MD.” Kate then asks Daniel who
killed Patti? He thinks the other girls are involved and mentions conversion disorder, where
“psychological trauma transformed into physical symptoms.” Daniel says the symptoms can get
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“extreme, where a wife can catch her husband in bed with another woman and then is suddenly
blind.” Daniel calls the girls having the symptoms at the same time mass hysteria, where a group
is exposed to the same situation and develops shared symptoms. Kate thinks it's a "stretch” but
Daniel notes a case from 2006. Kate then asks Daniel if he thinks Patti’'s murder was a shared
trauma. Daniel thinks all the girls have guilt over her death. Kate thinks it could be grief over a
friend’s suicide but Daniel notes that Patti’s death was weeks earlier and the girls didn’t develop
symptoms until weeks later. "Grief lessens over time but guilt builds,” Kate says. Daniel thinks
the nine afflicted girls are hiding something “and that secret wants to come out.”

Shoot to Donnie asking his colleague where Kate is. They tell him that she’s in Brooksville,
Pennsylvania. He asks what she’s doing there and they don’t know. Donnie calls Kate and yells at
her for blowing him off. She tells him that his Ponzi scheme case isn’t in court for another three
months and that she’s working on a murder. He replies, "Let me guess...with Daniel Pierce.” Kate
hangs up on Donnie and then Kate asks Daniel what she’s done to give him the impression that
"my feelings for you were anything other than platonic?” He says that she asks him out for pizza
and stuff like that and she says that’s what friends do. Daniel says that it’s all in his head and
Kate accepts his apology.

Shoot to Kate and Daniel questioning the girls about Patti. They tell them that she was a
“science nerd. We made like she didn’t exist.” Daniel replies, "You made sure she knew that.” The
girls then insist that they didn’t bully her. One girl, Riley, gets mad at the questions. Then, Kate
dismisses all of the girls except Riley, who asks why she has to stay. Kate questions Riley about
not being the "queen bee” anymore and having girls make fun of her because of the tics and her
having no one to talk to. Kate then tells Riley that she has a secret that Daniel thinks that her
holding it in is what’s causing the tics, etc. Kate adds that she thinks that Daniel is right and if
she tells them, her tics, etc. will go away. "We killed Patti,” Riley tells Daniel and Kate. She tells
them they were having a sleepover and started playing "Truth or Dare.” She added that one of the
other girls, Maddie, was really into Braden. Riley says she dared Maddie to go over to Braden’s
house and make out with him. We see the girls going to Braden’s house. We see Maddie climbing
up to see into his window. She came back down and starts crying so Riley looked to see what
had upset Maddie. Riley saw Braden and Patti having sex and she snapped a video of them with
her cell phone. She then says she told Maddie to send the video to Patti and that if she went near
Braden again they’d make sure their sex tape went viral. Riley then said the next morning Patti
hung herself. "It was all my fault,” Riley says.

Shoot to Kate and Daniel being puzzled knowing that Patti didn’'t hang herself but that it
couldn’t be a coincidence that she died a day after she got the video. Kate wants to talk to
Braden.

Shoot to Kate and Daniel going to talk to Braden. She asks him why he was dating Patti
in secret. He says he wanted to be open about it but that his parents always hated her but
he didn’t care because he loved her. Kate then asks him if he knew about the video. Braden’s
parents then tell Kate that she had no right to be there but Kate says that she does because
she’s investigating a murder. Braden’s mother orders Kate to leave but Martin tells her it’s okay
because they have nothing to hide. Meanwhile, Daniel sees Patti again. Daniel sees both Patti’s,
Martin’s and Braden’s eyes light up strangely. Braden’s mother then ushers Braden into their
house. As Martin says that she’s just trying to protect Braden and starts to walk away, Daniel
asks him, "Who was protecting your daughter? You're Patti Wallace’s father too.”

Shoot to Daniel, Kate and Martin sitting down as Martin asks Daniel how he knew. "It’s in the
eyes,” Daniel replies. He notes a disorder that makes eyes have flecks in them and that it’s passed
down to children. Martin says that Patti didn’t know he was her father and Patti’s mother, Ann,
was pregnant with Patti when Leah found out about the affair. She was furious and threatened to
take Braden and leave him. Kate asks what made her change her mind. Martin said he promised
he would never see Ann or Patti again. Martin then cries that he wasn’t there when Patti was
born or when she died but says he loved her. Daniel then asks Martin if he knew Braden and
Patti were sleeping together. Martin is shocked as Daniel explains how it can happen and Martin
says he knew he should have revealed the truth. Leah then comes and asks what Daniel and Kate
are still doing there. Martin tells her that they know about Patti. Kate then says that Patti was
murdered but Martin was in Pittsburgh when she died so he wasn’t a suspect, but so was Ann.
Daniel then notes that Martin was still in love with Ann even after all these years. Leah doesn’t
look surprised, which Daniel notes. Kate then asks Leah how she knew and she replied, that
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“little tramp Patti told me.” Martin is shocked as Leah says she found out what had happened
between Patti and Braden so she went over to Patti’s house. "Is that when you killed her?” Daniel
asks Leah, who tells Daniel and Kate that it was an accident. Kate then tells Leah to tell them
what happened. Leah says she found the video on Braden’s phone. She then says she went over
to tell Ann to keep Patti away from Braden but Patti was there and told Leah that her mother
was in Pittsburgh and Leah knew what that meant. Leah then says she snapped and told Patti
that she and Braden couldn’t be together but Patti said that she didn’t care and that they were
in love. Leah then says she told Patti the truth but Patti didn’t believe her and said she’d tell
Braden what Leah told her. Then, Leah says she couldn’t let Braden live with the shame so we
see Leah forcing her way into Patti’s house and that she only wanted to calm her down and that
she barely touched her. Daniel thinks Patti had a heart attack. Leah says it wasn’t her fault
but Kate says "it's manslaughter at least and you staged the suicide all to keep yourself out of
jail.” Leah says she did it to keep Braden from learning the truth. Leah then blames Martin for
everything because of his affair with Ann.

Shoot to "Natalie” asking Daniel if he’s glad to be home. He tells "Natalie” and Lewicki that
he got used to the "desk facing the wall” and thinks they should move the desk in his house. He
and Lewicki move the desk and Daniel says, ”I could get used to this.” Then he says no and they
move it back to its original place.

Shoot to Kate giving Donnie her research on his Ponzi scheme case. He asks her what she
was doing in Pennsylvania. She tells him that Daniel needed her help. He replies, "T'll bet he did”
and she asks him what he means. He tells Kate that she can’t have a stable relationship with
him and she realizes that he said something to Daniel. Donnie denies it but Kate says that she
knows when he’s lying. Donnie then says that he did talk to Daniel and just wants Kate to be
happy. Kate then tells Donnie to stay out of her personal life.

Shoot to Daniel lecturing his class again about secrets. As he’s talking, we see Rebecca being
arrested, the girls looking healthy and Braden hugging Martin as Daniel says that "confession is
good for the soul, if you believe that kind of thing.”
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Caleidoscope

Season 2
Episode Number: 15
Season Episode: 5

( N\
Originally aired: Tuesday July 23, 2013
Writer: Jonathan Abrahams
Director: Christopher Misiano
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent/Dr. Caroline Newsome),
Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Guest Stars: DJ Qualls (FBI Agent Rudy Fleckner), Kate Beahan (Ileana), Rob-
bie Sublett (Jeremy Nordhoff), Jeanetta Arnette (Stephanie Nord-
hoff), Melissa Hayden (Ashley Richards), Michael Patrick McGill (Dave
Richards), Sari Arambulo (Mai Quang), Mike Moh (Quang Brother),
Dave Shalansky (Kurt Simpson)

Summary: Pierce and Morretti dive into the world of Caleidoscope to solve the
murder of a man who spent most of his time playing the virtual real-
ity online game. But Pierce has trouble telling the difference between
reality and fantasy after he creates an avatar of himself.

We open on Lewicki presenting Daniel
with a birthday muffin despite Daniel
wanting him to act like it's just an-
other day. Daniel does thank him for the
thoughtful gesture. When Lewicki leaves
the room to get ready for class, "Na-
talie” appears and asks Daniel if he for-
got his own birthday. He replies by ask-
ing why one should celebrate “the in-
exorable march toward death?” "Natalie”
shoots back that it's a way for people in
his life to show him that they care. Daniel
then fires back that he doesn’t care and
hasn’t since he was a kid. "Natalie” cor-

: rects him saying that he doesn’t "cele-
brate and haven’t since you were diagnosed.” He then blows out the candle on the birthday
muffin.

Shoot to Lewicki and Daniel on campus. Paul rushes up to him to say, "Happy birthday” and
gives him a hug. Daniel tells him that he doesn’t want a big deal made about it, but Paul says
that’s too late because he’s "made arrangements for Thursday night. Courtesy of Gilbert Didion.”
Daniel replies that he doesn’t know who that is. Paul tells him that he’s the “enfant terrible of
Franco-Pacific cuisine and he’s opening a new restaurant in Wicker Park.” Daniel reminds Paul
that he doesn’t like crowds. Paul tells him it’s "private chefs table” with a few select guests to
sample the menu. Daniel tries to blow Paul off saying that he has a major exam to prepare for
on Friday. But, Lewicki chimes in that he doesn’t. Daniel throws him a scowl and then Lewicki’s
phone vibrates, it's Kate. Meanwhile, Paul tells Daniel that he won’t take no for an answer and
that he will pick Daniel up at 7.

Shoot to Daniel meeting with Kate. She shows him photos of a now dead Kurt Simpson, "three
weeks ago he was found in a hotel room in Three Rivers, Michigan, shot twice in the chest.” Kate
then asks Daniel about his birthday. Daniel replies, "Vicious rumor” then questions her about a
suspect. She replies that the crime scene was clean and that Simpson was a “loner, no friends
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and no family. Just a job managing to Tip Top Buffett in Portage,” Daniel replies that they have
their motive, since the guy ran a "community trough. Anybody lose a loved one to E. Coli recently
or Swine Flu?” Kate then tells Daniel about a civilian complaint that the cyber unit found that
was filed against Simpson a few weeks before the murder in "Caleidoscope. Turns out this guy
did have a life, just not in the real world.” Daniel then asks Kate what "Caleidoscope” is. She
replies, "T'll let Fleckner explain.”

Shoot to Fleckner, the FBI's tech guy, explaining to Daniel that "Caleidoscope is a multiplayer
online social game like Facebook in 3-D.” Daniel replies, "Like a delivery system for people with
attention-deficit disorder.” Fleckner replies that the notion that video games cause A.D.D is an
“old wives’ tale.” Kate then tells Fleckner to "not engage” but Daniel gets testy and starts saying
why video games are harmful to one’s limbic system, etc. Kate then explains that a "Caleidoscope
user creates an avatar to represent himself as he explores the virtual universe. It’s just like
real life, he can shop, travel, start a business, build a house or, in the case of our murder
victim, commit identity theft.” Kate then says that, "MPresario,” Simpson’s avatar name, was
using "Caleidoscope” to sell stolen credit-card numbers, thanks to an online tipster’s info. Daniel
then asks how you "virtually report someone to the FBI.” Fleckner explains how then Kate has
Fleckner bring up "Jeremy108’s” “"Caleidoscope” profile. "In the real world, he’s Jeremy Nordoff,
he’s 22, lives in Chicago, about a month ago he clicked on one of our billboards in ‘Caleidoscope’
and filed a report against 'MPresario,” Kate tells Daniel. Daniel questions why it took a month
for the tip to be noticed since the Internet is supposed to make everything faster. Fleckner then
replies about how he did the best he could given all of the online tips they get. Kate then says
that Fleckner is looking into Simpson’s online accounts and that she called Nordoff to see what
he knew. She says that’s where she needs Daniel’s help "because according to Jeremy’s mother,
he hasn’t spoken a word to anyone in five years.”

Shoot to Daniel and Kate meeting with Jeremy’s mother, who says Jeremy was always shy
around other people then one day decided not to come out of his room. Jeremy was 17 and his
mother goes to say that she thought it was because of Jeremy’s father but when he left it just
got worse. Jeremy’s mother then says that she’s "not a computer person and I don’t know what
Jeremy does online. He’s extremely fragile.” She also doubts that he’ll talk to Daniel.

Shoot to Jeremy’s mother bringing him food and telling him that the "people I told you about
from the FBI are here.” Daniel and Kate introduce themselves and Daniel asks Jeremy if he can
sit down. Jeremy ignores him, his eyes riveted to the computer screen. Daniel then tells Jeremy
that he doesn’t have to talk but that Kate has to ask him questions about the complaint he made.
Daniel tells Jeremy that if he wants to say 'Yes’ he should hit the 'Y’ key and hit the ‘N’ key for
‘No.” Jeremy nods. He takes off his headphones and accidentally knocks over the glass of orange
juice. His mother quickly cleans it up. Kate then tells Jeremy about Simpson’s credit card scam,
that he was murdered recently and they're trying to find out who killed him. She then asks him if
he knows anyone else who knew about the scam. Jeremy then starts shaking. Daniel thinks he’s
having a panic attack and tries to help. Jeremy’s mother then orders Kate and Daniel to leave as
she tells Jeremy to breathe.

Shoot to Kate and Daniel leaving as Daniel tells Kate that he has to talk to Jeremy. He then
says he’ll have to go into "Caleidoscope,” where Jeremy is able to communicate. Kate then tells
him that "cyber has to monitor everything, there are approvals, paperwork. It’s different.” Daniel
then asks how long that will take. A couple hours, a day at most. Try to be patient,” Kate replies.

Shoot to Daniel’s house. He’s trying to hurry up Lewicki, who is creating Daniel’s "Caleido-
scope” avatar, "DJP1989.” Lewicki then asks Daniel, "Who is the virtual Daniel Pierce?” Daniel
doesn’t know and Lewicki explains that his avatar is "a form of self-expression. It's who you are
outside the limits of the physical world.” Daniel replies that he doesn’t exist outside of the limits
of the real world. Lewicki then says that his avatar "looks like MJ, the old school version.” Daniel
then tells Lewicki to make the avatar like him except without the and Daniel makes the crazy
hand gesture. Lewicki replies, "Grey hair?” Daniel answers back, "Exactly.” Lewicki then asks
him about clothing the avatar and Daniel says that he doesn’t care. Lewicki then dresses his
avatar in jeans and a black leather jacket. Then Lewicki sees that "Caleidoscope” has a karaoke
lounge and suggests that Daniel sing. Daniel declines. Lewicki reminds Daniel that he loves to
sing bit Daniel replies, "Not in front of people.” Lewicki then says, "If you're not going to partici-
pate, what’s the point?” "I just want to understand the appeal for Jeremy,” Daniel says. Lewicki
sighs, hands Daniel headphones to talk or he says he can type. He then asks Lewicki how to
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move and he tells him to use the arrow keys. Lewicki then tells Daniel to “yell if you need me”
and leaves the room. Daniel makes a comment about the music and it ticks off another avatar
since he’s disparaging his girlfriend. The girlfriend then asks Daniel if he could do better. Daniel
makes a joke and the girl offers to buy him a drink since they are in a bar. Daniel says that he
can go to his fridge for a drink. The girl replies that "Caleidoscope’ is a fantasy. If you're gonna
come here, you should...buy in. For a moment, turn off the voice in your head. Get rid of all of
your distractions. A beautiful woman is standing in front of you, offering a few laughs and intel-
ligent conversation. Youre handsome and mysterious, and you look great in that leather jacket.
All you have to do to make it real...is use your imagination.” Then, the woman’s computer avatar
becomes a real woman in Daniel’s mind as she says, "And if you can do that, who knows? We
might end up having an amazing time. If you're interested, I'll be at the bar.” We see Daniel now
in the virtual bar, but as himself, in the leather jacket and jeans. He follows the woman to the bar
and orders a martini. The woman starts flirting with Daniel. Then, Lewicki interrupts them with
a call from Kate. Daniel takes off his headphones and answers. She asks him where he is. He
replies that’s at home in his kitchen. Kate then replies, "That’s funny because there’s an avatar
in the Prism Lounge that looks and sounds exactly like you.” She then tells him that he should
have waited for her and now he’s compromising the case. He denies compromising the case and
says he’s merely doing research. Kate then reminds him that his research is for the FBI and tells
him that she’s "coming in.” The woman, Ileana, then asks Daniel if he’s coming back to the bar.
He apologizes saying he had a phone call. We see him and Ileana, the woman, as if they are really
in a bar. He tells her a friend is coming to meet him. Kate walks in a black skin tight biker-chic
looking outfit. Ileana and Daniel see her and Ileana says to Daniel, "It looks like you're got your
hands full.” Daniel has his mouth open.

Shoot to Ileana leaving and Daniel asking Kate is explain her outfit. She tells him that Fleck-
ner designed her avatar. Then, Jeremy’s avatar walks into the Prism Lounge. Daniel notes that
"Jeremy not only communicates in here. He’s popular.” Jeremy is the bartender, who then wel-
comes Kate and Daniel and asks them "What's your pleasure.” They tell him that they were the
people who came to see him the other day. Daniel tells him that they thought it would be easier
to talk to him this way. Jeremy asks to go somewhere "more private.” The three of them are then
transported to outside to what looks like an island where Jeremy apologizes for his actions the
previous day. He tells them that he doesn’t know much about "MPresario’s’ credit card scam.
It was just a rumor I overheard in the bar.” Kate asks him if he remembers who said it and he
says that he doesn’t. He then tells them that "MPresario’ created the Prism Lounge so there’s
always chatter...”” Kate interrupts and asks if the chatter was about crimes but Jeremy says that,
”’MPresario’ wanted people to think that he was a gangster and how "he was connected to certain
businessmen’ but Jeremy didn’t think it was true. Kate then says that he reported him anyway.
Jeremy says he reported him because he was "angry because he kicked me out of the club. I
didn’t think about what I was doing.” Daniel asks him why he kicked him out. Then, Jeremy
explains that 'MPresario’ "put a black on my avatar so I couldn’t go into the club because he
thought I was hitting on his girlfriend. The avatar named ’Crystalline.” Kate then asks Jeremy
if he was hitting on her. He says he was just talking to her. He goes on to say that he "can’t do
that in the real world. I sent MPresario a couple of messages to explain, but by then he’d already
blocked me.” Kate then asks how Jeremy got back into the club and Jeremy replied that the block
“just disappeared after a few weeks.” He figured "Crystalline’ talked some sense into him. Daniel
and Kate look at each other and Daniel asks Jeremy for a minute alone. Kate’s avatar disappears
and Daniel asks Jeremy if he could come over his house again. Jeremy is unsure and afraid he’ll
freak out again. Daniel says he can bring a therapist along to help and asks Jeremy if he’s ever
seen one. He replies that he and his mother couldn’t afford it. Daniel proposes finding someone
they could afford who “could help you get back to the real world.” "I'm not sure the real world
is such a great place,” Jeremy replies. Daniel then tells Jeremy that "’Caleidoscope’ is "amazing
but it’s imaginary.” But, Jeremy purports that, Caleidoscope’ isn’t imaginary. It exists. It’s just
a different kind of reality.”

Shoot to Fleckner telling Kate that he pulled up "Crystalline’s” profile. Her IP address is Jack-
sonville, Florida. "Her real name is Ashley Richards.”

Shoot to Kate flying to Florida and talking to Ashley, who tells her that she and Simpson fell in
love in "Caleidoscope” but it took six months for them to plan their lives together. She tells Kate
about their plan to "run away together in the real world.” She goes on to tell Kate that Simpson
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told her he had to finish up a big business deal to set them up, but then he disappeared. Kate
asks who the deal was with but Ashley said that he didn’t say. Ashley professes that Simpson
loved her "even after we exchanged photos.” Kate then asks Ashley if Simpson had any enemies,
anyone who wanted to hurt him. Ashley then mentions her "psycho ex-husband.”

Shoot to Kate going to see Dave, Ashley’s ex-husband. He tells her how he found out about
Ashley and Simpson. He came home one night after a back-breaking day of work and she’s sitting
in front of her laptop. "Candles, bottle of wine, watching her cartoon have sex with his cartoon
on a yacht.” Kate then asks Dave if it was then he threatened 'MPresario.” Dave says he then
joined "Caleidoscope,” found Simpson in the bar and told him to stay away from Ashley. When
Kate asks him how he tracked down Simpson’s real world address, Dave tells her that he didn’t
and Simpson was "connected. He knew people. A couple of days later, he was jumped by some
Asian guys,” who threatened Dave with a gun in his mouth to stay away from Simpson.

Shoot to Daniel getting all dressed up when his laptop starts beeping. It's a message from
Ileana, inviting him to meet at the virtual bar. But, then his doorbell rings. It's Paul, but Daniel
says he has the stomach flu and can’t go out. Paul asks Daniel if he wants him to stay or get
him some meds. Daniels declines both and tells him that he "has to ride it out” and that he’ll
call him in the morning. He then shuts the door on Paul and goes back on his laptop to meet
Ileana at the virtual bar. She comments about not upsetting his "tattooed friend” but Daniel tells
her that she’s just someone he works with. He then tells her that he’s a college professor from
Chicago. Ileana replies that she’s a second grade teacher and that she "loves her kids but likes
to escape after being bombarded by 7 year old all day.” She then suggests maybe snowboarding
or something else extreme since "Caleidoscope’ is our virtual oyster.” "There must be something
you've always wanted to do,” she says to Daniel.

Shoot to Daniel, in "Caleidoscope,” singing in the karaoke bar though we see him doing it for
real. He’s letting loose both in the game and in his kitchen as Ileana dances in the game to his
singing. The game’s crowd loves him. Shoot to Fleckner telling Kate about 'Big Tito,” who Simpson
talked to the most in "Caleidoscope” and all their messages to each other were encrypted. "The
entire credit card operation, 'Big Tito’ was Simpson’s buyer,”” Fleckner tells Kate, who is amazed
that Fleckner decrypted everything. He also found 'Big Tito’s’ IP address in Fort Wayne, Indiana.
He also tells Kate that he’s Asian, which makes her think that he’s connected to the guys Dave,
Ashley’s ex-husband told her roughed him up to stay away from Simpson.

Shoot to Kate going to see 'Big Tito.” Meanwhile, Daniel is in "Caleidoscope” with Ileana on
a beach, holding hands. She comments how the last few days have been amazing though she’s
dreading the paperwork that’s piled up. She then tells Daniel that she’s always wanted to go to
this famous garden in Kyoto. Daniel is surprised she knows about the garden. She asks Daniel
to take her there sometime and he says that he’d love to. ”Of all the virtual joints, you had to
walk into 'MPresario’s.” Ileana says to Daniel, who replies, "I thought it was the Prism Lounge.”
It is, it’s just MPresario who owns it,” she replies. Daniel then asks Ileana if '"MPresario’ is a
friend of hers. She replies that she sees him occasionally but hasn’t in a while. He says that he
probably had to go back to the real world. Then, Ileana says, "I hope you think this is real” and
then she kisses Daniel. Then, Lewicki interrupts them though he says he didn’t see anything. He
tells Daniel that Kate just brought in a suspect.

Shoot to Daniel passing 'Big Tito’s’ brothers, in handcuffs, at the station. Then, Kate intro-
duces him to 'Big Tito,” a young Asian girl named, Mai.

Shoot to Kate telling Mai that they've got the stolen credit card numbers that "MPresario”
has been sending over the last six months and the online wire transfers she made to his bank
account. Kate then says a month ago "MPresario” told Mai that he wanted to double the price to
leave no money trail meaning he was “trying to squeeze you.” But, "instead of trying to negotiate”
she sent her brothers to rough him up. Mai then tells Kate that she’s 15 years old and the
whole thing was a "goof, an after school job. We found the credit-card stamping equipment.” Kate
tells Mai that she’s part of a major identity-theft operation and that her brothers’ have charges
of robbery and assault on their records. Fleckner then interrupts them and says that he just
decrypted Mai’s backup drive, and Kate reads an email from Mai’s brother, which says, "Problem
solved. "MPresario” won't be jacking up no more prices. LOL.”” Kate then says that it was dated
the day Simpson was murdered. Kate then accuses Mai of telling her brothers to kill Simpson
once he got back home. Mai denies having him killed just that her brothers roughed him up,
“they left him bloody but alive,” she says.
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Shoot to Kate telling Daniel that she thinks Mai is lying. Daniel notes there isn’t any bruising
on Simpson’s face in the crime scene photos so Daniel is wondering why “she’s coping to some-
thing that never happened?” Kate doesn’t know but has her nailed for identity theft and she’s
going to keep grilling her and her brothers about the murder. Kate then tells Daniel that he looks
exhausted and should get some rest. He says he can’t because he has a class.

Shoot to Daniel on campus and Ileana is there. He thinks she’s a hallucination because she
looks exactly like he imagined her. She replies that she looks like her avatar. He asks her how
she found him and she tells him that he told her he was a college professor in Chicago and his
initials were J.F.P., which narrowed it down. She then says she lives just outside Milwaukee so
it was an easy trip. Then, Ileana sees he’s shocked an apologizes for not thinking how he would
feel about meeting in person and gets up to leave but Daniel stops her. He then tells how glad
he is that she’s there. Then, Paul interrupts them seeing Daniel isn’t sick like he said he was.
Daniel wants to introduce him to Ileana but she’s gone, she was a hallucination. Daniel is upset
and runs off as Paul yells at him for not sharing a meal with him.

Shoot to Daniel going back into "Caleidoscope” as "Natalie” appears and asks him if that’s
"wise, since you just hallucinated your virtual girlfriend.” Daniel then asks "Natalie” if she’s "jeal-
ous.” She replies that’s she concerned because he hasn’t slept and has "abandoned your routine.
You know where this will lead. You’ll be unable to tell the difference between the real world and
the fantasy world.” Daniel says that won’t happen. She fires back that it’s already happening and
that he did the same thing when he first met her. "You're falling in love with an idealized version
of a real person,” "Natalie” tells Daniel. Daniel insists that it’s not the same because "Natalie” is
a hallucination, whereas Ileana is a real person sitting at a computer somewhere that he’s made
a connection with. "And to me that’s worth the risk.”

Shoot to Daniel meeting Ileana in "Caleidoscope” in the Prism Lounge. He asks her if she
meant taking to that garden in Kyoto in real life. She says she doesn’t know. He asks her what
she would say if he asked her to go with him. "I'm afraid you would be disappointed. I don’t
exactly look like my avatar,” Ileana replies. Daniel says that he doesn’t care. Then, Daniel says
he has to go.

Shoot to Daniel finding Kate at the station and telling her that Mai wasn't lying, that her
brothers didn’t know what Simpson looked like, they only knew what his avatar looked like. Kate
asks Daniel if he thinks they beat up someone else and he says yes, plus that Simpson must have
sent someone else to pick up the cash for him. He doesn’t know if that person had something to
do with the murder only that Mai and her brothers didn’t kill Simpson. Daniel then starts seeing
Kate as her avatar and says, "Oh no, I'm stuck in the game.” He starts screaming for Lewicki to
help him. Voices are getting distorted and he sees Lewicki’'s MJ avatar.

Shoot to Daniel with Ileana in Kyoto in "Caleidoscope.” He insists that he needs to get back
to the real world and to the real Kate. Ileana replies that "it’'s as real as you want it to be.” He
insists that it isn’t no matter how much he wants it to be. He then says that "Natalie” was right
and that "Caleidoscope” isn’t good for him. He then tells Ileana that he can’t see her anymore
because she isn’t real. He then apologizes to Ileana then drops a glass and it falls to the floor
and breaks. Suddenly, he’s back in the Prism Lounge. He sees Jeremy there and begs him for
help and to tell him how to get out of there. Jeremy then looks up, also drops a glass on the
floor and it shatters, just like it did when Daniel and Kate went to see him in the real world.
Also, Jeremy’s face is scarred in "Caleidoscope.” Then, Lewicki gets Daniel out. Daniel questions
Lewicki that he’s back in the real world and he tells him that he is. Daniel tells Lewicki that he
needs to see Kate right away. Lewicki asks him why. Daniel replies, "Mai’s brothers didn’t beat
up Kurt Simpson, they beat up Jeremy Nordoff!”

Shoot to Kate telling Daniel that his theory is impossible and that Jeremy can’t even leave his
room, let alone drive to Indiana to get beat up by Mai’s brothers. “Imagine if someone literally
took your life away, what would you be willing to do to get it back?” Daniel asks Kate.

Shoot to Daniel and Kate, talking to Jeremy, in "Caleidoscope,” who tells them how he felt
his life was over when "MPresario” blocked him from the Prism Lounge. "Without my friends,
there wasn’'t any reason for me to get up,” Jeremy said. Daniel then says that gangsters only
give somebody something back in return for something. So that’s why Jeremy agreed to pick up
the money for Simpson, to get back into the Prism Lounge. Jeremy then confesses that he had
"MPresario” lift the block before he left for Indiana. Kate asks him how he could drive a car after
so many years in his room. Jeremy then says he was terrified and we see him sneak out of his
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house as his mother slept. He goes on to say that he was fine driving but when he got out of
the car, it was a nightmare,” We see Mai’s brothers jump him. He then says he got up after the
beating, went home but didn’t stay, "I got my mother’s gun and got back in the car and I drove
to the motel in Three Rivers.” "And you shot Kurt Simpson,” Kate says. Jeremy replies that all
he could think about was how Simpson set him up. "Since he didn’t get his money, he’d have
an excuse to block me again. To keep me from the one place where I can actually have friends.
You're damn right I shot him. I didn’t have a choice.”

Shoot to the real world and Kate and Daniel going to Jeremy’s house. Mrs. Nordoff doesn’t
want what happened last time to happen again. Kate then tells her that they're there to arrest
Jeremy because he confessed to Simpson’s murder. Mrs. Nordoff says that he’s isn’t capable of
doing what they say he did. Daniel then mentions how she didn’t mention that he came home
bruised and bloodied and Kate then tells her that she’s an accessory to murder. Mrs. Nordoff
denies everything and talks about what Jeremy says and does in the Prism Lounge was all
fantasy. Kate then calls on Mrs. Nordoff, who said that she knew nothing about Jeremy’s online
life. Daniel then sees Mrs. Nordoff's painting and says, "Jeremy isn’t the only one living in a
fantasy world, is he...Ileana?”

Shoot to Mrs. Nordoff telling Daniel and Kate that she went into "Caleidoscope” to keep an eye
on Jeremy and that he didn’t know Ileana was her. Daniel then yells at her for lying to him. He
then accuses her of using Ileana to get close to him once she knew they found Jeremy in "Calei-
doscope.” She denies that but Daniel insists that she was either trying to protect Jeremy...or
someone else. "You said yourself that he’s not capable of murder, so that leaves you,” Daniel
says. We see Mrs. Nordoff tending to Jeremy’s wounds after he was beaten up. She says she then
had him type out what had happened and when she learned that "MPresario” set him up, "Some-
thing inside me snapped.” We then see her go to the motel in Indiana and shot Simpson. Kate
then asks her if she told Jeremy what she did and she says she just told him that "everything
was back to normal.” Kate then arrests her and Daniel assures her that Jeremy will get the help
he needs. Mrs. Nordoff then tells Daniel that she didn’t know who he was until Kate showed up
in the game and that her feelings for him were real.

Shoot to Daniel going to see Caroline. He tells her about Jeremy.

Shoot to Daniel going to see Paul and apologizing. He brings takeout for them to eat together.

Shoot to Daniel lecturing his class about fantasies. We then see Daniel deleting his "Caleido-
scope” avatar.
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Defective

Season 2
Episode Number: 16
Season Episode: 6

4 )
Originally aired: Tuesday July 30, 2013
Writer: Raf Green, Charley Dane
Director: Andrew Bernstein
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Recurring Role:  Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan)

Guest Stars: DJ Qualls (FBI Agent Rudy Fleckner), Julie Ann Emery (Susan Vet-
ter), Jud Tylor (Tess Williams), David Alpay (Sario Donati), Michael
Benyaer (Dr. Arthur Singh), Alexis Denisof (Dr. Randall Vetter),
Richard Topol (Dr. Jeff Bowen), Anabelle Acosta (Eva), Matt Prokop
(Ian Vetter), Whitney Hoy (Gabby), Kristin Carey (Jill Nelson), Larry
Cedar (Mel Haberman), Richie Rothenberg (Guest Star), Ajarae Cole-
man (Spokeswoman), Sigmund Watkins (Cop)

Summary: When Pierce teams with Donnie to investigate a new brain device that
aims to control tremors their alliance is tested when the case turns to
murder. Lewicki learns a valuable lesson about dating.

We open in Daniel's class as Lewicki
chops a watermelon in half. Daniel says
he’s just performed a “hemispherec-
tomy,” meaning he removed the diseased
part of the brain. Daniel says they save
lives and show that humans can function
with half a brain. He then asks the class if
it means one has more brain power than
needed or one has "vast amounts of un-
used potential.”

Daniel bumps into Paul after class,
who tells Daniel to dress differently for
the event that evening because “fac-
ulty endowments don’t fund themselves.”
Daniel replies that it's a fundraiser for
Parkinson’s research. As they are walkmg they pass by Lewicki making out with a girl. Lewicki
then introduces Paul and Daniel to Eva. Lewicki then asks Daniel if he could talk to Eva about
the extension school. Daniel declines saying that he and Paul are on their way to "see one of the
greatest violinists in the world and we can’t be late.”

Daniel and Paul are in the audience as this male violinist, Sario, performs. As Sario plays, he
starts off well but then begins to play off-key then collapses. Daniel rushes to his side as Sario
appears to be having a seizure. He finds a device in Sario’s pocket and activates it, it stops the
seizure. As the EMT’s take Sario away in an ambulance, Daniel says that Sario could have side
effects from his "DBS, deep brain simulator” (the device Daniel found in his pocket.) Daniel then
explains that Sario has “electrodes implanted in his brain to help relieve his Parkinson’s symp-
toms.” Paul then asks Daniel how he knew how to help Sario. Daniel says there was an article
about him in the paper about how he had to retire but since he had the electrodes implanted
he could play again. Sario screams for his violin and Daniel tells him that he’ll make sure it’s
safe. Sario then begs Daniel to come to the hospital with him but Daniel thinks he should call
his usual doctor. Sario then tells Daniel to tell his doctor what happened. Daniel agrees.
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In Sario’s hospital room, Sario’s doctor, Dr. Vetter, tells Sario and Daniel that the settings
on Sario’s DBS were too high. Daniel asks how that could happen. Vetter doesn’t know and is
grateful for Daniel's quick action. Sario then tells Vetter that he wants him to turn his DBS
back on. Vetter says it's too dangerous. Sario doesn’t care. Then, a woman named Tess come
into the room. She’s from the company, OsciDyne, which makes Sario’s DBS. Vetter says he will
Tess what happened. Daniel listens as Vetter tells Tess that Sario’s levels surged just like in
other patients he’s seen. Vetter then introduces Tess and Daniel and credits Daniel with saving
Sario’s life. Vetter then tells Daniel about his other patients who have had similar incidents, but
thankfully none of them died. Daniel then concludes that the device is flawed but Tess says the
5.0 device is working properly. Vetter then says he is taking Sario’s DBS out and recommending
that all his patients fitted with the 5.0 device have them removed and that OsciDyne needs to
cover the costs. Tess doesn’t see that happening. Vetter replies that he’s afraid for his other
patients and his wife. Tess then asks Vetter how his wife will feel when he removes her device
and her hands start shaking again. He says she’ll be mad but alive.

Daniel and Kate watch OsciDyne’s video explaining their 5.0 DBS. Daniel tells Kate that
OsciDyne’s model is clearly defective. Kate then asks Daniel what he wants her to do. He wants
her to help him investigate OsciDyne. Kate says it’s a product liability issue and he should go to
the FDA. Daniels says they won’t help because they've already approved the device. Then, Donnie
comes in and tells Kate and Daniel that they are re-opening a case and needs Kate to do new
interviews. Kate then tells Daniel that now she couldn’t help him even if she wanted to.

Donnie goes to Daniel’s house and tells him "OsciDyne is leveraged up to their electrodes. If
they admit the 5.0 DBS is defective it could bankrupt them.” Daniel asks Donnie if he thinks
there’s a cover-up. Donnie says he’s willing to look into it because he it’s his job to protect the
public and that he needs Daniel to understand all the "psychological mumbo-jumbo they would
try to snow me with.” Donnie also tells Daniel that he already called Vetter told him they need
his statement and Vetter said he’d meet them at his house in an hour. Daniel questions Donnie
wanting to team up with him given how’s he has treated him and how he’s undermined his
friendship with Kate. Donnie replies that they’ll just stick to talking about the case.

They drive to Vetter’s house. They find police there. A cop tells them that there were two
victims and that one is dead with his head bashed in. Kate arrives. Donnie and Daniel tell her a
dog walker found Vetter dead and his wife barely alive and how the police think it was a home
invasion gone wrong. Both Donnie and Daniel question this theory since nothing was stolen and
think OsciDyne sent someone to shut up Vetter. Kate then asks what they’re doing there. Donnie
tells Kate that he and Daniel are working together on a product liability case. She’s surprised.
Daniel wants to go see Vetter’s wife at the hospital to see what she knows.

At the hospital, Daniel talks to Vetter's wife, Susan’s, doctor. Her eyes are open but she’s
unresponsive otherwise known as a "minimally conscious state.” Donnie asks if she’ll wake up
and Daniel says there isn’t much the doctors can do. Kate then talks to the Vetters’ son, Ian,
and asks him if he knew anyone who would want to hurt his parents. He says no. Kate then tells
the guys that she has little to go on but Donnie thinks once they start digging into the product
liability case "we might be able to nail these bastards for murder.” Kate stops them and questions
Donnie about bringing Daniel in on a case now when in the past, he’s been against it. Donnie
says he needs Daniel because they are investigating a brain device but Kate replies that since he
showed up he’s tried to drive a wedge between her and Daniel and think it’'s part of some plan to
get her and Donnie back together. He replies that she’s imagining things.

Donnie and Daniel meet with the owners of OsciDyne, who insist there is nothing wrong with
their 5.0 DBS. Donnie then asks them to explain "nine failed units.” The owners they’'ve double-
checked everything from distribution to production and haven’t found a problem. Daniel then
blatantly asks if someone from OsciDyne was sent to attack Dr. Vetter and his wife. One owner
says they need to leave if they don’'t have a warrant. Donnie then threatens to convene a press
conference to inform the public that OsciDyne is impeding a federal investigation into one of its
products and questions what that would do to the company’s stock price. One owner, Dr. Singh,
then says there he designed the 5.0 DBS using wireless technology so the doctors can make
adjustments to the devices remotely. Daniel questions if someone got patient’s access code they
could tamper with their device. Singh says that it’s possible. Donnie asks why someone would do
that. Singh then tells Donnie and Daniel about a neurosurgeon who worked for OsciDyne about
a year ago then quit to go back to academia. Not long after that OsciDyne’s biggest competitor,
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MediVolt, funded his clinical trial for $4 million.

Donnie and Daniel go see the neurosurgeon, Dr. Bowen. He tells them that Singh is blaming
him for a fault in his (Singh’s) design. Bowen replies that the patient needs to be within 50 feet of
the computer with the 5.0 software and that’s the only way the settings can be changed. Daniel
whispers to Donnie that Sario was nowhere near a computer when he had his seizure. They move
to leave but Bowen stops Daniel to discuss a “professional matter.” Donnie goes off to make a
call. Bowen tells Daniel that he’s read all of his books, and that he’s going to apply DBS in his
next clinical trial, which will test DBS as a treatment for schizophrenia. Daniel doesn’t think
it will work. Bowen says he’s had success in animal trials. Daniel doesn’t think it will work on
people. Bowen asks Daniel to be a consultant on the study. Daniel declines. Still, Bowen begs
him to read his research. Daniel takes the research.

Kate shows Daniel the security footage from Vetter's garage at work. It shows Singh con-
fronting Vetter.

Kate and Donnie question Singh at the station while Daniel watches behind a two-way mirror.
He denies killing Vetter but Kate says they have him on tape confronting him. Singh tells Kate
that Vetter filed a complaint with the FDA. Donnie accuses Singh of lying and he denies doing so.
Donnie then brings up Singh’s criminal record in India. He was charged with assault for basking
a coworker in the head. Singh says those charged were "trumped up” otherwise his Visa would
never have been approved. Kate then asks Singh for his alibi and he says he was at home asleep.
Donnie thinks Singh is guilty and wonders if he killed Vetter himself or hired someone to do it.
Daniel sees why Singh would want to get rid of Vetter but why the wife. Donnie says that she was
a witness. Kate then says they have nothing to hold Singh on while Donnie insists he’s a flight
risk and says he’ll get a material witness warrant.

At his house, Daniel is reading through Bowen’s research as "Natalie” asks him why he can’t
be more open-minded about Bowen’s research. He replies because his research is funded by
a "soulless profit-driven corporation.” "Natalie” then asks Daniel if he’s scared that Bowen’s
research could lead to a cure and then he’d have no excuse for being sick. Daniel thinks that
is preposterous and says he doesn’t want electrodes in his brain. Then, Lewicki arrives with
Eva. Lewicki tells Daniel how she’d be perfect for the extension school, which could lead her
to a scholarship. Daniel then asks Eva what she’s interested in studying. Eva then whispers to
Lewicki that she didn’t think this would be an interview, offers Daniel a free haircut at her salon
and rushes out. Lewicki leaves too, miffed at Daniel. Then, Daniel hallucinates another version of
himself in a suit and tie, who calls himself "Dan,” who says he’s "considerate and open-minded.”
"Dan” says he knows Daniel and says his illness changed him. "Dan” then opens a space in
his head, reveals an electrode and says, "The future is now, my friend. No more hallucinations,
no more delusions.” Daniel insists that treating schizophrenia with DBS is just a theory and
that "Dan” and his electrode are just a hallucination. "Dan” then tells Daniel that Vetter’s wife,
Susan’s is real and Daniel can use it to wake her up.

Daniel talks to Bowen about using Susan’s DBS to wake her up. Bowen says Daniel needs
to be there when they try. Daniel doesn’t want be in the operating room. Bowen just wants him
to monitor. Then Daniel says they’ll need lan’s permission for the surgery. Ian isn’t sure and
wants to see of she’ll wake up on her own. Bowen tells him that Susan’s brain activity is slowly
declining and this may be her best chance. Then, Tess from OsciDyne shows up and tells Ian
that Bowen’s surgery is not a FDA-approved usage of the 5.0 device and that OsciDyne won’t
be liable for the outcome of the surgery. She then gives Ian her card and leaves. Ian stops looks
at his mother lying in the bed and tells Bowen to go ahead with the surgery. Daniel watches on
a monitor during Susan’s surgery. Daniel tells Bowen when to stop and then he tries to revive
Susan. It doesn’t work initially so he tries a higher pulse. "Dan” appears to Daniel as Susan still
doesn’t wake up. They're starting to lose Susan and Bowen wants to end the surgery. Meanwhile,
"Dan” is egging Daniel on calling him incompetent. Daniel tells them to pulse Susan’s brain in a
different spot. Susan wakes up. "Dan” praises Daniel.

Daniel asks Susan routine questions in her hospital room. He asks her the last thing she
remembers before waking up in the hospital. She says she was in her kitchen, doing dishes and
Vetter had just left for work. Then, her tremor suddenly got worse and she felt like her DBS was
back on, which didn’t make sense because Vetter had turned it off the night before. Then, she
said she started to feel angry that Vetter had made a mistake and then he came back into the
kitchen. We see Vetter try to calm Susan down but she got angry, pushed him, he hit his head
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on the counter and then she said she must have blacked out. She then asks Daniel where Vetter
is. She then starts sobbing that she killed her husband.

Daniel tells Donnie and Kate that Susan accidentally killed Vetter. Donnie doesn’t buy it since
she was practically dead when they got there. Daniel explains that she was in a "highly agitated
state” then had the seizure. Kate then reminds Daniel that he said the same thing about Sario.
Daniel says Sario and Susan’s levels’ both surged. Kate then says that Susan’s DBS was off when
she got to the hospital. Daniel then thinks that Singh was right about the sabotage. Kate thinks
it was Vetter since he was close and had Susan’s code. Donnie then asks Kate to explain how
Vetter turned off Susan’s DBS when he was dead. Kate explains how he could have done it and
Daniel adds that it would have be the perfect cover. Donnie relents but says they are still going
after OsciDyne for the eight other failed devices. Daniel agrees. Kate then says she’ll get Fleckner
and the cyber division to get on Susan’s device to prove it was tampered with, but they still need
a motive.

Kate and Daniel talk to Ian about his parents’ relationship. Kate then tells Ian that Susan
could still be facing manslaughter charges even though it was an accident. Ian tells them that
Susan thought Vetter was having an affair with his secretary.

Kate questions Vetter's secretary, Gabby, at the station, while Daniel and Fleckner watch
behind a two-way mirror. She denies any affair but said Vetter flirted with her and they went
out for drinks a few times. Gabby then says she too thought Vetter was having an affair. Then,
Fleckner shows Kate, Daniel and Donnie an MP3 player that was found at the Vetters’. It has
the OsciDyne 5.0 software on it. It was the last program run on the device and synched to
Susan’s DBS access code and had the sync codes for the other eight failed devices. He then
says that someone was using the MP3 to sabotage all of the devices and there were never any
malfunctions. Looks like Vetter made the malfunctions so his wife’s murder would look like one.
Kate then says she’ll check Vetter’s travel records and if she can pinpoint him near any of the
victims’, he’s their man. Donnie doesn’t believe it.

At Daniel’s house, Daniel is watching a basketball game when Lewicki comes in and tells him
that Eva broke up with him — by text and wished he knew what he did wrong. Daniel suggests
that he pushed her too hard. Then, the doorbell rings. It's Donnie with cans of beer ready to watch
the game with Daniel. Daniel asks Donnie what he’s doing there. Donnie says he’s bummed and
wanted the DBS to be defective. He explains about Lexomycin, which is antibiotic linked to heart
problems. Donnie explains when he first started, a case against the drug came across his desk
and he didn’t pass it on to his boss because he thought it looked lame, but 47 people died because
of the drug. Donnie doesn’t think it was all his fault but that he had a hand in it. Donnie then
says he wanted redemption and that thought that taking on OsciDyne would prove to Kate that
he’d changed. Donnie falls asleep on Daniel’s couch as "Dan” appears and bugs Daniel about
getting a DBS and says how Daniel isn’t even willing to try new drugs or therapy. "Dan” then
shows Daniel that he has a wife and kids and that could too if he took care of himself. "Dan”
then implies that Daniel knows who really shut off Susan’s DBS.

Kate questions Tess from OsciDyne. Meanwhile, behind a two-way mirror, Daniel tells Donnie
that Tess didn’t look at Susan in the hospital once because she didn’t want to look at the woman
she tried to kill. Daniel then tells Donnie that he thinks Tess and Vetter were having an affair.
Daniel goes in and asks Tess when the affair started. She says she met Vetter three years earlier
but Vetter still loved Susan but wasn’t attracted to her anymore. When Susan got DBS and her
tremors stopped, Vetter started spending more time at home, which said Tess said hurt. Daniel
and Kate then accuse Tess of messing with Susan’s DBS so she could have Vetter to herself.
She denies everything, but Kate tells her they found the MP3 with her fingerprints. Tess then
confesses to raising the patients’ settings only a few levels so they’d have side effects. We see her
target Sario. We see Tess watch Vetter leave for work that day. We see her watch Susan doing
dishes and Tess raise her levels with the MP3. She saw Susan accidentally kill Vetter, Tess then
turned off Susan’s DBS and rushed to Vetter’s side. Tess then cries to Daniel and Kate that she
just wanted Vetter for herself.

Donnie then apologizes to Daniel for barging in the night before and thanks him for not
throwing him out. Donnie then asks Daniel not to tell Kate. Daniel says that he won’t but that
maybe Donnie should. When Kate comes over, Daniel tells her that Donnie isn’t that bad and
maybe she should cut him some slack.

Lewicki meets with Eva and tells her that he knows why she broke up with him. She agrees
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that he made too big a deal about her maybe getting a scholarship. Lewicki then tells her that in
high school he felt like he didn’t measure up, but that going to college and getting a scholarship
made him feel better about himself. Eva then asks him if he thinks she feels insecure like he did.
He says he wanted to help her and she says to ask her what she wants next time. "Next time?”
Lewicki says. Then, Eva takes his hand.

Daniel is in surgery watching on a monitor as Bowen is operating on Sario. Daniel gives Sario
back his violin, which he plays off-key at first then when Bowen lowers the pulse on his DBS,
Sario plays beautifully.

Daniel is lecturing his class about striving for improvement. Meanwhile, we see Kate arresting
Tess.
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Neuropositive

Season 2
Episode Number: 17
Season Episode: 7

4 )
Originally aired: Tuesday August 6, 2013
Writer: Sean Whitesell
Director: Andrew Bernstein
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Guest Stars: Reid Scott (Dr. Hutchins), Timothy Busfield (George), Matthew Holmes
(Phil Carlson), Rebecca McFarland (Pam Carlson), Wendy Phillips
(Eileen Miles), Trevor Morgan (Jimmy Miles), Shane Coffey (D. J.
Pierce), Dana Daurey (Sara), Holly Gagnier (Angie), JoBeth Williams
(Margaret Pierce), Paul Ambrus (Detective)

Sumimary: A deathbed confession about a 1992 hit-and-run murder sends
Moretti to Pierce for his help in determining the dying man’s credibility.
But when the man’s physician says his patient’s tumor has mysteri-
ously disappeared, the case gets complicated. Pierce and Moretti must
dig into the past to uncover the truth.

We open on Kate looking at a dating web
site. A female colleague thinks her search
criteria makes her sound cynical. Kate
denies being such. The female colleague
then gives Kate a file on a terminally ill
cancer patient that’s in a hospice, who
wants to report a crime before he dies.

Kate goes to see the patient, Mr. Carl-
son, who tells Kate that he wants to re-
port a murder. He says it happened in
1992, that he isn’t sure who was killed
or where it happened but then says that
he did it.

At the college, Lewicki gives Daniel a

: rare recording he found at a yard sale.
Daniel is ecstatic and thanks Lewicki, who also gives him a Bach recording but Daniel says he
hates Bach. Then, Kate comes and asks for Daniel’s help with Carlson. She tells him that before
he went straight Carlson pulled off a series of bank heists. Then, Kate says Carlson told her
that during a road trip for one of these heists, he ran over a young girl. Carlson added that it
happened in one of the towns where he robbed a bank but at the time he was on meth so he
doesn’t remember what town. Kate then tells Daniel that Carlson has terminal brain cancer.
Daniel replies that the tumor could be affecting his memory or be causing delusions. Kate wants
Daniel to determine if Carlson’s story is reliable so she can convince her boss to let her pursue
it. Daniel then suggests a brain scan.

Kate, Daniel and Carlson’s doctor, Steve, look at his brain scan and the massive tumor. The
doctor then adds that Carlson was on chemo to buy him some more time but had to quit because
it was making him too sick. He then says he wanted to do another scan but Carlson refused.
Daniel then says that the tumor isn’t in a location that would cause delusions, but asks the
doctor for a new scan to see if the tumor has grown. The doctor agrees, says goodbye to Kate and
they make some meaningful eye contact before her and Daniel leave.
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Kate and Daniel talk to Carlson, who tells them that he didn’t remember hitting the girl until
a week later when he had come off the meth. Daniel replies that it could be a "false memory,”
but Carlson is sure he killed the girl. Carlson also remembers long gold hair spread across
his windshield and a lot of blood. Before they leave, Carlson begs them to find the girl’s family
because he needs to tell them that he’s sorry before he dies.

Daniel goes home to find his mother, Margaret there. She tells him that Lewicki let her in. He
tells her that he’s glad but surprised to see her. He asks her if anything is wrong and she just
says she felt like popping in for a visit. He then asks her how long she was thinking of staying
because he wants to spend time with her but has a busy schedule. Margaret looks around the
house as she tells Daniel that she’s capable of entertaining herself. She then asks him why there
isn’t a single picture of her in the house. Before he could answer, Lewicki comes downstairs.
Daniel asks him why he couldn’t warn him about his mother showing up, Lewicki replies, "I
thought your mother passed.” Daniel looks back and his mother is gone as Lewicki answers a
knock at the door. Its Kate with an update about the number of bank robberies back in 1992 but
a sheriff in Yates City found an unsolved vehicular homicide that happened within a few days of
a bank job. But, there’s a glitch, the victim was a boy but then Kate shows Daniel the photo the
sheriff emailed her of the boy and he had long blond hair like Carlson described.

Daniel and Kate go to see Carlson, who is looking much better. They tell him what they've
learned and how he’ll get his chance to apologize. All of a sudden, Carlson thinks it was a “false
memory” and denies killing anyone. Then, Kate shows Carlson the picture of the victim, Barry
Miles, who lived in Yates City and was only 15 years old. Kate then adds that Carlson ran him
over in front of his little brother and Miles’ mother, Eileen, never got to see him graduate from
high school. Then, a woman comes into the room. It’s Carlson’s wife, Pam. They then tell Daniel
and Kate that Carlson’s new brain scan showed that his cancer is gone.

As Daniel and Kate leave, she thinks it’s ”a load of crap” that Carlson recounts his statement
when he finds out he’s going to live so he doesn’t have to go to jail. Daniel also finds it odd
that he had an inoperable brain tumor and now he doesn’t. He thinks the initial diagnosis was
a mistake. Margaret appears in the back of Kate’s car. Daniel then says that he wants to see
Carlson’s newest brain scan.

Kate and Daniel go to see Steve, who also thinks it was a mistake but he rechecked both the
old and new scans and shows each to Daniel and Kate. The tumor is gone, it isn’'t a mistake.
Steve thinks the chemo had a delayed reaction, which caused Carlson to go to into spontaneous
remission, which is extremely rare but happens. Kate then asks Steve if the chemo was working
why did Carlson continue to get sick even after he stopped it? Daniel thinks it was psychosomatic.
Steve then says he’ll probably live a long time. Kate adds, "In jail.” Kate moves to leave but Steve
asks to speak to her alone. Daniel leaves and Steve asks Kate out for coffee. She happily says
she’d love to but if the case ever went to trial he could be called as a witness, which would be
awkward. Steve suggests maybe they could when the case was over. Kate replies, "Maybe.”

Kate and Daniel go to see Barry Miles’ younger brother, Jimmy, and his mother, Eileen. He
says he was walking down Main Street with Barry but it was all a fog. Kate asks him if he
remembers the car. "Blue, Green, maybe,” he replies. She then asks about the driver. He thinks
it was a man but isn’t sure. Daniel then suggests "cognitive interviewing,” which is similar to
hypnosis. Eileen thinks they are giving them false hope and Jimmy thinks it's useless to try.
Then, Jimmy has to leave for work but Daniel gives him his card in case he changes his mind.

In Daniel’s office at the college, Margaret reappears. Daniel is worried his students will see
him talking to himself. Margaret doesn’t understand why he would do that and Daniel tells her
that he’s a schizophrenic. She says that he’s not but he tells her that he is and was diagnosed a
few years after she died. Margaret apologizes and says that she can take care of him. He replies
that she can’t because she’s dead. Margaret then asks Daniel why he’s being so mean to her. He
apologizes but then Jimmy comes knocking. Margaret disappears and Jimmy tells Daniel that
he didn’t want to get his mother’s hopes up and wants to give "cognitive interviewing a shot.”

Daniel is "cognitively interviewing” Jimmy. Daniel records the session as he tells Jimmy to go
back to the day of his brother’s hit-and-run. Jimmy says Barry is ahead of him on Main Street
and it's hot and muggy out. Jimmy says he called for him to wait up but he didn’t hear him
because he had his Walkman on. Jimmy says Barry crossed the street and didn’t see the car
coming fast. He can’t see the car’s color. He calls to warn him about the car but he can’t hear
him. Then, we see a young Jimmy flashback to seeing Barry on top of the blue car, not moving.
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Daniel asks him about the driver. He thinks it's a man but he can’t see his face. He then says he
sees something else.

The female colleague asks Kate how the online dating is going. She tells her that she met a
doctor, who seems to be interested. Then, Daniel comes in and tells Kate that he might be able
to prove that Carlson hit Barry. He tells her that Jimmy thinks the guy who drove the car that
hit Barry had an anchor tattoo on his left shoulder.

Daniel and Kate go to Carlson’s house. They go there to find the police carrying away Carlson’s
dead body. He was shot but he also has a cut on his throat. He also had an anchor tattoo on his
left shoulder.

Kate brings in Pam, Carlson’s wife in for questioning. Pam tells Kate that she was out running
when Carlson was killed. Kate then notes that Pam and Carlson maxed out their credit cards and
were almost $50,000 in debt just over the past few months. Kate doesn’t understand why Carlson
was spending money he didn’t have and why Pam went along with it since she would be the one
left with the debt after Carlson died. Kate then says that Carlson had a big life insurance policy.
Pam says Carlson convinced her that it was okay to spend the money and that she could pay
off the credit cards with the insurance money. Kate then accuses Pam of killing Carlson for the
insurance money so she wouldn’t be left with the debt. Pam denies this and says she convinced
Carlson to recant his confession. Daniel watches behind a two-way mirror as Margaret appears
again. Pam says once Carlson found out he was going to live, she thought they were being given
a second chance and reiterates that she didn’t kill him. Pam credits Carlson’s transformation
from despondent to "sweet again” to his therapy.

Kate and Daniel go see Carlson’s therapist, George. Kate gives him Pam’s signer waiver, which
waives confidentiality. George then says that Carlson had changed his mind about recanting his
confession and wanted to turn himself in. He says came to him with headaches and thought
the cancer was returning. George then says that he thought Carlson’s guilt over the hit-and-run
caused his cancer and urged him to turn himself in. George then says he’s a "neuropositive
integration coach.” Daniel isn’t familiar with the term. George explains his form of therapy and
how he’s had success with curing ulcers, colitis and even cancer. Daniel then asks if he thinks he
cured Carlson’s cancer. George says that Carlson did that on his own using his methods. Daniel
thinks it’s absurd and insists the chemo cured Carlson not George’s therapy. George then says
he told Carlson to stop the chemo and told him it was killing him. Daniel calls him a "quack”
and wants to leave but Kate then asks George if he could think of anyone who wanted to hurt
Carlson. George says Carlson had a girlfriend back in 1992 and he was afraid she would get in
trouble if he confessed. George told Carlson to tell the girlfriend he was going to confess and she
got angry.

After leaving George, Daniel tells Kate that when his mother got cancer she tried all sorts of
alternative treatments and there were a bunch of quacks like George giving her false hope. Kate
apologizes.

Kate brings Carlson’s old girlfriend, Angie, in for questioning as Daniel watches behind the
two-way mirror. She’s now married with two teenage sons. Kate says her husband must be a
secure guy since she was in touch with her ex. Angie denies being in contact with him and says
she hadn’t spoken to him in 20 years. Kate says Angie saw him three weeks ago and then Angie
asks if she needs a lawyer. Kate then tells her that she has a witness that says Carlson came to
see Angie three weeks ago and told her that he was going to confess. Kate thinks when Carlson
was robbing banks, Angie was helping him. Angie then denies knowing anything about the hit-
and-run. Kate then says if she left the scene of the accident and let Barry die, that wouldn’t go
over too well. Angie again denies killing Carlson and says she was a spa when he was murdered.

Kate tells Daniel that Angie’s alibi checked out. They are trying to figure out who else had
motive to kill Carlson when Margaret reappears and says that Kate and Daniel are cute together
when they’re brainstorming. He tells her to stop and Kate wonders what he’s talking about.
Margaret then tells Daniel that a "mother’s love is forever.” This makes him think of Barry and
Jimmy’s angry mother. Kate says she didn’t know Carlson’s name. Daniel says they told Carlson
Barry’s last name and about his mother and thinks he went to apologize to her. Kate and Daniel
find Eileen passed out after drinking at her house. Daniel then finds a bloody knife in the kitchen.

Kate takes Eileen to the station for questioning. Eileen denies murdering Carlson as Daniel
watches. Kate then sets up a scenario then Eileen asks for a lawyer. Then, Kate says maybe
Jimmy killed Carlson since he saw Barry get run over. Eileen starts screaming for Kate to leave
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Jimmy alone. Eileen then says Carlson came to see her after Kate and Daniel left. Carlson came
to apologize and told her that he was turning himself in. Eileen shut the door on him. He was
leaving her a note in her mailbox when she came up behind him with a knife and told him to
leave. Meanwhile, Margaret tells Daniel that she likes Eileen and reminds him about Jimmy. He
then bursts in and says that Eileen couldn’t kill Carlson because Jimmy needed her. Eileen then
says she killed Barry because that day she gave him a hard time about his hair and he put on
the Walkman to drown her out. If he hadn’t had the headphones on, he would have heard Jimmy
warn him about the car. Daniel tells her that she isn’t responsible. Eileen then says Carlson
said he wouldn’t blame her for killing him. She then said Carlson told he was writing a book
with George about being cured of cancer. Carlson wanted to give her the profits from the book.
She told him not to write the book and he said he wouldn’t and then left. Daniel thinks Carlson
scraping the book could have made George angry enough to kill him.

They go to see George and ask him why he didn’t tell them about the book. Kate then asks
him how he reacted when Carlson the book was a no go. George says he didn’t know and didn’t
know Carlson went to apologize to Eileen but was proud he did so. George keeps insisting he
cured Carlson while Kate says he killed him. He asks why he would do that and Kate says that
he stood in the way of the book. He then asks them to leave.

At Daniel’s house, he’s talking to Margaret about how angry he is that they can’t prove George
killed Carlson. Margaret says that George is like Daniel and only wants to help people. Daniel
disagrees. She then says the Daniel she knew was more open-minded. Daniel then flashes back
to a young Daniel telling a sick Margaret about an alternative therapy. Then, Daniel remembers
he pushed her to get those "crazy treatments.” He apologizes but she wants to listen to Bach. He
says he hates Bach and she replies, "Since when.” Daniel then flashes back to listening to Bach
with her when she was sick. Daniel then says he stopped listening to Bach when he realized
he killed her. He starts to cry and says he shouldn’t have told her to stop the chemo. Margaret
then implies that she didn’t have cancer and they were shown someone else’s scan. Daniel then
realizes that the scans were mixed up in Carlson’s case. Daniel goes to Kate and tells her they
need to exhume Carlson’s body so he can rescan his brain.

Kate goes to see Steve. She reminds him how Daniel didn’t believe that Carlson was mirac-
ulously cured despite the scans and how Steve said a mix-up wasn’t possible. Kate then says
Daniel thinks there was a mix-up and that Steve is covering to avoid a malpractice suit. Steve
denies this and Kate agrees. Steve then shows Kate the scans again and how a mix-up wasn’t
possible since Carlson’s scans were labeled. Kate then says Daniel thinks the first scan was
mislabeled or that it was someone else’s. Steve says it isn’'t possible. Kate then shows the scan
Daniel had done on Carlson’s exhumed body and the brain isn’t the same as in the scans Steve
had shown them that he said were Carlson’s. Kate thinks Steve is a good guy who made a mis-
take and asks him to explain. Steve then says when he diagnosed Carlson he didn’t know he was
looking at the wrong scan. When Daniel suggested a rescan, Steve saw his error. Steve had been
looking at another patient’s brain scans, Brett Carmichael. He told him that he didn’t have can-
cer when he did. He called him but got his wife. Brett had gone back to work because Steve said
that he was okay. He fell off scaffolding to his death due to the dizzy spells. Steve just re-labeled
Carmichael’s previous clean scan as Carlson’s. Then, George called him wanting Carlson’s scans
for the book and knew he’d be exposed. Steve then said he went to Carlson, who was angry he
went through chemo for nothing. Carlson then pulled a gun on Steve and in the struggle over
the gun it went off killing Carlson.

At Daniel’s house, Margaret says she’s leaving. He says that he was glad to see her. Then,
Lewicki comes in and asks if his mother is still there. Daniel says she left. Then he asks if she’ll
be back.

The female colleague asks Kate about going out with the doctor she told her about. She tells
her that he was a killer and knows why she’s cynical.

Daniel lectures to his class about the brain as Kate arrests Steve, Eileen and Jimmy look at
pictures of Barry and Daniel listens to Bach.
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Asylum

Season 2
Episode Number: 18
Season Episode: 8

e )
Originally aired: Tuesday August 13, 2013
Writer: Jonathan Abrahams
Director: Greg Beeman
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Recurring Role:  Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan)

Guest Stars: David Paymer (Rueben Bauer), Judd Hirsch (Sigmund Freud (imagi-
nary)), Dan Lauria (Joe Moretti), Peter Jacobson (Dr. Poole), Marina
Benedict (Zoey), Brian Dietzen (Mark Leighton), Gina Mantegna (Erica
Beecher), Rob LaBelle (Virgil), Tehmina Sunny (Nurse Rina), Johanna
Braddy (Blonde Lady at the Bar), Jim Grollman (Angry Customer at the
Bar), Bambadjan Bamba (Anthony), Philip Martin (Lex), Lou George
(Kevin Reynolds), Karen Teune (Nurse Laurie Mason), Mitch Poulos
(Burly Cop)

Sumimary: Pierce investigates a gruesome stabbing at a psychiatric hospital.
Guided by his hallucination of Sigmund Freud, Pierce becomes con-
vinced the hospital is full of dark secrets.

As the episode began, Daniel was being
checked into Jerseyville Psychiatric Hos-
pital for his paranoid delusions and hal-
lucinations, and a quick look at what led
to that explained why. Reuben Bower had
brought his client’s file to Daniel; she
allegedly stabbed Nurse Laurie to death
and then swallowed the murder weapon,
a letter opener. However, when Daniel
spoke to Erica, she explained the thought
just came into her head and wouldn’t
leave her alone until she swallowed it;
it had happened before with other sharp
objects. But she claimed she didn’t kill

- the nurse. She had seen her talking to
Dr. Pool earlier that day about something, and knowing that the psychiatric hospital wasn’t the
type of place to just open its doors to an investigation, Daniel came up with another way in:
checking himself in to prove Erica’s innocence so she could get help for her OCD.

So Daniel played up his schizophrenic side, refusing to give his full name or the name of
someone to call. In group therapy, his hallucination-of-the-week, Sigmund Freud, showed up,
and he used the first opportunity he got to rile up the patients so he could escape. However,
Dr. Pool knew exactly who he was — he had his book in his office — but fortunately for Daniel,
he just thought he was worried about his reputation if it got out that he had relapsed. In art
class, Freud stood over Daniel’s shoulder, critiquing his painting ("God you’re annoying,” Daniel
commented. "No wonder I hated you in college.”), and another patient, Zoey, asked if he could
analyze hers. She was clearly troubled, and Daniel got a first-hand look at why she was there:
she heard voices, and when she did, she completely checked out. That night in the rec room,
Daniel learned about the legend of the monster in the basement, a man who drilled holes into
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patients’ brains back in the '80s, and Zoey was terrified of him. But it was a run-in with Virgil
late at night that helped Daniel begin to put the pieces together. He told Daniel that the monster
had killed Laurie because she had stopped Zoey from killing herself.

When Daniel tried to talk to Zoey about it and even told her why he was really there, she didn’t
believe him at first. (Not at all surprising, given where they were.) However, he did get her to tell
him about someone coming into her room, drugging her with a blue liquid, and bringing her to
a crazy room with colors changing shapes. He threatened to take her again if she told anyone,
and Laurie found her trying to kill herself. But the nurse believed her, and that was the last time
she saw her. Daniel realized she had been drugged with a mix of a date rape drug and LSD, but
as he called Reuben to tell him, Dr. Pool came in and injected him with something for taking the
nurse’s phone. Daniel came to briefly in a white room, but when he woke up again, he was in the
“crazy room,” the basement, and the monster stood over him.

Meanwhile, Reuben realized he was completely over his head and finally Kate was brought
in to rescue Daniel. As Kate searched the basement for the room and ran into Dr. Pool, Freud
told Daniel he had to take off the monster’s mask. His persona was his power, and he had to
take it away. So who was the monster? Daniel realized that he was seeing cinnamon, which
reminded him of the hospital worker, Mark (played by NCIS’ Brian Dietzen, a role that couldn’t
be more different than everyone’s favorite Jimmy Palmer), who had offered him gum as he was
first checking in. Zoey had said she smelled death on his breath, and Daniel realized he used it
to cover it up. As Mark was going to hang Daniel, claiming that it happened all the time, a patient
escaped and killed himself, Kate burst in, took out Mark, and saved Daniel. It turned out it all
began when Mark had been stealing drugs from the pharmacy and had walked out only to see
Zoey standing there. However, she had been in one of her states, so in all likelihood, she never
saw him. With Mark’s confession, Erica was cleared and she was able to get a surgical procedure
that could help her with her compulsion.

Meanwhile, with her father out of town, Kate took over working at the bar, and it just so
happened that Donnie showed up at the bar that night, claiming he was babysitting bigwigs
from DC. When he saw how over her head she was as customers yelled at her for drinks, he
stepped in to help, and she reluctantly accepted his offer. When they finally had time to sit down
and enjoy a couple of beers themselves, they got to reminiscing in a cute moment that nearly
became something more as he leaned in and she only pulled away at the last moment. However,
she was smiling as she sent him on his way, and as her father returned to work and found him
at the bar, he got to see the new side of Donnie that has been coming out as of late. Donnie
understood why he thought what he did of him, but it didn’t change the fact that he loved his
daughter. Then, after he left, a woman explained she’'d been trying to get Donnie’s attention all
weekend and realized why he didn’t break: Kate.
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Wounded (1)

Season 2
Episode Number: 19
Season Episode: 9

Writer:
Director:
Show Stars:

Recurring Role:
Guest Stars:

Summary:

Originally aired:

Tuesday August 20, 2013

Mike Sussman

Kenneth Biller

Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent
Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan)

Lindsay Pulsipher (Kendra Murphy), John Heard (Congressman Evan
Rickford), Graham Beckel (Colonel (imaginary)), Perrey Reeves (Mi-
randa Stiles), Hunter Jackson (Anthony Hicks), Pippa Black (Wendy),
Logan Bartholomew (Blake Rickford), Corey Brill (Former National
Guard Captain), Gil McKinney (Bryan Murphy), David Andriole (Unit
Chief Connaghan), Shane Coffey (D. J. Pierce), Nancy Youngblut
(Judge Leslie Markway), Lex Shontz (Larry McPhee), Enisha Brew-
ster (Gabrielle Blair), Cameron Dye (Attorney Larsen), John Pirruc-
cello (Attorney Gennaro), Rebekah Graf (Mrs. McPhee), Chelsea Rick-
etts (Young Miranda), Anthony B. Phillips (Young Paul Haley), Kimberly
Whalen (Ruby), B.J. Clinkscales (Patrolman Kirby), Ellen Fox (Female
Reporter)

Donnie tries to help a war hero suffering from a neurological disorder,
but what starts out as a good deed ends up having major implications.
Meanwhile, Pierce gets an unexpected surprise when a fling from his

past shows up.

Kate brought Daniel in after Kendra Mur-
phy, a specialist with the Illinois Na-
tional Guard who served two tours in
Afghanistan and received a Silver Star, a
real war hero, walked into a store with
a live grenade and demanded cigarettes.
When he tried to talk to her, she just
propositioned him. He determined she
was suffering from a neurological disor-
der brought on by herpes, and her hus-
band explained that while they were vir-
gins when they got married, since she re-
turned from her tours, she’d been pick-
ing up guys in bars. Kate convinced Don-
nie to drop the charges so she could get

treatment, but then she was found with the dead body of a guy from her unit. She claimed that
Larry had called and asked her to meet him, and when she did, she found him already dead.
Daniel’s hallucination-of-the-week told him she wasn’t giving the whole picture.

Larry’s wife told them he had been on the phone with Anthony before leaving, saying some-
thing about making something right, and Kate tried to appeal to Anthony by offering to get a
heroin possession charge dropped. He lawyered up. The commander of the unit did provide them
with some information: their convoy was ambushed and Kendra risked her life to save Larry and
Anthony. However, she also requested a transfer a week later, claiming she’d been raped. He
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wouldn’t give them a name. So Kate went back to Kendra, who told her it was Blake Rickford, the
son of a Congressman, and things just went downhill from there. He claimed to have an alibi for
the night of Larry’s murder-his father, who backed him completely and warned Kate about over-
reaching and her career-but she wasn’t convinced. Unfortunately, Donnie needed real evidence,
not just her gut, and while Daniel suggested Anthony-heroin could basically serve as a real-life
truth serum-by the time they got to him, he was dead, with a convenient final status update to
serve as a suicide note and a murder confession: "War don’t ennoble men. It turns them into
dogs... I'm a no-good junky loser who smashed my friend’s head in... I don’t deserve to live.”

This time, it was Daniel who thought the case could be solved and Kate with the crazy con-
spiracy theory, one she refused to give up, even when Daniel’s latest suggestion hit a snag. His
hallucination helped him come to the conclusion that a blood test for herpes could prove that
Rickford, who had claimed that Kendra came on to him and they never had sex, was lying,
something even Donnie thought they could try to get him on, but Rickford’s lawyer was too good
and won the judge over. After Rickford taunted Kate, she followed him to a bar and ruined his
chances of bringing a woman home, warning him she’d bring him down. That only led to her get-
ting a talking to at work, her security clearance suspended, and her sidearm and badge taken.
But that didn’t stop her. She ignored calls from Daniel and once again followed Rickford to the
bar and then home. Thanks to Lewicki’s quick thinking and an app that tracked phones, Daniel
and Donnie tracked her own, but by the time they got there, they were only in time to hear the
gunshots and find Kate on the bedroom floor, saying she had to do it. Rickford was dead on the
bed. Did Kate go too far? Could this episode have ended any other way? (No.)

Meanwhile, Daniel received a blast from his past-and a real one!-when Miranda, his college
sweetheart, surprised him on campus and tried to invite him out, only for him to turn down every
offer. (The best part of this had to be the flashbacks (especially the music) with the young Daniel,
young Miranda, and young Paul (oh, young Paul!). She had the opportunity to study music at a
university in Vienna, but she was planning to turn it down to stay with Daniel. Instead, he ended
their relationship, even as she thought was doing it just so she wouldn’t lose the opportunity.)
In the present, he made up for brushing her off with an offer to buy her coffee, and they ended
up sharing a meal in his office. Well, sort of. Natalie kept chiming in about his choice in food and
what it was doing to his health, so he didn’t even bother to try to pick up his cup of soda. Yes,
Natalie continued to be one of the best parts of the series, even when she was just in one scene
for a short time. But Miranda was thinking of settling down, and while it looked like they would
rekindle their romance, he once again pulled back and sent her on her way. But did anyone
really think that was going to work out?
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Warrior (2)

Season 2
Episode Number: 20
Season Episode: 10

( N\
Originally aired: Tuesday August 27, 2013
Writer: Amanda Green
Director: Kenneth Biller
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Recurring Role:  Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan)

Guest Stars: CCH Pounder (Therapist), John Heard (Congressman Evan Rick-
ford), Kevin Weisman (Todd Erlich), Dan Lauria (Joe Moretti), Gra-
ham Beckel (Colonel (imaginary)), Perrey Reeves (Miranda Stiles),
Lindsay Pulsipher (Kendra Murphy), Pippa Black (Wendy Burrell),
Corey Brill (Brock Aleckson), Enisha Brewster (Gabrielle Blair), Lo-
gan Bartholomew (Blake Rickford), Gil McKinney (Bryan Murphy),
Shane Coffey (D. J. Pierce), Hunter Jackson (Anthony Hicks), Michelle
Ang (Former National Guardwoman), Ashanti Brown (Valerie Blair),
Chelsea Ricketts (Young Miranda), Lex Shontz (Larry McPhee), Al Coro-
nel (Carlos), Miguel Perez (Judge James Cabrera)

Summary: Morretti faces criminal charges after taking things into her own hands
while working on a dangerous case. Pierce and Donnie strive to clear
her name, but as conflicting evidence builds, even Kate begins to ques-
tion her own innocence.

Picking up right where "Wounded” left off,
Kate told Daniel and Donnie that Blake
shot at her first, and she had to fire back.
She was wearing a vest, but where was
the woman Blake was supposedly rap-
ing? Kate said she saw them struggling
through the window, she screamed, and
so she went in. Blake was waiting like he
was ready for her. She insisted it was a
clean shoot, but the more she thought
about it, the more she wondered if she
was wrong. Daniel had suggested that her
perception could've been distorted (a neu-
rological disorder had to come up at some

: point, considering what show this is), and
she even dreamed that Blake had begged for his life and she shot him in cold blood. If she was
wrong, she killed a man for no reason.

While Kate was questioning everything, Daniel and Donnie were working to prove her inno-
cence, and that meant talking to those who had served with Blake. No one liked the guy, but it
was Gabrielle, who had suffered a spinal cord injury and was quadriplegic, who provided them
with the answer. Though her injury shouldn’t have affected her speech, she couldn’t talk. Daniel
realized she had Broca’s aphasia when he saw the left side of her face drooping and told her she
could sing-and she could. That was how she told him about that same mission from "Wounded.”
But she told him something he didn’t know: their CO had called in the wrong coordinates. Fellow
soldiers were killed by friendly fire because of his mistake. She had ranted to Blake about it, and
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the CO finally confessed to Daniel and Donnie that Blake had threatened to tell everyone what he
did if he went after him for raping Kendra. War poisoned men’s souls, the CO said, and thanks
to his hallucination-of-the-week, Daniel realized that the CO had also killed McPhee and Hicks.
But it turned out he had done it because Rickford had said he’d destroy him if he didn’t shut
them up-and not Blake. It was the Congressman.

Even after they put those pieces together, Kate still wanted to take the prosecutor’s deal (guilty
plea of involuntary manslaughter for 3-5 years) and to pay for what she did. She was ready to
change her plea in court when Daniel burst in, having connected more dots thanks again to his
hallucination. Congressman Rickford had told Daniel and Donnie that his son was an idiot (and
that deep down, he hoped he came home in a box and was relieved when he was killed, but that’s
a whole other issue) and always had crazy ideas-like picking up women when he knew an FBI
agent was following him. Daniel explained to Kate that Blake wasn’t going to rape that woman
that night; he was planning to kill Kate. He was trying to lure her in. It turned out they could
prove it too.

Wendy, the woman Blake had been with that night, had originally told the prosecutor that
they had had a nice fairytale date, she had squealed, not screamed, and Blake had told her
he had a stalker when they heard someone break in downstairs. But Wendy was a hooker, one
Donnie hired and got to talk in exchange for immunity. Blake had hired her and said he liked
tipsy women. On the way to his place, he kept looking in the rearview mirror, and once there, he
insisted they make out in front of the window and told her to scream. When they heard someone
break in, he didn’'t seem worried at all and grabbed his gun, like he was ready. The case was
dismissed, Kate was going back to work (but sticking with therapy), and Donnie was back at his
old job (after quitting to represent Kate) and prosecuting Congressman Rickford.

Second chances at love After Paul pointed out to Daniel that not everyone gets a second chance
with a first love, Daniel told Miranda why he broke up with her all those years ago: he went on
a fateful road trip, the one that started it all, the one that kicked off the Natalie Vincent story.
But his schizophrenia and Natalie hallucination weren’'t going to drive her away, and instead,
Miranda wanted to meet her. Wait, what? Yes, there was no other reaction except for Daniel’s.
Once again, there were two women in Daniel’s life, but fortunately, it wasn’'t as awkward as it
was when he was dating Caroline. Natalie knew when to leave the two alone, and it was a good
thing she left when she did because Daniel and Miranda were moving into the making out part
of the evening.

Meanwhile, this entire first half of the season has been building up to Kate and Donnie getting
back together, with Donnie showing he’s a changed man. He continued to do just that as he
brought her takeout at the end of the episode and, though they kissed as she realized she wanted
to change not having a life outside of work (and considering that work was all she wanted to do
her entire life, it was a good thing she was back on the job), he insisted on leaving instead of
carrying her into the bedroom like he wanted. He wanted to do things right this time. Hopefully
he doesn’t screw up again.
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Curveball

Season 2
Episode Number: 21
Season Episode: 11

4 )
Originally aired: Tuesday February 25, 2014
Writer: Jason Ning
Director: Greg Beeman
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Recurring Role:  Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan)

Guest Stars: Brad Beyer (Mordecai "Three Finger” Brown), Andrew Lawrence (Henry
Wilmyer / Micah Conley), Kenny Ridwan (Ely Lao), Mark D. Es-
pinoza (Victor), Nate Hartley (Andre Pritchett), Robert Blanche (Dan
Bukowski), Marcus Giamatti (Joel (Conley’s Agent)), Joe Cortese (Paolo
Genardi), Margaret Easley (Patricia Wilmyer), Nicole Bilderback (Carol
Lao), Thomas F. Evans (CPD Detective)

Summary: Pierce helps out when an autistic teen is under investigation for
murder with help from his hallucination Hall of Famer Mordecai
"Three Finger” Brown. Dean Haley sets out to convince a neuroscience
prodigy to attend CLMU.

Moretti and Donnie attempt to have
lunch together, but she gets called away
to a crime scene at the rail yard. Moretti
is getting the update as she walks to an
office area when she sees another detec-
tive questioning the potential murderer.
Moretti takes over questioning.

Meanwhile Max gets stuck showing a
prodigy around campus as Pierce sneaks
out of the obligation to help when he sees
Moretti show up for him. The boy who
was questioned has serious mental is-
sues and Moretti could not get through
\ to him after the first detective scared him.
~a At the station, Pierce meets the boy and
tries to get into his mind by starting to ask some questions. He starts to share some information
about his past but quickly gets too agitated to talk.

Pierce shares information with Moretti and Probert the disorder the boy has. He shares that
he didn’t intend to kill the victim, a security guard. Pierce goes to see Ryan to plead the boy’s
case. Ryan reminds Pierce that the boy stole a train and killed someone. Ryan leaves Pierce with
the only true defense that may get the boy out of the murder charges. Pierce seems excited for
the challenge and goes to see the boy again with Moretti. They feel like they are not getting much
because he is calling out the train patterns which meant nothing to them, They go to the rail
yard again and are able to find out that the boy actually knew the exact patterns and knew about
a potential problem that could have happened. Better than veteran conductors, he could foresee
the problem and the reason he broke in that night was to try to divert the train that was headed
for disaster.

Pierce and Moretti visit the home of the victim and asked if he had any enemies. His mom
shares that he came home a few weeks ago beat up by a bookie who he owed money to. Moretti
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questions the bookie and finds out that he did not kill the victim over the money. The victim told
him he’d have the money-his brother was getting it for him.

Moretti breaks Pierce from the hallucination he is having about Hall of Famer Mordecai "Three
Finger” Brown when she comes in and tells him that there may be a brother in the picture. As
they discuss it more, Pierce recalls a picture in a baseball magazine that is an exact match to
Henry. The picture is of a man who has just been signed to a baseball team. As Pierce and Moretti
head out, Dean Haley arrives with a plan for the prodigy he is wooing to have dinner at Pierce’s
house with him. Max was left in charge of the young boy and allowed him out of his watch for a
while, and after the Dean calls him to retrieve the boy, he finds him high in the dorms.

During an interview the brother, he confirms he was planning to pay off the bookie. At dinner
at the house as they wait for Pierce to return, Eli, the young prodigy, tells his mom that he is
high from the marijuana that he got under Max’s watch. The Dean is completely freaking out,
the mom begins to leave, and all hell is breaking loose. The mother decides to stay as the Dean
is reassuring her, and it is realized that the mom has a thing for Dean Haley.

Pierce’s hallucination leads him back to Andre, the accused murderer, asking how many
Henry’s he saw that night. The tip he received from his Hall of Famer hallucination turns out
to be worth gold because Andre confirms there were two henrys that night... so Pierce believes
Henry killed twin Micah and is now impersonating him since he was always jealous of him. He
shares his deduction with Moretti and Ryan. They are trying to determine how to prove this
theory when Pierce remembers that Micah had broken his wrist. He goes to see "Micah” to find
out if he had a recent wrist injury. They force him to get an xray but it turns out this Micah did
have a broken wrist.

After another hallucination leads Pierce to looking for consistencies in superstitions that base-
ball players stick to, they review video with "Micah” and notice he taps his helmet before each
time he bats. In the more recent videos he does not. They confront him with their accusation. He
finally realizes he is back into a corner and Henry admits he has been impersonating Micah after
killing him. He describes everything that happened in detail but claims it was an accident.

Later, we see Max walking with Eli and he asks Eli if he plans to attend the university. He
says no way, not after the Dean stole his mom away. At the station, Ryan feels like he is pushing
Moretti since she keeps cancelling their plans. He leaves her with the final words, "You have my
number.”
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Brotherhood

Season 2
Episode Number: 22
Season Episode: 12

( \
Originally aired: Tuesday March 4, 2014
Writer: Sean Whitesell
Director: Christopher Misiano
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Recurring Role:  Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan)

Guest Stars: Christopher Meyer (Kenny Rivers), Titus Makin Jr. (Charlie Clark),
James Ning (Sen Li), Fred Saldone (Cop (Hallucination)), Boo Arnold
(Deputy Bass), Kamala Lopez Dawson (Kenny’s Foster Mom), David
Reivers (Kenny's Foster Dad), Catfish Jean (Darius Johnson), David
Paymer (Rueben Bauer)

Summary: Lewicki’s brother, Kenny, makes a surprise visit. When he’s later
named as the suspect in a murder, Pierce’s loyalties are torn be-
tween friendship and justice. An enticing offer makes Lewicki question
Pierce’s loyalty to him.

Tonight’s episode begins with Pierce talk-
ing to his class about how society must
follow rules and have a good moral code.
He asks students to question whether
morals are innate or something learned
over time, with the influence of those
around us. Shortly after class, Lewicki is
surprised by the Dean’s request to see
him. He nominated him for a one-year fel-
lowship that Max is very excited about.
When Lewicki questions how Pierce will
get along without him, the Dean tells him
he will need to think about that. He does
< - not want him to miss the opportunity.

-t : Later that night, Pierce arrives home
and Lewicki tries to find out through a few simple questions, whether or not Pierce would be
okay without him around. That doesn’t go over well. Inside, Pierce senses an intruder and walks
into the kitchen with a baseball bat. He sees someone and the person drops a glass of milk upon
seeing Pierce with a bat. Running up behind Pierce is Max, explaining the intruder is his own
brother Kenny. He is shocked to find him there and asks what is going on. He cannot get much
out of him as to why he is visiting. Max asks if Kenny can stay the night. The brothers are 12
years apart and were split up when they were young. Max explains to Pierce that he was adopted
to the Lewickis while Kenny has been in foster care for years.

When Kenny and Max talk, Kenny shares his desire to move to California and tells Max he
already has a plan. He quit school and tells Max he wants to be a welder. Max tells him that he
is only 16 and too young to make these decisions.

The next morning, Pierce is working, Kenny is sleeping on the couch, and Natalie comes to
talk. They are interrupted when the police come over as they are warning all neighbors that
there have been some break ins in the area and a young black male around 16-18 years old was
spotted. Pierce lies and says he has not seen anyone matching the description. Pierce tells Max
about the visit and Max jumps to defend Kenny.
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Later, Pierce asks Moretti to do a little background check on Kenny. She sees that he is
wanted for murder and tells Pierce she has no choice but to report his whereabouts. They arrive
at Pierce’s house to find the FBI already there, but they are cuffing Max, not Kenny. After Moretti
explains their error, they find that Kenny went out a window. They decide to take Max in for aiding
and abetting because of the way he’s defending his brother-they believe he likely knew something
. Moretti promises to take care of Max as he is taken away. Moretti and Pierce are waiting for
Max outside the station and talk to him once he’s released. They give more information about
why Kenny was wanted. Max is heartbroken to find out. Max goes to visit his foster family and
Pierce tags along. The family gives some information about friends Kenny has.

They finally catch up with Kenny and Max encourages him to turn himself in. He does and
meets with Moretti and Ryan to tell his side and give details that lead the team to bring in the
person Kenny named as the shooter, in for questioning. Darius, the person named, has a solid
alibi. Pierce visits Kenny in jail and asks a lot of questions. Pierce comes up with an explanation.
He believes the stress Kenny felt caused him to hallucinate that someone else committed the
murder, when in fact, he did it. Though Pierce is trying to help and his testimony could reduce
any sentence, Max is not ready to believe his brother had anything at all to do with the murder.

Back on campus, Max tells the Dean that he accepts the fellowship and wants to be assigned
to a different professor immediately. After the Dean asks why, they have a heart to heart, and
Max realizes he is being unfair to Pierce. Meanwhile Pierce and Moretti visit a restaurant about
a lead. He is a witness to the murder. They bring him in to look at a police lineup. He pics Kenny
from the lineup. Later he shares that he picked Kenny because of the way he wears his shoe
strings. He showed brother Max his unique shoelace style at the beginning of the episode,

Max visits Kenny and Kenny confesses to murder. Max meets up with Pierce and tells a story
about their past. He remembers Kenny taking the blame for something he did not do when they
were children. Pierce realizes Kenny is protecting his brother now. Max replies that Kenny has
no need to protect him. Pierce counters that Max is not the brother Kenny is protecting.

Max visits Kenny’s friend again. Max confronts Charlie and tells him he knows it was him
and Kenny is protecting him. He tries to persuade him to come forward. Charlie goes through all
the details of what happened and explained he only did what he did to save Kenny. Max asks
Kenny to move in with the Lewickis once this is over. Max tells the Dean he no longer wants the
fellowship. Charlie turns himself in and Kenny is set free.
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Cobra

Season 2
Episode Number: 23
Season Episode: 13

( )
Originally aired: Tuesday March 11, 2014
Writer: Jonathan Abrahams, Nicki Paluga
Director: Christopher Misiano
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent / Natasha), Arjay Smith
(Max Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Recurring Role:  Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan)

Guest Stars: DJ Qualls (FBI Agent Rudy Fleckner), Dennis Christopher (Fred Klein-
man), Rick Otto (Cobra / Greg Palmer), John Rubinstein (FBI Agent
Jack Crawford), Joshua Biton (Craig Berkowitz), Larry Poindexter
(Agent John Taylor), Lennie Loftin (Big Mike), Michael Dempsey (Gus),
Susannah Blinkoff (Mrs. Lemke), Megan Reinking (Ashley Marcel),
Beth Riesgraf (Daisy Brennan), Sean Scarborough (Motel Manager)

Summary: A close friend of Pierce’s is murdered and he receives word that the
CIA might be murdering U.S. citizens. Moretti decides to tackle her
trust issues.

A close friend of Pierce’s is murdered and
he receives word that the CIA might be
murdering U.S. citizens. Moretti decides
to tackle her trust issues.
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Obsession

Season 2
Episode Number: 24
Season Episode: 14

Writer:
Director:
Show Stars:

Recurring Role:
Guest Stars:

Summary:

Originally aired:

Tuesday March 18, 2014

Raf Green, Charley Dane

Christopher Misiano

Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent
Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent/Dr. Caroline Newsome),
Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley)

Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan)

DJ Qualls (FBI Agent Rudy Fleckner), Sharon Leal (Inspector Liza
Brahms), Josh Stamberg (Dean), Gonzalo Menendez (C. J. Delgado),
Jake Busey (Jeff (Detective)), Rob Brownstein (Chancellor), Joshua
Cox (Special Agent Drexler), Philip Casnoff (Gordon Williams), Adam
Wylie (Tyler Woolf), Josh Brodis (Student), Cheyenne Wilbur (Professor
Schneider), Robert Bagnell (Ron Norton), Clint Jung (FBI Supervisor)
Pierce’s mental stability is questioned and his job threatened when
he is accused of stalking his ex-girlfriend, Caroline Newsome. As the
situation escalates, Moretti works to find the real stalker with help
from a visiting inspector from Canada.

Canada.
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Paris

Season 3
Episode Number: 25
Season Episode: 1

4 \
Originally aired: Tuesday June 17, 2014
Writer: Mike Sussman
Director: Kenneth Biller
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Guest Stars: Perrey Reeves (Miranda Stiles), Joshua Cox (Special Agent Drexler),
Rob Brownstein (Chancellor Kinney), Carlos Leal (Detective Girard),
Jean-Marie Lamour (Serge Lombart), Malou Beauvoir (Agent Dexler
(Embassy Legate)), Jonathan Bray (Agent Collins), Jacky Nercessian
(Henri), Julien Cottereau (Mime), Kentaro (Chinese Thug), Yilin Yang
(Ms. Liu), Tien Shue (Dr. Soong), Philippe Pillavoine (Mime 1), Emilien
Gobard (Mime 3), Mathieu Dwayne (Chinese Man)

Summary: Dr. Daniel Pierce’s picture-perfect new life in Paris is suddenly turned
upside down after he is approached by the FBI legat to help with a
dangerous international case. Meanwhile, his assistant Max Lewicki
and Dean Paul Haley plot to get Pierce to return to Chicago.

Daniel is in Paris and a man approaches
him at a cafe and says he’s with the FBI
— Agent Drexler. He says the government
needs his help and says they need to
talk someplace private. They walk by the
river and Drexler says the government ar-
ranged the lecture he’s giving at the Sor-
bonne because of a Dr. Sung that will be
at the lecture and will give him a pen
when he asks for an autograph. Daniel
asks what's important about the pen and
all he is told is — national security and
need to know.

Daniel tells Natalie he should can-

== - cel his lecture and she says he’s always

wanted to lecture at the Sorbonne She asks if Miranda saw the agent and he says he didn’t
hallucinate Drexler. Natalie says he may have deluded himself into thinking he’s fine when he’s
not. He grabs the phone to call Kate. Natalie reminds him it's 6 am there but he says she’s an
early riser. She’s up but is in the shower with Donnie. She decides not to take the call.

Paul runs into Max at school and asks how he’s doing. He asks if he’s happy having the big
house all to himself with Daniel gone. Max admits that he misses him and Paul agrees they need
to get him back but he will only come back if the Chancellor lets him teach again. Paul shows
the Chancellor an article he says that Daniel will post in the paper and then will file a lawsuit
under the Americans with Disabilities Act. He agrees to have him back if he apologizes. Paul tells
Max to get Daniel to say he’s sorry.

Meanwhile in Paris, Daniel sits conducting and working on a lecture. A mime approaches him
mimicing his gestures. Daniel says he’s being mugged by a mime after he notices him then tries
to hide behind his paper. He continues working when Drexler shows up. He says he convinced
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his superiors to tell him more about Sung. He’s a neuro pharmocologist whose developed a smart
pill.

Daniel says it's impossible but Wexler says it has. He says the Chinese want to use the pill
for military purposes but Sung wants it available to everyone. Drexler says if he helps, he could
be in on the clinical trials. Daniel says this is the kind of thing he would like to be involved in so
he’s sure it’s a delusion. Drexler is confused and Daniel tells him to go away.

Miranda comes out and asks him who that guy was he was talking to. That cements it and he
chases him down and asks what to do with the pen. Drexler tells him to take it to Notre Dame,
follow a marker and hide it under a cobblestone nearby. Daniel sees Miranda talking to a man
after he chats with Drexler. She introduces the French Ministry of Culture, Serge, but she was
telling him that she can’t go on the trip he was talking about.

Serge excuses himself. Daniel kisses her and asks what’s with Gerard Depar-don’t. She says
he damaged her cello and he asks about the trip. She says it’s a performance for a cultural
exchange. Miranda tells him where the tour goes and he asks why she didn’t mention it. She
says she’s through chasing her career and is putting them first. He kisses her.

Daniel lectures about Paris being like love, art or faith. He says a Gene Kelly movie was his
first introduction to the city. He says this is most people’s first introduction neurally to the city.
He says when your idealized version collides with reality, you can feel deluded, disoriented and
even paranoid. He looks around and sees the Chinese party come in. He says it’s extreme culture
shock and is known as Paris Syndrome.

He asks what this tells us about the brain’s ability to adapt. He signs autographs after. Henri
approaches and asks him to dinner. Others comes to speak to him and then Dr Sung is there
and hands him a book to sign. Daniel scribbles an inscription as Sung checks the escorts with
him. He keeps the pen and heads to the cathedral, as directed, after he leaves the Sorbonne. He
finds the compass marker and paces the steps off looking for the loose step.

But then there’s a mime there again acting odd as Daniel tries to count. He sends him off
then finds the loose cobblestone. He pretends to tie his show and tries the brick then dumps the
pen in and replaces it. He stands and walks away, looking nervous.

Max runs downstairs to answer the phone. It's Daniel. He asks how Paris is and he says that’s
a stupid question. He asks about mail. Max tells him that Kinney will reinstate him as long as he
calls. Daniel realizes he wants an apology and calls him an ass. He says he doesn’t even want the
job and Daniel asks why the hell he’d want to come back. He says he’s with a gorgeous woman
and living the dream. He hangs up.

A van pulls up and men grab Daniel, shove him in and drive of. It’s a Chinese guy and he asks
what they want. They search his belongings and ask him where it is. He asks what and they say
he’s taken something that doesn’t belong. The Chinese guy says his government was foolish to
involved him and must consider him expendable. He says he has 24 hours to return what he’s
taken or he won'’t be safe.

The van stops and they toss him out into a pile of trash, throw his bag at him and peel away.
Daniel looks around terrified and runs off. He heads back to the apartment and sees that it’s
been trashed and thoroughly searched. He calls out for Miranda and then calls her. He asks
where she is and she says she’s out. He tells her to go to the Embassy now and not to come
home. He says he’ll meet her there.

He grabs his bag then realizes the Chinese took his passport. He calls Kate and she makes
small talk but he tells her to focus. He says to call Drexler in Paris that he’s working a case with.
He says to tell him that his passport was stolen and he needs to be let into the Embassy. Kate
asks if he’s all right then agrees to call the Embassy.

Max tells Paul that Daniel doesn’'t want to come back and Paul says they need to convince
him that Kinney is desperate. Paul goes to Kinney and asks for a raise and more research money.
He says to forget it and Paul encourages him to make a counter offer. Kinney says he’s greedy
and then Paul reminds him about the lawsuit and article but Kinney is unmoved.

A woman comes out and introduces herself to Daniel. She’s Agent Drexler and is sooo not a
generic white dude. Now he’s panicked.

He looks at her credentials and says the guy had legitimate looking credentials. He tells her
about the Chinese and what he did. He says the fake may be an agent for a foreign government.
She asks Miranda to go to the apartment with agents while she retraces steps with Daniel. Back
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in the US, Kate is packing to head to Paris because she says he’s caught up in a conspiracy or is
cracking up.

Donnie tells her that if she’s worried, so is he and he says he’ll go with her. Daniel shows
Drexler the loose brick but it’s not loose anymore. He approaches the mime from earlier and tries
to get him to talk. The mime zips his lips and then Drexler asks who he’s talking to — there’s no
mime there. She says they need to go back to the Embassy.

He takes her to Henri at the Sorbonne and he says he knows nothing about a visiting Chinese
delegation. Daniel says the Chinese are covering the tracks. Agent Collins calls Drexler and says
it’s a false alarm at the apartment. The place is neat as a pin. He says he must have a hell of an
imagination. She says she knows he did important work with the Chicago field office and offers
to help him find medical help. He refuses and she says there’s nothing more she can do.

At home, he tells Miranda that the Chinese put the place back together to make him look
crazy. Miranda says he needs to talk to someone else. Natalie is there and says not to mess
up his relationship with Miranda. Miranda asks if he’s talking to Natalie. He reminds her that
Miranda also saw the fake agent. He gets a call from Sung who says he’s at the Pont Neuf.

Sung tells him to be careful and not trust anyone — even those closest to you. He asks
Miranda if she’s part of it then says he has to go. She asks to take him to the doctor and Natalie
agrees. He says they’re working together and leaves. He goes to where Sung says he’s hiding. The
man is lying there shot and bleeding. Daniel calls out for an ambulance.

Daniel is at the police station telling the story. He goes over the fake agent, then Chinese
agent then Sung shot dead. Daniel thanks him for understanding. The guy says that he thinks
he’s pretending to be an international spy. He says the Embassy didn’t believe him so he shot
a random Chinese person to make his story credible. He says the guy’s name is Lang, not a
professor and is there on a work VISA. Daniel says the Chinese faked the papers and are trying
to make him disappear. The cop demands the truth.

Paul asks Max what the first rule of academia is and he says — don’t have sex with your
students but Paul says it’s "publish or perish.” He tells Max to take the article to the newspaper
and tell them that his world-renowned boss wants it published. Max says Daniel will kill them.

Kate shows up and Miranda is thrilled to see her. Kate introduces Donnie and Miranda says
he’s at the police station because he was found with a dead body. Kate says they will take care
of it. Donnie says he wants to see him and the cop says unless he’s licensed to practice law in
France, he can’t see him. Kate explains that Daniel’s mental state is fragile. He says that’s very
helpful and he says now that he knows he’s crazy he can hold him for psychiatric evaluation.

The guy gets a call from a higher up and he’s ordered released. He says Daniel has friends
in high places. They let Daniel go and he rants about getting access to the crime scene files and
they tell him he needs to get home to Miranda who’s worried sick about him. They come in and
see her suitcase there. She asks for a minute alone with Daniel. They go into their room and she
says she’s headed to Berlin for the tour.

He asks why she’s going on tour with Pepe le Pew and she says that Serge was the one that
got him out. She says that he showed up three weeks ago out of the blue and she broke up with
Serge so they could have a chance because he was the one that got away. She says she can’t deal
with the paranoia and him talking to people that aren’t there. She says it scares her and she’s
not strong enough to deal with it.

Miranda says Kate and Donnie can take care of him now that they are there. She cries and
tells him she’s sorry, then leaves.

Donnie tells her that if she’s worried, so is he and he says he’ll go with her. Daniel shows
Drexler the loose brick but it’s not loose anymore. He approaches the mime from earlier and tries
to get him to talk. The mime zips his lips and then Drexler asks who he’s talking to — there’s no
mime there. She says they need to go back to the Embassy.

He takes her to Henri at the Sorbonne and he says he knows nothing about a visiting Chinese
delegation. Daniel says the Chinese are covering the tracks. Agent Collins calls Drexler and says
it’s a false alarm at the apartment. The place is neat as a pin. He says he must have a hell of an
imagination. She says she knows he did important work with the Chicago field office and offers
to help him find medical help. He refuses and she says there’s nothing more she can do.

At home, he tells Miranda that the Chinese put the place back together to make him look
crazy. Miranda says he needs to talk to someone else. Natalie is there and says not to mess
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up his relationship with Miranda. Miranda asks if he’s talking to Natalie. He reminds her that
Miranda also saw the fake agent. He gets a call from Sung who says he’s at the Pont Neuf.

Sung tells him to be careful and not trust anyone — even those closest to you. He asks
Miranda if she’s part of it then says he has to go. She asks to take him to the doctor and Natalie
agrees. He says they're working together and leaves. He goes to where Sung says he’s hiding. The
man is lying there shot and bleeding. Daniel calls out for an ambulance.

Daniel is at the police station telling the story. He goes over the fake agent, then Chinese
agent then Sung shot dead. Daniel thanks him for understanding. The guy says that he thinks
he’s pretending to be an international spy. He says the Embassy didn’t believe him so he shot
a random Chinese person to make his story credible. He says the guy’s name is Lang, not a
professor and is there on a work VISA. Daniel says the Chinese faked the papers and are trying
to make him disappear. The cop demands the truth.

Paul asks Max what the first rule of academia is and he says — don’t have sex with your
students but Paul says it’s "publish or perish.” He tells Max to take the article to the newspaper
and tell them that his world-renowned boss wants it published. Max says Daniel will kill them.

Kate shows up and Miranda is thrilled to see her. Kate introduces Donnie and Miranda says
he’s at the police station because he was found with a dead body. Kate says they will take care
of it. Donnie says he wants to see him and the cop says unless he’s licensed to practice law in
France, he can’t see him. Kate explains that Daniel’s mental state is fragile. He says that’s very
helpful and he says now that he knows he’s crazy he can hold him for psychiatric evaluation.

The guy gets a call from a higher up and he’s ordered released. He says Daniel has friends
in high places. They let Daniel go and he rants about getting access to the crime scene files and
they tell him he needs to get home to Miranda who’s worried sick about him. They come in and
see her suitcase there. She asks for a minute alone with Daniel. They go into their room and she
says she’s headed to Berlin for the tour.

He asks why she’s going on tour with Pepe le Pew and she says that Serge was the one that
got him out. She says that he showed up three weeks ago out of the blue and she broke up with
Serge so they could have a chance because he was the one that got away. She says she can’t deal
with the paranoia and him talking to people that aren’t there. She says it scares her and she’s
not strong enough to deal with it.

Miranda says Kate and Donnie can take care of him now that they are there. She cries and
tells him she’s sorry then leaves.

Donnie and Kate wait as Daniel comes out. She asks how he is and he says he’s an idiot for
thinking there was a woman who could put up with his crazy and she thanks him. He says he
doesn’t blame her and Donnie says he didn’'t dream up all of this since there is a dead guy —
who happens to be Chinese. He asks what they can do and Kate says they can do what they do
in Chicago.

Kate says there is a puzzle there and his best therapy is solving puzzles. She says let’s solve
it. They go to the dead worker’s address and she says he moved in there last year and is working
a factory job. She says that she saw him a few days ago and he seemed happy not suicidal. A car
pulls up and Drexler gets out and tells Kate they're conducting an unauthorized investigation.

Drexler says to get on a plane or be in trouble. He says he can’t leave because he doesn’t have
a passport and she hands him a brand new one.

Kinney rants to Paul about Daniel publishing the article. He says he has donors threatening
to pull money and the ACLU breathing down his neck. He says it’s a disaster and Paul asks what
he expects. Kinney tells him to fix it and Paul says it won’t be that easy because Daniel’s price
has gone up.

Kate says they can still follow up on it. Daniel sees a mime again who is giving him clues but
he can’t understand what he means. The mime calls him a crazy American and an idiot and Kate
asks what’s going on and he says he’s been hallucinating mimes. That one was a real one. Daniel
says his performance was real and races off. He says they have to catch a train, not a plane.

They race to the train station to stop Miranda. He tells her not to get on the train. She’s with
Serge and she asks what’s going on. He says they were all real people putting on a performance
to make him look crazy. He says all this was done to make him seen dangerous. Miranda asks
who would do that and he points to Serge and says he wanted to make him want him instead.

Kate says he’s usually right and then Miranda turns to Serge and seems to be debating this.
He sees the mime playing a cello and then rethinks and says Serge broke her cello on purpose
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so he could use it to smuggle something across the border. He grabs her cello case and smashes
her cello while Miranda screams no and Serge calls for the police. Kate finds something and asks
what it is.

Serge denies knowing what it is and then they realize that it’s something he was trying to
sneak into Tehran. Kate says they need to arrest Serge, not Daniel. They do. Daniel apologizes
about her cello and Miranda apologizes about the things she said but he says that he really is
crazy and that one day he’ll have another break and now they know she can’t handle it.

Kate calls and gets news on Serge who may be an Iranian double agent. Donnie tells Daniel
that he’s right. Kate gets a call from Max for him and hands him the phone. She and Donnie toast
with wine while he goes to take the call. Max tells him he can be reinstated with no apology, a
parking spot, a 35% raise and more research money. Max begs him to come back. Daniel says to
let him squirm and then accept. Max is thrilled. He says when he gets back they need to hang
out more but Daniel has already hung up.

Daniel says he’s going back to the hotel and tells Kate and Donnie to enjoy the sights. Donnie
tells Kate that there’s nothing worse than losing the girl you know you're meant to be with. He
says he lost her once and wants to make sure it never happens again. He drops to one knee and
takes her hands and proposes. She start to hyperventilate and says again? He smile and nods.

Daniel plays the piano and sings by himself. We see Serge packed off by the cops while the
fake Drexler watches. Daniel sees I Love Paris in the Springtime. Miranda walks on the cold
streets. Donnie and Kate kiss. Paul sees Daniel teaching again and smiles. Max is also quite
happy. Natalie sits beside Daniel as he sings about how much he loves Paris.

101



Perception Episode Guide

102



Perception Episode Guide

Painless

Season 3
Episode Number: 26
Season Episode: 2

4 N\
Originally aired: Tuesday June 24, 2014
Writer: Jason Ning
Director: Eric McCormack
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Guest Stars: Meg Steedle (Bonnie Mullane), Steve Valentine (Dr. Napoleon Messier
(Hallucination)), Brad Rowe (FBI Agent Bobby Dalton), Brian McNa-
mara (Detective Gerald Rix), Fred Koehler (George aka The Ghost),
William Miller (Cyrus Dunham), Jessica Morris (AUSA Linda Mul-
lane), Sammi Hanratty (Kayla Madden), Kevin Sheridan (Nicky), Jef-
frey Nicholas Brown (Shadow Leaguer), Barry W. Levy (Cyrus’ Defense
Attorney), Walter Addison (Judge), Carlos Acuna (Victor Achoa), E.R.
Ruiz ("T-Bone” Epps)

Summary: A prosecutor mysteriously drops dead in the courtroom, trigging an
investigation by Pierce and Moretti. Meanwhile, Moretti and Donnie
make important life decisions.

Daniel asks what the hell this is that Max
has brought him and he says it's a crois-
sant and he thought he may have devel-
oped a liking for them in Paris. Daniel re-
minds him he doesn’t eat white flour and
Max calls himself an idiot and says he
probably doesn’t want a reminder of the
place he got his heart ripped out. Max
is happy he’s back. Donnie brings Kate
breakfast in bed and says Linda is start-
ing out in court so he can come late.

She pours her cereal and finds a ring
pop to celebrate their engagement and
says it’s gorgeous. He asks when she

A - wants to get married and she says 12:30.
She says Judge Scanlon can do it on their lunch break. She says they've already been married
and don’t need to register so he agrees to 12:30. He gets a call and is surprised. He says the
expert witness has appendicitis and they won’t get a continuance.

Daniel teaches a class and talks about how one offhand comment can set you off because the
brain is hard wired to focus on the negative. He says we can use train our brain to overcome the
negative bias and how bad experiences affect us. He says happy may be a choice. Paul talks to
him after class and is concerned. He says he wants him to go play putt putt with him. Daniel
says golf in any size is pointless. He tells Paul not to call him Danny Boy and says he has plans.

Donnie is prepping Daniel on the case. He shows him the file on Dunham, a guy who lured
girls to Chicago, beat and drugged them and forced them into prostitution. He says only one girl
will testify against Cyrus. Daniel says the others seem to have Stockholm Syndrome and says
that he needs him as an expert witness to talk about the syndrome.

Linda questions him about Stockholm Syndrome. He says the affects can linger for months
or years. Linda looks like she’s wavering then collapses and Donnie says to call an ambulance.
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Daniel touches her back and says she’s been shot. They take her out and Daniel says that Linda
didn’t know she’d been shot. He says he thinks she has congenital analgesia where you don’t
properly feel pain. He rattles off a list of symptoms she demonstrated.

Donnie says even if you don’t feel the pain, you would notice the impact. Sepsis sits in after
a few hours and they know what time she got there so it must have happened before she came
in. They find her car and it looks like she was shot there. Kate says it could have happened
wherever the car was and not necessarily in that lot. She and Donnie agree they need to move
their "appointment” to the next day.

Daniel and Kate comes to see Linda’s sister and she said she didn’t want to be treated dif-
ferently so she hid it. She says their grandfather died at 38 and they see the apartment is baby
proofed. She says the world was a dangerous place for Linda. Kate asks who may have wanted to
hurt her and she says no. She says she had a big case she wouldn’t talk about but had brought
files home.

Kate says the files are Chicago PD homicide files — all closed. Donnie is having a drink with
—. He leaves and Kate says the guy he was just drinking with likely killed Linda. Kae throws a
stack of files on Donnie’s desk and says Gerald Rix is the common denominator and there is a
common witness on all these cases with a closure rate of 97%.

Donnie says Linda must have been building a case on Rix and that's why he’s so interested
in their investigation of Linda’s murder. This calls into question all of Rix’s case. They need to
find the fake witness he was using. Kate and her partner find Nicki Tartullo. He turns to run and
whacks his head on a forklift. He says he needs a doctor and she says he has just the one and
takes him to Daniel.

She says he has to turn on Rix or he’ll go to jail. He says he wants the same deal the lady
lawer offered him. Kate nods and he says he met Rix when he caught him robbing a liquor store.
He said he could get off on the robbery charge. He says Rix told the other cops he was his CI.
Kate says now he’s going to testify for her. Daniel comes out of the room and a doctor approaches
him and says he’s a big fan.

He says he knows he worked with the FBI and heard about the attorney that had the analgesia
condition. He asks for tissue samples and Daniel says he’ll try to help. Kate says Donnie needs
her back at the court case. She goes to arrest Rix who tells her he doesn’t need a lawyer. She
says he’s going away for a long time and he says he’s doing a public service and no one will be
convicted.

He tells her the dirt bags he got convicted were guilty of crimes, even if they weren’t the crimes
they were convicted of. Rix tells her he has an alibi — he does — it was good. Donnie says maybe
he got a low life to shoot Linda. Donnie says Daniel was good in court and that one fo the girls is
testifying next. She takes the stand and talks about him promising to get her modeling jobs and
paying for her bus ticket.

Donnie asks about him abusing her and the girl says he never did. He reminds her of her
grand jury testimony where she said he physically abused her and forced her into prostitution.
She says she lied. Donnie asks again about the abuse. She says she loves Cyrus and she cries
and says she was mad because she thought he’d been cheating. She apologizes to Cyrus and
says she loves him.

Donnie asks if she’s been threatened or coerced and she says she hasn’t. The bad guy’s
attorney moves for a directed verdict and the judge finds him not guilty and puts down the gavel.
It's done. Donnie is pissed.

She pours her cereal and finds a ring pop to celebrate their engagement and says it’s gorgeous.
He asks when she wants to get married and she says 12:30. She says Judge Scanlon can do it on
their lunch break. She says they’ve already been married and don’t need to register so he agrees
to 12:30. He gets a call and is surprised. He says the expert witness has appendicitis and they
won’t get a continuance.

Daniel teaches a class and talks about how one offhand comment can set you off because the
brain is hard wired to focus on the negative. He says we can use train our brain to overcome the
negative bias and how bad experiences affect us. He says happy may be a choice. Paul talks to
him after class and is concerned. He says he wants him to go play putt putt with him. Daniel
says golf in any size is pointless. He tells Paul not to call him Danny Boy and says he has plans.

Donnie is prepping Daniel on the case. He shows him the file on Dunham, a guy who lured
girls to Chicago, beat and drugged them and forced them into prostitution. He says only one girl
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will testify against Cyrus. Daniel says the others seem to have Stockholm Syndrome and says
that he needs him as an expert witness to talk about the syndrome.

Linda questions him about Stockholm Syndrome. He says the affects can linger for months
or years. Linda looks like she’s wavering then collapses and Donnie says to call an ambulance.
Daniel touches her back and says she’s been shot. They take her out and Daniel says that Linda
didn’t know she’d been shot. He says he thinks she has congenital analgesia where you don’t
properly feel pain. He rattles off a list of symptoms she demonstrated.

Donnie says even if you don't feel the pain, you would notice the impact. Sepsis sits in after
a few hours and they know what time she got there so it must have happened before she came
in. They find her car and it looks like she was shot there. Kate says it could have happened
wherever the car was and not necessarily in that lot. She and Donnie agree they need to move
their "appointment” to the next day.

Daniel and Kate comes to see Linda’s sister and she said she didn’t want to be treated dif-
ferently so she hid it. She says their grandfather died at 38 and they see the apartment is baby
proofed. She says the world was a dangerous place for Linda. Kate asks who may have wanted to
hurt her and she says no. She says she had a big case she wouldn’t talk about but had brought
files home.

Kate says the files are Chicago PD homicide files — all closed. Donnie is having a drink with
—. He leaves and Kate says the guy he was just drinking with likely killed Linda. Kae throws a
stack of files on Donnie’s desk and says Gerald Rix is the common denominator and there is a
common witness on all these cases with a closure rate of 97%.

Donnie says Linda must have been building a case on Rix and that's why he’s so interested
in their investigation of Linda’s murder. This calls into question all of Rix’s case. They need to
find the fake witness he was using. Kate and her partner find Nicki Tartullo. He turns to run and
whacks his head on a forklift. He says he needs a doctor and she says he has just the one and
takes him to Daniel.

She says he has to turn on Rix or he’ll go to jail. He says he wants the same deal the lady
lawer offered him. Kate nods and he says he met Rix when he caught him robbing a liquor store.
He said he could get off on the robbery charge. He says Rix told the other cops he was his CI.
Kate says now he’s going to testify for her. Daniel comes out of the room and a doctor approaches
him and says he’s a big fan.

He says he knows he worked with the FBI and heard about the attorney that had the analgesia
condition. He asks for tissue samples and Daniel says he’ll try to help. Kate says Donnie needs
her back at the court case. She goes to arrest Rix who tells her he doesn’t need a lawyer. She
says he’s going away for a long time and he says he’s doing a public service and no one will be
convicted.

He tells her the dirt bags he got convicted were guilty of crimes, even if they weren’t the crimes
they were convicted of. Rix tells her he has an alibi — he does — it was good. Donnie says maybe
he got a low life to shoot Linda. Donnie says Daniel was good in court and that one fo the girls is
testifying next. She takes the stand and talks about him promising to get her modeling jobs and
paying for her bus ticket.

Donnie asks about him abusing her and the girl says he never did. He reminds her of her
grand jury testimony where she said he physically abused her and forced her into prostitution.
She says she lied. Donnie asks again about the abuse. She says she loves Cyrus and she cries
and says she was mad because she thought he’d been cheating. She apologizes to Cyrus and
says she loves him.

Donnie asks if she’s been threatened or coerced and she says she hasn’t. The bad guy’s
attorney moves for a directed verdict and the judge finds him not guilty and puts down the gavel.
It’'s done. Donnie is pissed.

Donnie tries to get Kayla to talk to them but she says she doesn’t want their help. They ask
Daniel and he says Stockholm Syndrome isn’t something you just come down with. Donnie says
he thinks Cyrus intimidated her. Donnie tells Kate that they're late for the judge and he says
he’ll reschedule again. Daniel asks her about it and she says they're getting remarried. He asks
why the secret and she says with his break-up she didn’t want to salt the wound and he says
he’s wound-free.

He goes home and Dr Messier (the anesthesiologist) is there. Daniel turns back to him and
he’s in scrubs with a mask and an anesthesia machine and says he’s there to take away his pain.
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He realizes he’s an hallucination. Natalie is there and says she thinks he’s jealous of Kate and
Donnie. He admits he’s a little disappointed but that doesn’t mean Kate has to tiptoe around him
like he’s fragile.

Daniel says he’s tired of all of his friends treating him with kid gloves and wishes they would
all go away. She says he wants them to go away closer and accuses him of conflicting messages.
Natalie mentions Kayla and says when she told Kate and Donnie she wanted to be left alone,
they did, but shouldn’t have.

Daniel goes to see Kayla. She says to leave her alone and he says he can’t do that. He says
she was brave when she told the truth. She asks him to go away. He says he knows how she
feels and tells her he has paranoid schizophrenia and has been afraid most of his life and says
the world can be a lonely place. He says when he shuts people out it can mean he’s asking for
help.

She opens the door and says she can take care of herself and he says it doesn’'t have to be
that way. She cries and says Cyrus is free and Daniel says they can lock him back up if she tells
the truth. She tells Donnie that Cyrus called from a blocked number and threatened her and
asked who did she think killed the lawyer woman and that he can get to her too. Donnie thanks
her.

Kate wonders if he really killed Linda or was just using it to scare Kayla. Kate calls Donnie and
says Cyrus is dead. He’s got multiple bullet wounds in him and is slumped on a stoop. Donnie
shows up at the crime scene and she says he was shot with a 9 mm at close range and it's an
area of gang violence and wonders if it was street justice.

Donnie slaps up a photo of Victor Ochoa — a trafficker that was acquitted and then killed
immediately after his release just like Cyrus. Kate says she’s looking for an intersect on their
cases. Daniel studies the crime scene photos and then asks if they have other photos of Cyrus’
body. He leafs through them all and shows them S.L. — letters that were tagged near both bodies.

Kate tells T-Bone, the head of the Street Lords, that it’s lame art. He says it’s not his people
and shows her his ink and says that’s bona fide. He says that S.L. is from those bitches in tights.

Kate, Donnie and Daniel check out a website for the Shadow League that warns criminals to
beware. Kate says it's hard to believe those people took out two hardened criminals.

They decide to go check out the super-hero school they run. They look at the people learning
hand to hand and other skills. The leader says there was a guy that was espousing more aggres-
sive tactics but they had to ask him to leave which sucked because he ran their Facebook page.
He says they only knew him as The Ghost.

Kate talks on the phone when a guy in a dark hoodie steps in behind her and throws her
against a wall. She screams for help and The Ghost comes to her rescue. Dalton, her faux
attacker, arrests him. He tells her that he will haunt her for all eternity. She’s not impressed.

They have The Ghost out of his disguise and in interrogation. Kate notes that he applied to the
FBI and police academy but he washed out on psych. Donnie asks how does he choose which
bad guys to kill. Kate tells George they know he killed Linda and Victor. He says he delivered
justice when they couldn’t. They ask why he killed Victor. He says he met someone online called
Painless who said that was her superpower.

He says he and Painless chatted about how the world needed people like them. She emailed
him about Victor Ochoa and said he was cut loose because a warrant was mis-filed. He decided
to do something about the guy and said Painless gave him the address. He was going to follow
him and take some photos but Victor saw him and came at him and he shot him by accident.

He said he knew he had done the right thing even though it was an accident and tagged it
with S.L. He says after Ochoa he was fired up and knew this was what they needed to be doing.
George says he told Painless what he had done and to ask for another mission. He says he didn’t
get an answer so he ran the IP and found out it was Linda.

He says he went to see her. We see him in her back seat telling her not to scream and asking
for her next assignment. She said she doesn’t know what he’s talking about and he says he killed
the drug dealer for her. She’s confused and then tells him to get out of her car. She asks if he’s
insane and says she’ll have him arrested. She calls him a freak and says she’ll take him down
for murder.

He says he killed for Painless and she was going to turn him in. They ask about Cyrus and
he says he doesn’t know what she’s talking about. He has he has no idea who that is. Messier
is there and says George is in pain too. Daniel tells him he doesn’t need anesthesia. He says
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Napoleon Messier is a ridiculous name and Daniel says it's an anagram. He scribbles it on the
window and looks at it. He plays with it mentally and it says — one more painless. He knocks on
the window.

Kate comes in and he says George is telling the truth and there’s another killer. She looks at
the writing and reminds him they talked about this. They go back to see Linda’s sister Bonnie.
She acts ignorant and Kate says she knows him as The Ghost and he knows her as Painless.
Daniel says she and Linda both had it and she was the one he was emailing with.

Bonnie says that Linda was upset about Victor’'s case and she said she was excited because
Victor got what he deserved. She says she cut off communications with George and they tell her
that’s what spurred him to kill Linda. They tell her Linda didn’t call the police on George because
she figured out he had been talking to Bonnie.

She admits she went to kill Cyrus because she thought he killed Linda. She says it was the
first time in her life she stood up and took action. She says she’s not sorry he’s dead. They arrest
her. Kate tells Donnie if they hurry they can still do that thing. He says they do. Donnie asks
Daniel if he can catch a cab and he says he can then congratulates them and shakes Donnie’s
hand.

Messier is there and says he can give him something for that. He says you can’t and says he
knows someone who can. Donnie stops Kate and says he can’t marry her like this. She says she
wanted to make it painless. He says it getting pushed back was a sign they aren’t supposed to
do it like this. He says the first time they got married they eloped and didn’t make a big deal out
of it.

He says maybe them not taking it seriously somehow seeped into their marriage. He says he
wants to marry her in a church with a priest and their families, a crappy DJ, a long engagement
and a registry because their blender sucks. She agrees.

Daniel writes on the board that sticks and stones will break my bones Then he tells the
class that emotional pain can hurt the same as physical pain. He says there are drugs that can
eliminate both physical pain and emotional pain. He asks if numbing your pain is always a good
thing and says the more we know pain, the more we can appreciate the good feelings.

He says bitterness and anger help us appreciate happiness. He says to appreciate beauty you
must acknowledge your pain. He goes to play putt putt with Paul who is thrilled and hugs him
when he scores a hoel in one. The super hero squad run off into the night and Bonnie is escorted
into a cell.
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Shiver

Season 3
Episode Number: 27
Season Episode: 3

4 )
Originally aired: Tuesday July 1, 2014
Writer: Raf Green
Director: Christopher Misiano
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie

Ryan)
Recurring Role:  Brad Rowe (FBI Agent Bobby Dalton)
Guest Stars: Max Gail (John O’Hare), Brian Letscher (Shane McNamara), Cole

Sand (Dillon Wilcox), Brooke Lyons (Annie), Erin Daniels (Dillon’s
Mother), Jo Anderson (Wendy Pierce), Sandy Martin (Shirley (Homeless
Woman)), Rohan Nichol (Mick Dorian), Patrick Stafford (Josh O’Hare),
Marty Ryan (O’Hare Attorney), Leonidas Gulaptis (Young Mick), Shaun
Brady (Young Shane), Peter Coyote (James Alan Pierce)

Summary: After a young victim with a developmental disorder is taken hostage
in a bank robbery, Moretti brings in Pierce to interview the boy. When
they finally track down the culprits, they discover the case is about
much more than money. Meanwhile, Pierce’s estranged father James
pays him a visit.

The FBI has been tracking a robber hit-
ting multiple banks, and it just so hap-
pens that his neck stop is the one Kate’s
staking out, only she can’t catch him be-
cause he takes a kid hostage. He leaves
the kid on a bus with the stack of money
containing the GPS tracker, and Dylan
tells them what he knows. They're able to
put together that there’s an inside man
and they identify Shane because he’s
been home sick for almost two months,
and while Shane thinks he’s dying of an
untreatable disease he got from eating
human flesh almost two decades ago, he’s
: not. He has the very treatable Lyme dis-
ease, and while he tries to make a deal, that goes out the window when the truth comes out.
Though Shane identifies his partner as his old friend Josh, and Josh’s father speaks to the
media in an attempt to get his son he hasn’t seen in 17 years to turn himself in, it’s all a lie —
and they find out the truth after Josh is supposedly killed and burned in an abandoned garage
by none other than his father, who confesses. He says he killed him because he couldn’t forgive
him for not showing up when his mother was dying. However, he didn’t kill his son; he killed
Shane’s real partner, Mick, and he only confessed to get into prison so he could kill Shane, the
other person he blames for his son’s death. It turns out Josh died back in New Guinea after he
was shot when they failed to rob a check-cashing place. Mick "put him out of his misery” and
then declared he and Shane should honor him and keep his spirit alive.
Meanwhile, Daniel’s father comes to visit to get him to sign papers to take the "mansion big
enough to raise the von Trapp family,” as Daniel describes his childhood home. In case all the
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mentions about their estrangement aren’t enough, every conversation the two have emphasize it.
It’s only when Daniel speaks to his father’s wife that he finds out that his father hasn’t been doing
well and has been getting lost. While they may be estranged, Daniel’s still the one who figures out
where he is: their house. "Congratulations, you figured it out. I have Alzheimer’s. You must have
a PhD in brain science,” his father tells him when he confronts him. "There’s nothing anyone can
do for me. There’s no cure, right?” That conversation ends poorly, with Daniel wondering if the
house is a grand gesture to earn his forgiveness before he’s too far gone to care, and it’s not the
only one that does.

Even after a conversation with Natalie about it, with her suggesting his father is looking for
help from his brilliant neuroscientist son, and Daniel offering his father a long-shot in a clinical
trial, Daniel still can’t forgive him, and his father throws down the trial packet. That doesn’t stop
him from ending the episode looking at a scrapbook from Daniel’s childhood.
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Possession

Season 3
Episode Number: 28
Season Episode: 4

4 )
Originally aired: Tuesday July 8, 2014
Writer: Warren Hsu Leonard
Director: Christopher Misiano
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Guest Stars: Rya Kihlstedt (Elena Douglas), Anthony Starke (Richard Douglas),
Clare Carey (Mrs. Pavel), Alex Mendoza (Jake Forster), Timothy V.
Murphy (Monsignor Eugene Norris), Christopher Gartin (Father Pat),
Al Sapienza (John Pavel Sr.), Matt Roth (Brendan Voss), Daniel Booko
(John Pavel Jr.), Alex Frnka (Silvie Pavel), John Glover (Satan (Hallu-
cination)), Elle Young (Brooke Robinson / Mistress Cyrenne), Alisha
Wainwright (Timid Girl)

Summary: Moretti calls on Pierce to examine Elena Douglas, a woman who has
confessed to murder and claims to be possessed by the Devil. Mean-
while, Donnie and Moretti’s wedding plans hit a bump in the road.

CRNE S

Kate brings Daniel in on this week’s "Per -
ception” case after finding out new in-
formation about an unsolved murder: an
online video showing the victim’s boss
confessing to killing her. Oh, but she’s
possessed by the devil? So we get Tim-
othy V. Murphy as the priest perform-
ing an exorcism at the husband’s request
after anti-psychotics didn't help and
as mentioned above, Glover as Daniel’'s
hallucination-of-the-week, the Devil. In
this case, we don’t mind that the hallu-
cination is obvious. Thanks to the Devil,
Daniel realizes that Elena has a tumor
. that’'s causing her crazy behavior, but
even once she’s acting saner after it's removed, she still confesses to killing Sylvie — in detail.

"The devil’s in the details,” Hallucination-Satan tells Daniel, who remembers that the tumor
would have led to some amnesia, so she shouldn’t be able to tell them all those details. She could
be using it as a cover-up to plead not guilty by reason of insanity, but as they discover when they
look into her activities the night of the murder, she was busy passed out in her car for hours
in a hotel parking lot. So much for her being their killer because she thought her husband was
having an affair with the victim.

The next suspect is Elena’s husband, but he too has an alibi: his regular appointment with
his dominatrix. However, that's how they begin to put together the pieces. With help from his
hallucination, Daniel realizes the husband’s sessions would have cost much more ($1500 an
hour!) than he should be able to afford running a charity. Money laundering. It’s all about money
laundering.

The devil in this case, however, is closer to home than they suspect — and not the family
member they suspect at first. It’s all about the queen, and while Sylvie did find out her family
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was involved, she didn’t confront her father like they thought. Instead, like he had told them, she
went to her mother with all her problems, and she did that when she learned the truth as well.
She sacrificed her daughter to protect the rest of her family, and when Sylvie refused to drop it,
she ran her over. Talk about cold!

Meanwhile, Kate faces a big problem when her professional life interfered with her personal
life. She gets on the wrong side of the priest when she first finds him performing the exorcism,
and it turns out he’s the one she and Donnie need to pull the strings to get their marriage
annulled so they can get married in the church like Donnie wants. Because she won’t give him
a formal apology she actually means, it looks like their wedding is going to end up being at the
Four Seasons, and while Donnie says he’s okay with that, he’s not, and Father Pat points out
he’s just trying to atone for his mistakes from his first marriage. It's up to Kate to fix it, and she
does — with playoff tickets that will bring in a fortune at the church auction. Their wedding is
back on at the church.

Finally, Max becomes determined to beat Daniel at chess, and he even goes so far as to chess-
trash talk him. He studies up and everything, and he does manage to win. His celebration is
worth the bad trash talk. After all, it is all about the Queen.
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Eternity

Season 3
Episode Number: 29
Season Episode: 5

4 \
Originally aired: Tuesday July 15, 2014
Writer: David Eagleman, Jonathan Abrahams
Director: Jeff Woolnough
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Guest Stars: Peter Coyote (James Alan Pierce), Charlie Bodin (Felix Simpson), Adam
Garcia (Dr. Kenny Esper), Paul Cassell (Dr. Landon Jennings / L-DUB),
Christina Cox (I) (Mrs. Jennings), Alex Carter (Dr. Carter Humphries),
Bahar Soomekh (Vael), Jo Anderson (Wendy Pierce), Gregg Binkley
(Theodore Ludlow), Neil Arnote (FBI Tech Guy)

Summary: When renowned neuroscientist Landon Jennings is found dead,
Moretti and Pierce must figure out how someone could have gained
access to his impenetrable study in order to kill him. Lewicki finds
himself with twice the work when Pierce’s father James moves in with
them.

Daniel’s father’s Alzheimer’s continues to
worsen. He is kicked out of his home and
comes to live with Daniel before deciding
to go to a facility to live.

A scientist focused on artificial intelli-
gence is mysteriously killed.

After ruling out revenge plots, rival
competitors, even his wife, Daniel con-
cludes that the doctor set up an elaborate
scheme in case his own disease ever in-
terfered with his work. After failing a se-
ries of tests he was required to take every
day, a gas canister went off, killing him.
He didn’t want to live unless he was at
full capacity.
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Inconceivable

Season 3
Episode Number: 30
Season Episode: 6

Guest Stars:

Summary:

Originally aired:

Tuesday July 22, 2014

Writer: Nicki Paluga
Director: Jeff Woolnough
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Jennifer Holland (Lucy Halpern), Steven Helmkamp (Andrew O’Leary),
Jeff Branson (Scott Kemp), Sadie Stratton (Betsy), Reva Rose (Neigh-
bor), Amanda Carlin (Lucy’s Mother), John Hans Tester (Asgar Svens-
den), Dee Freeman (Social Worker), Exie Booker (Homicide Detective),
Edward Conna (Driver), Zach Latimer (Commanding Officer), Sarah
Domin (Emma Kemp)

When an infant is reported stolen, Moretti hunts down the kidnapper
and makes a very bizarre discovery. As Pierce and Moretti investigate
a related murder, they find that there might be another child out there
who needs their help. Meanwhile, Donnie and Moretti discuss their
future together when Donnie looks into buying a house in the suburbs.

She doesn’t tell him though.

115

Daniel and Kate investigate a missing
baby case, only to learn the baby is re-
ally a doll.

The two discover that the woman had
given up her baby, fearing she would hurt
it, and purchased a reborn doll to take its
place.

A firefighter had been taking care of it,
but the child was reunited with its father
after the mother is murdered.

Daniel and Kate discover the doll
maker killed the mother after he believed
she was mistreating his work of art.

Donnie pushes for a dream home and
kids, while Kate isn’t sure she wants kids.
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Bolero

Season 3
Episode Number: 31
Season Episode: 7

4 N\
Originally aired: Tuesday July 29, 2014
Writer: Tawnya Bhattacharya, Ali Laventhol
Director: Alrick Riley
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Guest Stars: Louise Lombard (Josephine Carswell), Adam Godley (Teddy Brennan),
Francesca Eastwood (Muse / Young Josephine), Brad Hunt (Martin
Grant), Robert Curtis Brown (Dr. Rosenthal), Rod Hallett (Graham
Perri), Bonnie Burroughs (Mrs. Grant), Minni Jo Mazzola (Kaos’ Girl-
friend), Sachin Joab (Ravi Singh), Lorene Chesley (CPD Detective),
Craig Branham (Nick Perri), Trenton Rostedt (Jared Tennenbaum /
Kaos), Garett Weinstein (Young Teddy), Iker Amaya (Young Vincenzo
De Luca)

Summary: After Pierce witnesses a gallery owner die during a seizure caused by a
video installation, he convinces Moretti that it was actually a murder.
Their search for the killer puts them in the middle of a brazen art heist.
As Pierce works on the case, he is forced to re-examine his relationship
with Natalie.

An expensive piece of art is stolen and
a man murdered accidentally in the pro-
cess.

Daniel and Kate follow the clues to
an art critic who stole the paintings to
try and get back his love from years and
years ago, Josephine. She wanted the
paintings because they were of her.

Daniel starts a relationship with
Josephine but after learning of her in-
volvement, turns her in to the FBI.

He also, with the encouragement of his
therapist, chooses to let Natalie go in or-
der to create real relationships, not just
one with a hallucination.
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Prologue

Season 3
Episode Number: 32
Season Episode: 8

( \
Originally aired: Tuesday August 5, 2014
Writer: Mike Sussman
Director: Alrick Riley
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Guest Stars: Robert Curtis Brown (Dr. Josiah Rosenthal), Jessica Collins (Special
Agent Anne-Marie Bishop), Chad Donella (Dr. Swank), Kim Darby
(Stacia Clairborne), Lisa Brenner (Tasha Ogden), Andy Miller (II) (Ted
Duxbury), Michelle Joyner (Sylvia Hansen), Brooke Nevin (Shelby
Coulson), Ntare Mwine (ASAC Matthew Jefferies), Courtney Gains (Of-
ficer James McKenzie), Scott Allen Rinker (Justin Briggs), Ty Mayberry
(Homeless Guy), Mark Totty (FBI Agent Phil), Branton Box (FBI Agent
2 (D.C.)), James Logan (Arthur Lee Johnson)

Summary: After a missing FBI agent turns up dead, Pierce is forced to face the
one case he was never able to solve. When they discover that the killer
is still out there, Pierce agrees to help Moretti, against the wishes of his
therapist, Dr. Rosenthal, who believes it will only exacerbate Pierce’s
condition.

It all begins when Special Agent Bishop’s
body is found, forcing Daniel to remem-
ber not only when he quit consulting be-
cause Kate was moving to D.C., but also
the investigation he dragged the dead
agent into after agreeing to consult for
one hour for her. That one consulting
hour led to him uncovering a possible se-
rial killer targeting the mentally ill and
leaving his victims on the street like
junkies, with needles sticking out of their
arms. While one officer thinks that a pos-
sible eyewitness couldn’t have seen any-
thing because she’s blind, Daniel realizes
she suffers from motion blindness, so the

license plate she saw? Oh, it’s good.

They think they've caught a break when the police track down the car and a woman is tossed
out of it, with a story about how the killer told her he was going after the mentally ill to make
sure no one hurt anyone like someone did his daughter, but as Daniel realizes, it’s just too easy.
Their suspect is more likely to bash his victims’ heads in than to shoot them up with heroin
because that would take some of the pain away. That’s because these were mercy killings — and
Dr. Rosenthal, Daniel’s doctor, is the killer.

Dr. Rosenthal being the killer isn’t much of a surprise, given how hard he pushes Daniel to
give up the case and convinces him originally that he was imagining things. Sure, he could have
just been a doctor trying to do what’s right for his patient, but this is TV, so he has his own
reasons for doing so, and that’s to keep Daniel from putting the pieces together. Unfortunately
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for Dr. Rosenthal, he underestimated Daniel’s resolve and Kate’s belief in him because despite
his attempt to make Daniel look crazy and get him locked up by stabbing himself and blaming
the patient, a handy camera on Daniel’s glasses catches the entire conversation, and it’s all over
for Dr. Rosenthal.

As for Daniel, it may seem a bit like a throwaway line that he needs to find a new therapist,
but it should be much more than that. After all, the person he should have been able to trust
the most given their relationship is the one who did everything he could to try to convince him
he was crazy when they first met. Plus, Dr. Rosenthal is the one who convinced Daniel that he
should get along without Natalie, and now, Natalie does seem to be gone, even though Daniel
does call to her.
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Silence

Season 3
Episode Number: 33
Season Episode: 9

e N
Originally aired: Tuesday August 12, 2014
Writer: Raf Green
Director: LeVar Burton
Show Stars: LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce),

Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vin-
cent), Arjay Smith (Max Lewicki), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie Ryan)

Recurring Role:  Brad Rowe (FBI Agent Bobby Dalton)

Guest Stars: Brooke Nevin (Shelby Coulson), Brent Briscoe (Nightcrawler), Chris
Coy (Alex White), Pat Skipper (Ronnie (Sheriff)), Kate Vernon (Mary
Morrison), John Rubinstein (FBI Agent Jack Crawford), Mark Hare-
lik (Dr. Chandler), Rick Ravanello (Randy Curtis), Annie Abbott (Alex’s
Landlady), Brad Carter (Gary Williams), Bonnie Root (FBI Agent Nina
Curtis), Judd Lormand (Deputy)

Summary: Donnie and Moretti are caught in the crossfire when a sniper shoots
up the lobby of the Federal Building. When Pierce determines that
the shooter is afraid of Extreme Low Frequency radio waves, he and
Moretti take a trip to the Quiet Zone in Virginia, where they think the
shooter is hiding out. Meanwhile, an alluring woman named Shelby
Buchanan courts Donnie to run for political office.

Kate and Donnie have just met for their
coffee date outside when shots are fired.
Only one agent, Nina, is injured, but she’s
going to be okay. The shooter left his
gun behind, and Daniel gets to work on
the numbers on it and written in the
area. They could be looking at someone
suffering from a specific type of OCD
that involves the obsession with count-
ing things, and it's associated with bipo-
lar disorder and even schizophrenia. At
first, Daniel thinks the shooter was just
aiming for the X-ray machine Nina was
standing in front of, but then her partner,
Jeff, is Killed outside the hospital, and it
looks like his theory is shot to hell — until he realizes that Nina’s husband killed her partner
because they were having an affair and he saw Jeff kiss her before surgery.

That doesn’t explain who shot Nina, so Daniel gets to work on the numbers, and it’s a call
from his hallucination-of-the-week, over CB radio via his Walkman, that gives him the answer.
The 13 on the gun is really 1+3=4, and he decodes the other numbers (ELF GUN) to figure out
that the shooter was targeting the X-ray machine because in his mind, it's the same thing as
ELF (extreme low-frequency) radio-waves. They're looking at someone who works in the building,
and Daniel figures that out as well: Alex White, a date entry clerk who filed four disability claims
that he was suffering from radiation poisoning attributed to security procedures. If that’s not
enough, his apartment is covered in foil and he has a notebook where he’s divided everything
into four-letter groups. The last thing he wrote? "I'm under attack by the US government. Dr.
Chandler is the only one who can help me.”
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Dr. Chandler told him to limit his exposure to all electromagnetic sources, so he headed to
the Quiet Zone, a 13,000 square mile area in Virginia and West Virginia where electromagnetic
radiation is highly restricted. Kate and Daniel go to track him down, but when a local misleads
Kate, it’s Daniel who ends up driving (for the first time in 20 years!) after him and trying to get
through to him. It works, but when Alex is about to give up the gun to Daniel, the police think
he’s going to shoot him and take the shot instead. Somehow the officer aims right where the coin
that Alex carries around that fits with his delusion is, and it saves his life.

As for Donnie, Shelby isn’t interested in a date (well, at least that's what she says when she
stops by his office), but in grooming him to run for alderman. They’ve done some initial polling,
and the numbers look good, and who knows where this could take him. Donnie assures Kate
that he won’t run if it interferes with their wedding or if she doesn’t want him to, but he could
do good things for the city. She agrees to support him, but that means meeting with Shelby, who
wants to know all the skeletons in her closet — and she already knows about the affair from
Donnie. She loves that Kate is standing by her man because voters love forgiveness.

When Kate’s case means she has to miss the dinner where he’s announcing he’s running, the
trouble begins, with Kate telling him he’s the one who wants the spotlight, not her, and that her
career won't take a backseat to his. Plus, she’s not happy about Shelby, so maybe they should
reconsider this whole thing. And by "whole thing,” she means running for office. Out in the Quiet
Zone, Kate admits to Daniel that she can’t help but worry that he’s going to cheat again, and it
looks like she might have reason to because Shelby’s all ready to toast to their success at the
dinner — and it looks like she enjoys it just a bit too much when she wipes her lipstick off his
cheek. Donnie, here’s some advice: Don't. Please don’t. Just say no.
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Dirty

Season 3
Episode Number: 34
Season Episode: 10

Guest Stars:

Summary:

Originally aired:

Tuesday August 19, 2014

Writer: Jonathan Abrahams
Director: LeVar Burton
Show Stars:

Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent
Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Peter Coyote (James Alan Pierce), Jude Ciccolella (Detective (Halluci-
nation)), Brooke Nevin (Shelby Coulson), Joanna Cassidy (Ruby), Josh
Braaten (Derek Shelton), Michael Bunin (Kevin Gillespie), James Ma-
dio (Officer Timmy Russo), Gareth Williams (Brian McGrath), Max-
imillian Alexander Decker (Pete), Jim Garrity (Detective Malone), Chris
Tardio (Detective Gomez), Darin Heames (Prison Yard Inmate), Clifford
Morts (Judge Horford), David Paymer (Rueben Bauer), Stephen Jordan
(Prosecutor), James Thomas Gilbert (Defendant/Ryan Dooley), Bruno
Oliver (Prison Guard), Larkin Campbell (Desk Officer), Cleo Anthony
(Court Clerk)

When Donnie finds himself in a compromising situation, he calls
Pierce for help. As the evidence begins to stack against Donnie, Pierce
and Moretti struggle with their own fears and doubts, as they work to
solve the case. During the chaos, Pierce must deal with his father after
he assaults someone at the assisted living facility.

Donnie wakes up to find himself half
naked with his campaign advisor, Shelby,
dead. Donnie can’t remember what hap-
pened and is arrested before being sent to
prison, where he gets a serious beating.

Turns out, the man behind Donnie’s
campaign didn’t like that Donnie wasn’t
behind his goals and wanted to set him
up with a sex scandal. However, Donnie
passed out.

A neighbor in love with Shelby tries to
express his love but kills her instead, at-
tempting to set up Donnie in the process.

Kate believes Donnie cheated, and
their relationship continues to fall apart.

Daniel tries to deal with his father’s exploits at the nursing home, including bedding a woman
who also has Alzheimer’s and claims to have a home owned by a mobster.
Daniel and Kate check it out. The house explodes, presumably with Daniel inside.
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Brainstorm

Season 3
Episode Number: 35
Season Episode: 11

( )
Originally aired: Tuesday February 17, 2015
Writer: Jason Ning
Director: Andrew Bernstein
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Guest Stars: Peter Coyote (James Alan Pierce), JoBeth Williams (Margaret Pierce),
Edward Herrmann (Jack Pierce), John Rubinstein (FBI Agent Jack
Crawford), Charlie Hoftheimer (Roger Pierce), Zoe McLellan (Alice Pierce
/ Celia), Richard Topol (Dr. Jeff Bowen), Francis X. McCarthy (Roger
Jackson aka Sonny Coonan), Joy Osmanski (Hospital Doctor), Rob
Welsh (Tyler the Stoner), Danya LaBelle (E.R. Nurse)

Summary: After Dr. Daniel Pierce suffers a traumatic injury, his father James and
his friend Paul Haley have to make a difficult choice on whether to al-
low Pierce to undergo a high-risk surgery. Meanwhile, Pierce works to
solve a different kind of murder case that has him questioning every-
thing he sees and hears.

After Dr. Daniel Pierce suffers a trau-
matic injury, his father James and his
friend Paul Haley have to make a diffi-
cult choice on whether to allow Pierce to
undergo a high-risk surgery. Meanwhile,
Pierce works to solve a different kind of
murder case that has him questioning ev-
erything he sees and hears.
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Meat

Season 3
Episode Number: 36
Season Episode: 12

( R
Originally aired: Tuesday February 24, 2015
Writer: Nicki Paluga
Director: Andrew Bernstein
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Guest Stars: Gene Farber (Tom Bosworth), Danielle Savre (Reagan Harper), David
Andrews (FBI Agent Krueger), Ray Abruzzo (Butcher (hallucination)),
Boti Bliss (Connie Meier), Merle Dandridge (Robyn Sherman), Simon
Rex (Roy Meier), Aaron Lustig (Sleep Doctor), Isabella Hofmann (Janice
Bosworth), David Purdham (Walter Bosworth), Nanci Burrows (Middle-
aged Shopper), JB Tadena (FBI Agent)

Summary: When the owners of a meat company are brutally murdered, Agent
Kate Moretti goes undercover to investigate an animal rights group
suspected of foul play. Meanwhile, as Pierce helps solve the case, he
considers making a deeply personal confession to Kate.

When the owners of a meat company are
brutally murdered, Agent Kate Moretti
goes undercover to investigate an ani-
mal rights group suspected of foul play.
Meanwhile, as Pierce helps solve the case,
he considers making a deeply personal
confession to Kate.

127



Perception Episode Guide

128



Perception Episode Guide

Mirror

Season 3
Episode Number: 37
Season Episode: 13

4 N\
Originally aired: Tuesday March 3, 2015
Writer: Katie Gruel
Director: Elodie Keene
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Guest Stars: Agam Darshi (Nasim Shah), Pej Vahdat (Vice Consul Rashid
Prasad), David de Lautour (Natalie’s Australian Friend (Hallucina-
tion)), Christopher Gartin (Father Pat), Cas Anvar (Dev Mehta), Steven
Flynn (Gordon Sloane), Andy Milder (Dr. Swank), Ajay Mehta (Con-
sul General Ahmad Khan), John Burke (Attorney Brooks), Alex Weed
(Scott Pineda), Matthew John Armstrong (Dr. Trevor Rhodes), Robert
Maffia (Detective McKearney), Eric Linden (Killer)

Summary: Pierce and Moretti undercover an international scandal while investi-
gating the murders of a Bangladeshi diplomat and a Chicago reporter.
Distracted by the case, Moretti struggles with preparations for her up-
coming wedding to Donnie and turns to Pierce for help.

Pierce and Moretti undercover an inter-
national scandal while investigating the
murders of a Bangladeshi diplomat and a
Chicago reporter. Distracted by the case,
Moretti struggles with preparations for
her upcoming wedding to Donnie and
turns to Pierce for help.
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Romeo

Season 3
Episode Number: 38
Season Episode: 14

4 N\
Originally aired: Tuesday March 10, 2015
Writer: Amanda Green
Director: Kenneth Biller
Show Stars: Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent

Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Dr. Caroline Newsome), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie

Ryan)
Recurring Role:  DJ Qualls (FBI Agent Rudy Fleckner), Shane Coffey (D. J. Pierce)
Guest Stars: Dan Lauria (Joe Moretti), Lisa Brenner (Tasha Ogden), Deniz Akd-

eniz (Jesse Branson), Jonathan Slavin (Kevin (hallucination)), David
Chisum (Professor Gardner), Elizabeth McLaughlin (Cressida Gard-
ner), Klea Scott (CPD Detective), Robert Curtis Brown (Dr. Josiah
Rosenthal), Christopher Gartin (Father Pat), Hannah Kasulka (Lily
Williams), Marcia Ann Burrs (Lady at Reception), Susan Diol (Mrs.
Gardner), Alisha Wainwright (Lily’s Roommate), Donald Agnelli (Judge
Peter McAlpine), Jack Forbes (Officer Randolph)

Summary: Pierce attempts to find the killer of a student while defending the vic-
tim’s boyfriend, who is believed to be mentally ill and guilty of the
crime. Pierce has to face up to his feelings about Kate as her wedding
day nears.

Pierce attempts to find the killer of
a student while defending the victim’s
boyfriend, who is believed to be mentally
ill and guilty of the crime. Pierce has to
face up to his feelings about Kate as her
wedding day nears.
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Run

Season 3
Episode Number: 39
Season Episode: 15

Originally aired:

Writer:
Director:
Show Stars:

Guest Stars:

Summary:

Tuesday March 17, 2015

Kenneth Biller, Jonathan Abrahams

Kenneth Biller

Eric McCormack (Dr. Daniel Pierce), Rachael Leigh Cook (FBI Agent
Kate Moretti), Kelly Rowan (Natalie Vincent), Arjay Smith (Max
Lewicki), LeVar Burton (Dean Paul Haley), Scott Wolf (AUSA Donnie
Ryan)

Dan Lauria (Joe Moretti), Robert Curtis Brown (Dr. Rosenthal), Lisa
Brenner (Tasha Ogden), Josh Coxx (Special Agent Drexler), Chris
Gartin (Father Pat), Marcia Ann Burrs (Lady at Reception), Thom Barry
(Special Agent in Charge William Parsons)

Moretti goes missing on the day of her wedding, and Pierce soon dis-
covers that she’s been abducted by a dangerous person from his past.

Moretti goes missing on the day of her
wedding, and Pierce soon discovers that
she’s been abducted by a dangerous per-
son from his past.
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Actor Appearances

A Whitney Avalon ... 1
0109 (Psych Nurse 1)
Annie Abbott ... ..o 1
0309 (Alex’s Landlady) B
Rakefet Abergel..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin 1
0202 (Fangirl) Christopher BackUs. ..........cc.oovuiieinnieinieann... 1
Ray ADIUZZO .. ..ot 1 0105 (VA Outreach Guy)
0312 (Butcher (hallucination)) Robert Bagnell ..o, 1
Anabelle ACOSta .....oviiit i e 1 0214 (Ron Norton)
0206 (Eva) Bambadjan Bamba ... 1
Carlos ACUNIA . ..o vttt e e et 1 0208 (Anthony)
0302 (Victor Achoa) Jamie Bamber........oooiiiii s 3
Walter AddiSOn .......oovvriitiiii it iieenns 1 0102 (Michael Hathaway); 0106 (Michael Hathaway);
0302 (Judge) 0108 (Michael Hathaway)
Donald Agnelli............ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1 SOIA BAINIS « - v oo 1
0314 (Judge Peter McAlpine) 0103 (Nurse Hannah Edwards)
Deniz ARdeniz. ... 1 LASA BANES . ...ttt 2
0314 (Jesse Branson) 0107 (FBI Special Agent in Charge Irene Reardon);
Jaimie Alexander...........oooiiiiiiiiiiii i 1 0108 (FBI Special Agent in Charge Irene Rear-
0105 (Nicky Atkins) don)
Krista Allen..........ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1 ThOM BaTTY....uvtii ettt e 1
0106 (Allison Bannister) 0315 (Special Agent in Charge William Parsons)
David Alpay ... 1 ROGET BTt ..\ttt iite ettt e e e e e 1
0206 (Sario Donati) 0105 (IRS Agent Ethan Kendrick)
01N oo F: |2 N 1 Logan Bartholomew . .............ooivviiieeiiiiineaannns 2
0307 (Young Vincenzo De Luca) 0209 (Blake Rickford); 0210 (Blake Rickford)
Hira Ambrosino ................oooiiiiiiiiiiiiii 1 Gabriel BaSSO0 ...ttt ittt 1
0109 (Dr. Susan Hansen) 0108 (Billy Mitchell)
Paul Ambrus ... 1 Kate Beahamn........cooouuiiiiiiiie i, 1
0207 (Detective) 0205 (Ileana)
Bradford Anderson............coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiian.. 1 MaloU BEAUVOIT ..o vvereee et e e e e e e 1
0105 (Shane Flannery) 0301 (Agent Dexler (Embassy Legate))
Hilary Anderson..................oo 1 Graham BecKel..........o.ooiiiiiiiiiiiaiieaieaas 2
0203 (Equally Sexy Student) 0209 (Colonel (imaginary)); 0210 (Colonel (imagi-
JOANAErsON ... ..oivviiiiiiii i 2 nary))
0303 (Wendy Pierce); 0305 (Wendy Pierce) AQTON BENT ...t 1
David ANAIreWs .. cooiiiie e 1 0203 (Shane Murphy)
0312 (FBI Agent Krueger) Marina Benedict............ooviiieiiiiiiiiiiiie e 1
David Andriole ..........oouiuiiiiiii i 1 0208 (Zoey)
0209 (Unit Chief Connaghan) Jimmy Bennett........ooouuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiaaaan.. 2
Michelle ANG. ..ottt 1 0109 (Alex Willingham); 0110 (Alex Willingham)
0210 (Former National Guardwoman) Michael BEnyaer ..........oovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnns 1
Cleo ANthONY ... .ovteit it 1 0206 (Dr. Arthur Singh)
0310 (Court Clerk) Mark Berry .....oovuiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
CaS ANVAT ...ttt ettt ettt 1 0201 (Jury Foreman)
0313 (Dev Mehta) Brad Beyer .......c.iiuiiiiii i 1
Sari Arambulo............oooiiiiii 1 0211 (Mordecai "Three Finger” Brown)
0205 (Mai Quang) Nicole Bilderback ...........c.coiiiiiiiiiii i 1
Matthew John Armstrong ...................coooiiian, 1 0211 (Carol Lao)
0313 (Dr. Trevor Rhodes) Gregg Binkley .......ooiiiniiiiiiiiii i 1
Jeanetta Arnette ... 1 0305 (Theodore Ludlow)
0205 (Stephanie Nordhoff) Mary BirdSOng. .......ovuuiiinii i 1
BOOAINOId ... 1 0106 (Cheryl Corvis)
0212 (Deputy Bass) Joshua Biton...........ccoiiiiiiiii e 1
JAVLSS 1 B2 0 o 1 0213 (Craig Berkowitz)
0305 (FBI Tech Guy) Pippa Black.......cooiiiiiiiiii 2
Jayne AtKinson............oooiiiiiiiiiiiiii 2 0209 (Wendy); 0210 (Wendy Burrell)

0109 (Helen Paulson); 0110 (Helen Paulson) Claudia Blair. ...t 1
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0104 (Patty Dafoe)

Amelia Rose Blaire................cooiiiiiiiiiiii ..

0108 (Annie)

Geoffrey BlaKe..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiii i

0202 (Preston Resnick)

Robert Blanche...........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii ..

0211 (Dan Bukowski)

Susannah Blinkoff.................. ... ... o i,

0213 (Mrs. Lemke)

Boti BliSS ..ot

0312 (Connie Meier)

Charlie Bodin.........cooviiiiiiiiiiii i

0305 (Felix Simpson)

Wolfgang Bodison ...........cocoviiiiiiiiiiiiiininnann..

0106 (Chris Leavins)

Katherine Boecher...............c.coiiiiiiiiiiiiiinan.,
0102 (Olena Marchenko Prentice)
Nicole de BOCT.......vuiiiiiii i eieieeeaes

0109 (Janice)

Exie BOOKeTI. .. ..o.iiii e

0306 (Homicide Detective)

Daniel BOOKO ... ...vviti it ieieieiaaenes

0304 (John Pavel Jr.)

Tiffany Boone ..........coviiiiiiiii i

0204 (Teenage Girl)

Branton BoX.......c.ooiiiiiiiiiii e

0308 (FBI Agent 2 (D.C.))

JoshBraaten.............coooiiiiiiiiiii it

0310 (Derek Shelton)

Johanna Braddy ............coooiiiiiiiiiiii i

0208 (Blonde Lady at the Bar)

Shaun Brady.............oooooiiiiiiiinnnn

0303 (Young Shane)

Vanessa Branch.................oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinn,

0106 (Michelle Akers)

Craig Branham................oooiiiiiiiini it

0307 (Nick Perri)

Jeff BranSom......ovuueinininieienieieeeeeneaeaananans

0306 (Scott Kemp)

Jonathan Bray ...............coociiiiiiiiininnin

0301 (Agent Collins)

Lisa Brenner.........coouiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiennnnn
0308 (Tasha Ogden); 0314 (Tasha Ogden); 0315

(Tasha Ogden)

Enisha Brewster.............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin i,
0209 (Gabirielle Blair); 0210 (Gabrielle Blair)
Corey Brill ...

0209 (Former National Guard Captain); 0210 (Brock

Aleckson)

Brent BrisCoe.........cooiiiiiiiiiii e

0309 (Nightcrawler)

Josh Brodis........oooiiiiiiii e

0214 (Student)

Ashanti Brown ...ttt

0210 (Valerie Blair)

Jeffrey Nicholas Brown ...............c.coiiiiiiiiinian

0302 (Shadow Leaguer)

Robert Curtis Brown..........ccoiiiiiiiiiinanennann..
0307 (Dr. Rosenthal); 0308 (Dr. Josiah Rosenthal);
0314 (Dr. Josiah Rosenthal); 0315 (Dr. Rosen-

thal)

W. Ear]l Brown........coviiiiiiiiii i eiii i

0102 (Frank Prentice)

Rob Brownstein ........coooviiiiiiiiniiiiiiiiiienannn..
0214 (Chancellor); 0301 (Chancellor Kinney)
Michael Bunin.............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e

0310 (Kevin Gillespie)

John Burke. ...t

0313 (Attorney Brooks)

Hedy Burress...........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinn.n,

0202 (Ellen Resnick)

Bonnie Burroughs ...

0307 (Mrs. Grant)

Nanci BUrrows ...

0312 (Middle-aged Shopper)

Marcia Ann BUurrs........c.ooiiiiiiiiiiiii i
0314 (Lady at Reception); 0315 (Lady at Reception)
LeVar Burton ...
0101 (Dean Paul Haley); 0102 (Dean Paul Haley);
0105 (Dean Paul Haley); 0106 (Dean Paul Ha-

ley); 0108 (Dean Paul Haley); 0110 (Dean Paul

Haley)

JaKke BUSEY ...o.iiiiiii i

0214 (Jeff (Detective))

Timothy Busfield.............c.ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiin ..

0207 (George)

Lindsay Bushman.....................ooooiiiiiiian,

0204 (Maddy)

JR. CaCia .ottt e

0106 (Thomas Akers)

Larkin Campbell ...... ...

0310 (Desk Officer)

Michael Canaan........o.eeeiinenenenenenenenenenenennns

0110 (Security Guard)

Clare Carey......c.ouueuiiiin et aeaeanes

0304 (Mrs. Pavel)

Kristin Carey ...........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i

0206 (Jill Nelson)

Amanda Carlin..............oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i

0306 (Lucy’s Mother)

Melissa Carnell...........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i,

0202 (Princess Leia)

LauraCarswell.........coiiiiiiiiiiii i,
0101 (Stimulus Package/Karen); 0106 (Karyn)
AleX Carter ..ot e e e e

0305 (Dr. Carter Humphries)

Brad Carter.......c.viiriiiiii i

0309 (Gary Williams)

Carlie Casey ......o.viiiiiiiiiiiiii i

0108 (Christina Lake)

Philip Casnoff ........ ...

0214 (Gordon Williams)

Paul Cassell .....oviuiieiiiii i i
0305 (Dr. Landon Jennings / L-DUB)
Joanna Cassidy ......coovviiiiiiiiiiiii i

0310 (Ruby)

Patrick Cassidy.......c.cooiuiiiiiiiiiiii i

0103 (Kenny Strand)

0206 (Mel Haberman)

RayChang............oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i

0201 (Medical Examiner)

Lorene Chesley...........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniin,

0307 (CPD Detective)

Nick Chinlund. ...t

0203 (Kevin Connor)

David ChiSum . ........cootiiii ittt iiiei e

0314 (Professor Gardner)

Dennis Christopher...............oiiiiiiiiiiiiiinen..

0213 (Fred Kleinman)

Jude Ciccolella.......covviiiiniiii it ia e

0310 (Detective (Hallucination))

[€76) a3 s W03 E-1 o) o

0201 (Alan Kendricks)

Carolyn Ann Clark...............ooooiiiiiiiiiiiine

0204 (Flight Attendant)

B.J. CHNKSCaleS .....o.vitiiiii i iieiiieeaens

0209 (Patrolman Kirby)

Shane Coffey ........cocviiiiiiiii i
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0108 (D. J.); 0207 (D. dJ. Pierce); 0209 (D. J. Pierce);
0210 (D. J. Pierce); 0314 (D. J. Pierce)

Ajarae Coleman ..........c.ooeiiiiiiininiiniininiinenaens 1
0206 (Spokeswoman)

Greg Collins . ...oovuiiniiii e 1
0104 (SWAT Leader)

Jessica Collins .....vii i 1
0308 (Special Agent Anne-Marie Bishop)

Kayla Cherie Compton.............ccoooviiiiiiininaan.. 1
0108 (Indie Girl)

JA0TS) B3 5 1 o) o S 1
0104 (Charles Dafoe)

Edward Conna .........ooeiuiiiiiiitiiiaiainnannanans 1
0306 (Driver)

Jessica COOK ..uviri i 1
0203 (Sexy Student 1)

AL COoronel ... ..couiii i it e 1
0210 (Carlos)

18 0TI O ) 1 Pt 1
0211 (Paolo Genardi)

Julien Cottereau ..........ccoviiiiiiii it iiia e 1
0301 (Mime)

Christina Cox (I)....vvrii i 1
0305 (Mrs. Jennings)

19175 o U6 P 1 0> <P 2
0214 (Special Agent Drexler); 0301 (Special Agent

Drexler)

18 0T o T - o 1
0315 (Special Agent Drexler)

[0 51 5 S 070 25 1
0309 (Alex White)

Peter Coyote.....o.vviiininiiiii i 4

0303 (James Alan Pierce); 0305 (James Alan Pierce);
0310 (James Alan Pierce); 0311 (James Alan

Pierce)
J N1« E I @ o6 ¥/ 1
0201 (Joseph Garcia)
Steven Culp ...o.viniii 1
0109 (John F. Kennedy)
Colin Cunningham...........ccoooiiiiiiii i eaen... 1

0101 (Gerard Permut)

Merle Dandridge ..........coooiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0312 (Robyn Sherman)

ChicDaniel.......couviiiin i 1
0107 (Team Leader)

Erin Daniels.......ooviiiiiiiiiiii it 1
0303 (Dillon’s Mother)

KimDarby.....cooiiiiiiii i 1
0308 (Stacia Clairborne)

Agam Darshi.........coooiiiiiiiii i 1
0313 (Nasim Shah)

Dana Daurey .......coeeiiininininniiinneienenen.. 2
0201 (Sara); 0207 (Sara)

Kamala Lopez Dawsomn.........coeveiiiinininininenenenens 1
0212 (Kenny’s Foster Mom)

Maximillian Alexander Decker ....................o..... 1
0310 (Pete)

Brett DelBuono.........ovviiiiiii i 1
0105 (Kyle Jensen)

Michael DempPSeY ..ottt 1
0213 (Gus)

Alexis Denisof .......ooiiiiiii i e 1
0206 (Dr. Randall Vetter)

Dimitri Diatchenko...............oooiiiiiiiiiiiii i, 1
0102 (Alexi Topaloff)

Damaris Diaz........coiuiiiiiiiii i 1
0204 (Zoe)

Brian Dietzen......... ..o 1
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0208 (Mark Leighton)

Susan Diol. ... e
0314 (Mrs. Gardner)

Sarah DOmiN . ..ot e
0306 (Emma Kemp)

Chad Donella..........coviiiiiiiiiiiii it iiiiaaens
0308 (Dr. Swank)

Joanna Douglas..........coviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i
0101 (Valerie Nelson)

Mathieu DWayne .........c.oeiiiiiiiniiininiinenens
0301 (Chinese Man)

Cameron Dye.......ooiiiiiiiiiiiii it
0209 (Attorney Larsen)

Margaret Easley...........oooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiininenn,
0211 (Patricia Wilmyer)

Francesca Eastwood ..............ccoiiiiiiiiininnnn..
0307 (Muse / Young Josephine)

Richard EASOn ...ttt
0103 (Keith Trevoy)

Kieron EIHott.......ovuiiiii it
0109 (Dr. Jonathan Ingbar)

GregEIlis......oooiviiiiiii
0108 (Karl's Attorney)

Cary EIWes ....oooiiiiiii i
0104 (British Intelligence Officer)

August Emerson..............oooiiiiiiiiiiiinnininee
0106 (Justin Reycraft)

Julie Ann Emery .........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i
0206 (Susan Vetter)

Mark D. ESpIinoza.......c.oovveuiiiiiniiiniinininenann..
0211 (Victor)

Paul Essiembre. . ......o.vuiiiiiininiiieinnnnenenenenns
0101 (Alan Dirk)

Kate Etienne. ..ottt
0101 (Female Classmate)

Jayme Lynn Evans...............oooooiiiiiiiinni
0103 (Melinda Davis)

Thomas F. Evans.........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieannnn
0211 (CPD Detective)

Gene Farber.......oooiiiiiiiiiiii it
0312 (Tom Bosworth)

David Farkas .......viiiiiiiiiii i ciieiae s
0109 (FBI Agent 1)

Melissa Farman ..........c..cooiiiiiiiininininanennan..
0105 (Joan of Arc)

Frank Farmer.............oiiiiiiiiiii i
0203 (Basketball Fan)

Anita Finlay ..o
0105 (Mrs. Baker)

Glenn Fitzgerald.............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiii i
0110 (Leo Attinger)

Steven Flynn ...
0313 (Gordon Sloane)

JacK Forbes ......ooviiiii i
0314 (Officer Randolph)

Laurie Fortier....... .ottt
0104 (Hospital Doctor)

Ariel Fournier ..ottt
0203 (Suzi)

) DY 1SS o B 0 >
0209 (Female Reporter)

Dee Freeman .........c.ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnn..
0306 (Social Worker)

AleX FrnKa....oovuiiiiiii i
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0304 (Silvie Pavel)
Edward Furlong.................ooooiiiiiiiiiiiinnt, 1
0107 (Pete Dolan)

Holly Gagnier............oooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiia ., 1
0207 (Angie)

Max Gail....cooviiii i 1
0303 (John O’Hare)

Courtney Gains ........oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0308 (Officer James McKenzie)

Paul GanuUs........coitiiiiiii it e 2

0103 (Assistant S.A.I.C. Tanner); 0110 (Assistant
S.A.I.C. Tanner)

Adam Garcia ....oovvviiii i e e 1
0305 (Dr. Kenny Esper)

Pete Gardner..........coviiiiiiiiiiiii ittt 1
0103 (Simon Kaydee)

Spencer Garrett.............ooooiiiiiiiininiinin e 1
0106 (Howard Reycraft)

JIm Garrity . ...oovi 1
0310 (Detective Malone)

Chris Gartin.........vevuiiiiii ittt ieieenenenns 1
0315 (Father Pat)

Christopher Gartin................oooiiiiiiiiiiiiien, 3
0304 (Father Pat); 0313 (Father Pat); 0314 (Father

Pat)

Gill Gayle . .....ovuiiii e 1
0104 (Paul)

Lou GEOIZE . ..o veiiiii e 1
0208 (Kevin Reynolds)

Jason Gerhardt ..........cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0102 (Jake)

Marcus Giamatti........coviiiiiiiiiii it 1
0211 (Joel (Conley’s Agent))

James Thomas Gilbert.................cooiiiiiiiiiin.. 1
0310 (Defendant/Ryan Dooley)

Matthew Glave .........oviiiiii it 2
0109 (Senator Scott Ryland); 0110 (Senator Scott

Ryland)

JONN GIOVET ...t e e 1
0304 (Satan (Hallucination))

Emilien Gobard ...........coviiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0301 (Mime 3)

Velinda Godfrey ........ooeiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0204 (Thin Brunette)

Adam Godley ........oouiiiiiiii e 1
0307 (Teddy Brennan)

Jonathan Goldstein (I)..........ccoiiiiiiiiiinennan.n, 1
0203 (Guest Star)

Zeljka GortinsKi........c.oooiiiiiii i 1
0102 (Marriage Broker)

Rebekah Graf..........ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieieieiaaenes 1
0209 (Mrs. McPhee)

Marc Aden Gray........oovveiiiiiiiiiininiiniiiinennennn. 1
0104 (Clausner)

Jim Grollman. ........oueiiiii i 1
0208 (Angry Customer at the Bar)

TIM GUINEE . ..ottt 1
0105 (Tom Shelby)

Leonidas Gulaptis..............oooooiiiiiiiiiiiniini 1

0303 (Young Mick)

Martha Hackett ... 1
0204 (Leah Sullivan)
Molly Hagan ..........oooiiiiiii it 1

0108 (Professor Alison Emmett)
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Rod Hallett ..ot eeeeeens 1
0307 (Graham Perri)

Sammi Hanratty ... 1
0302 (Kayla Madden)

Kevin Hare. ...t 1
0101 (Clark Weilman)

Mark HareliK . ..... ..o 1
0309 (Dr. Chandler)

Nate Hartley..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiii it 1
0211 (Andre Pritchett)

Melissa Hayden ..., 1
0205 (Ashley Richards)

Darin Heames .......o.oviiiiiiiiiiii it 1
0310 (Prison Yard Inmate)

John Heard..........ooiiiiiiiiiii it 2

0209 (Congressman Evan Rickford); 0210 (Congress-
man Evan Rickford)

Steven Helmkamp.........c.oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinaen, 1
0306 (Andrew O’Leary)

Evan Helmuth.............oooiiiii i 1
0201 (Charlie Kendricks)

Edward Herrmann ..........oeeveieineninenenenenenenenn. 1
0311 (Jack Pierce)

Aaron Hill. .. ..o 1
0108 (Brian Cahill)

Judd Hirsch ... 1
0208 (Sigmund Freud (imaginary))

08 R o] o =1's A 1
0106 (Toby Mulligan)

Charlie Hofheimer............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiinieienenenes 1
0311 (Roger Pierce)

Isabella Hofmanm ..........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinennnn, 1
0312 (Janice Bosworth)

Jennifer Holland ............oooiiiiiinininiiiiininenen.. 1
0306 (Lucy Halpern)

Matthew HOImMeS . ......oviiiiiiii i i i i e 1
0207 (Phil Carlson)

James HornbecK . ....oovviiiininininiiiiiiiiinienenenans 1
0104 (Russ Anderson)

Bobby HOS€a ... .ovieii i 1
0103 (Coach Parker)

Whitney HOy . ....c.oonini i 1
0206 (Gabby)

Brad Hunt..........ooiiiiii it ieceieieeenes 1
0307 (Martin Grant)

Caleb HUunt . ...ooiiiiiii i 1

0204 (Chad)

Hunter JackSOmn .....o.vtvniniiiiii e iieineeanns 2
0209 (Anthony Hicks); 0210 (Anthony Hicks)
John M. JaCKSON . ...v.vvtiii i i iiiein e 1
0106 (Vincent)

Peter JaCobSOM ... vvvt it 1
0208 (Dr. Poole)

Catfishdean.........oooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieieaenans 1
0212 (Darius Johnson)

Sachin Joab ..o 1
0307 (Ravi Singh)

Evan Jdones. ... 1
0201 (Billy Flynn)

Phildones (II) . .....oovin s 1
0103 (70 Year Old Pierce)

Stephendordan ...........c.cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0310 (Prosecutor)

Michelle JOYNer .........ovuiiiiiii i 1
0308 (Sylvia Hansen)

CHNt JUNG . oo 1
0214 (FBI Supervisor)

David JUNG ... cvniniii e 1
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0201 (Artist) Aaron Lustig.......oooviiiiiiii i
0312 (Sleep Doctor)
K BrooKe LYONS. . ....vuutiein et iieieeeaeannns
0303 (Annie)
Matt KaminsKy ..........cooooiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0203 (Tom) M
Daniel Kash ... i 1
0203 (CPD Cop) V21 - VN
Hannah KasulKa . ...ovuenee et 1 0104 (Prof. Arthur Wei)
0314 (Lily Williams) James Madio . ...o.vuvninini e
Mary Page Keller ................ocoooiiiiiiiiin... 1 0310 (Officer Timmy Russo)
0107 (Judge Karen Trent) Robert Maffia...........ooiiiiiii i
Dylan KeNim ... .oeeeiieeeeeiitteeeeiiieeeennnnneenns 1 0313 (Detective McKearney)
0102 (Man) Titus MaKin Jr. .. ..ot ei e
| 165§ 1720 ¢ J 1 0212 (Charlie Clark)
0301 (Chinese Thug) Sherina Mikasa Manning..................ccooiviiiainn
KIiSten KeIT ..ttt ettt e e et eeeiiieeeeanans 1 0110 (Psych Nurse 2)
0104 (Maya Benowitz) GinaMantegna............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii
Rya Kihlstedt.........ccooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeaaaaaaan., 1 0208 (Erica Beecher)
0304 (Elena Douglas) Vanessa Marano. .......eoeeeenenteeneeneaneneaneneenens
AMY E. KiSer ...ttt 1 0204 (Riley)
0201 (Beautiful Woman) Piter MareK........ouiiiiiiiiiiiiiii it iiieieneaenes
Fred KOENIer. . .......uuu e 1 0105 (Hospital Doctor)
0302 (George aka The Ghost) Philip Martin ..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i
Zoran Korach......cooouueiiiiii i i 1 0208 (Lex)
0102 (Yuri Petrovich) Sandy Martin..........c.ooiiiiiiiiii i
Jeff KUEPPeTS. . .o.viii i 1 0303 (Shirley (Homeless Woman))
0109 (EMT) Ted Mattison ........ooviuiiiiiiiiii i
0102 (Jolene’s Husband)
L 19 16) s 5o W0\ £= 7 oo J AP
0101 (Hippie Guy)
Ty Mayberry .. ..oouviiiiiii i
Danya LaBelle..........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1 0308 (Homeless Guy)
0311 (E.R. Nurse) Minni Jo Mazzola .......oouviueiiieiieeiie e,
Rob LaBelle. ......coouuiiiiii e 1 0307 (Kaos’ Girlfriend)
0208 (Virgil) Debra McCabe. ....ovuiieiii e i
Jean-Marie Lamour..............ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiii 1 0101 (Pamela Weilman)
0301 (Serge Lombart) Francis X. McCarthy...........oovviiiiiiiiiniininnn
Zach Latimer ... ..ot 1 0311 (Roger Jackson aka Sonny Coonan)
0306 (Commanding Officer) Neal McDOonough .......oovviiiiiiiiiiie i
Dan Lauria . ....o.ouveieieeieie e ceieieeeaaas 5 0104 (Fredrick James Dafoe)
0103 (Joe Moretti); 0208 (Joe Moretti); 0210 (Joe Rebecca McFarland ........ooovvniininiiiiiiiainnnnn.
Moretti); 0314 (Joe Moretti); 0315 (Joe Moretti) 0207 (Pam Carlson)
Davidde Lautour ............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnenn... 1 Michael Patrick MCGill............ooiiiiiniiiiiainann...
0313 (Natalie’s Australian Friend (Hallucination)) 0205 (Dave Richards)
Andrew Lawrence .............coooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiin i, 1 Gil MCKINNEY ....oiiiii i
0211 (Henry Wilmyer / Micah Conley) 0209 (Bryan Murphy); 0210 (Bryan Murphy)
Lendon LeMelle.........c.oiiiniiriiiiii i 1 Elizabeth McLaughlin............cooiviiiiiiiiiineennnn..
0106 (Rodney) 0314 (Cressida Gardner)

Carlos Leal .....oovuiiiiii i e 1 Zoe McLellan .........ooiuiiiiii ittt iiei e
0301 (Detective Girard) 0311 (Alice Pierce / Celia)

Sharon Leal ...ttt 1 Brian McNamara . .....o.ooutiireiie i ieienneennens
0214 (Inspector Liza Brahms) 0302 (Detective Gerald Rix)

SherylLee .........oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii 1 AjayMehta ...
0103 (Lacey Pinderhall) 0313 (Consul General Ahmad Khan)

Brian Letscher ... 1 AleX MENAOZA . ... ovieeteeeee e aeeaeaanns
0303 (Shane McNamara) 0304 (Jake Forster)

Barry W. Levy ... 1 Gonzalo Menendez..............oooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiinn...
0302 (Cyrus’ Defense Attorney) 0214 (C. J. Delgado)

Andrew C. Lim ... 1 Christopher Meyer............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinenenn..

0102 (FBI Security Guard)

0212 (Kenny Rivers)

EricLinden.........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiii it 1 Nicki MicheauX........cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiii it iiaann
0313 (Killer) 0107 (Ellen)

Lennie Loftin ... 1 Andy Milder .........ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i
0213 (Big Mike) 0313 (Dr. Swank)

James Logan ...t 1 Andy Miller (II) .....oovinii e
0308 (Arthur Lee Johnson) 0308 (Ted Duxbury)

Louise Lombard..........coovuiiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiin e 1 William Miller ...t i
0307 (Josephine Carswell) 0302 (Cyrus Dunham)

Judd Lormand .........oviriiiiiiiiiiiiiieieaieanans. 1 Pat Millicano ........ooviiiiiii it i

0309 (Deputy)
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0103 (Eddie Russell)
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MiKe MOR ...t 1
0205 (Quang Brother)

Trevor Morgan. ........coooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 1
0207 (Jimmy Miles)

Jessica MOTTiS. ..o vvt i et 1
0302 (AUSA Linda Mullane)

Bob MOITiSEY ....vviiiiiii e 1
0110 (Senator Ryland’s Personal Physician)

(0311 T0) e 1LY (o) 7= 1
0310 (Judge Horford)

William MoSeley .. ......c.vuiiniiiiiii i, 1
0108 (Prince Karl of Hesse-Brandenburg)

Tessa MUNIO . ..ottt 1
0102 (Jolene Grey)

Timothy V. Murphy ........c.ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiien 1
0304 (Monsignor Eugene Norris)

Jillian MUITay .. .oovviniie e 1
0106 (Misty Corbett)

Ntare MWINe......ooviiitiii it 1

0308 (ASAC Matthew Jefferies)

Trevor Doyle Nelson.........coooiiuiiiiiiiiiiiinninn... 1
0204 (Shy Guy)

Jacky Nercessian............cooviiviiiiiiiiiiniiniiniinn 1
0301 (Henri)

IngoNeuhaus .........cooiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0201 (Prison Guard)

Brooke Nevin.........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 3

0308 (Shelby Coulson); 0309 (Shelby Coulson); 0310
(Shelby Coulson)

Brooke NeWtom .. ..o.vuvtiiiiiiieiii i eieieeenanenns 1
0106 (Weather Girl)

Rohan Nichol............cooiiiiiiiiii i 1
0303 (Mick Dorian)

James Ning.......oooviiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0212 (Sen Li)

Paulino NUNES. ......oviiiiii it iieieeieeens 1

0101 (Dr. Martin Bryant)

Conor OFarrell.......ooviiiiiiinininieieieiiieanenenans 1
0107 (David Trent)

19 [01S1575) s B O 2 N'e o) (< N 1
0101 (Jimmy)

Sundra Oakley ........c.oviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0203 (Jennifer Britton)

Bruno OlVer. ........oiitiiiii it ieiiieiaaeans 1
0310 (Prison Guard)

Joy OsmansKi........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii 1
0311 (Hospital Doctor)

RiCK Otto ..ot e 1

0213 (Cobra / Greg Palmer)

RaviPatel.........oooiiiiiiii i 1
0101 (Dr. Harvey Kapoor)

Scott Paulin ........ooouiiiiiiii i 1
0110 (Senator Ted Paulson)

David Paymer ..... ... 4

0201 (Ruben Bauer); 0208 (Rueben Bauer); 0212
(Rueben Bauer); 0310 (Rueben Bauer)

Johnny Pemberton....................ooooiiiin, 1
0202 (Imaginary Fanboy)
Miguel Perez. ..o 1

0210 (Judge James Cabrera)
Kinga Philipps......covuiriiiiiiii i 1

0102 (Female Hallucination at FBI Hdqtrs)

Anthony B. Phillips ... 1
0209 (Young Paul Haley)

Wendy Phillips..........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiii 1
0207 (Eileen Miles)

Robert Picardo .........coviiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0202 (A. Z. Weyland)

Philippe Pillavoine..............c.oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiian, 1
0301 (Mime 1)

John Pirruccello. .......ooviiiiinin ittt 1
0209 (Attorney Gennaro)

Larry Poindexter .........c.oouiiuiiniiniiiiiininenaen 1
0213 (Agent John Taylor)

Mitch Poulos ..o 1
0208 (Burly Cop)

CCH POUNAeT. ...ttt it e e e ieeeeiaees 1
0210 (Therapist)

Matt ProKOp . ... oviiii e 1
0206 (Ian Vetter)

Lindsay Pulsipher..............oooiiiiiiiiiiii it 2
0209 (Kendra Murphy); 0210 (Kendra Murphy)

David Purdham ..........c.oiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1

0312 (Walter Bosworth)

DJ QUAllS. ..ottt 5
0205 (FBI Agent Rudy Fleckner); 0206 (FBI Agent
Rudy Fleckner); 0213 (FBI Agent Rudy Fleck-
ner); 0214 (FBI Agent Rudy Fleckner); 0314

(FBI Agent Rudy Fleckner)

William Ragsdale............oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin 1
0106 (Dr. Julian Corvis)

Tim Ransom. ...t 1
0203 (Dr. Robert Mills)

Jeremy Ratchford ... 1
0101 (Detective Hammet)

Rick Ravanello .........ccouiiiiiiiiiiii it iieiiaan 1
0309 (Randy Curtis)

Jazz Raycole.........c.oooiiiiiiiiii 1
0108 (Dorm Student)

Danielle Rayne ...........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaenn.. 1
0203 (Janet Larsen)

Pamela Reed........cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiii it 1
0103 (Mrs. Pinderhall)

Perrey REEVES. .. ...ovvuiiiiii i 3

0209 (Miranda Stiles); 0210 (Miranda Stiles); 0301
(Miranda Stiles)

Bridget Regan .........c..oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 2
0109 (Victoria Ryland); 0110 (Victoria Ryland)
Megan Reinking............cooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinn 1
0213 (Ashley Marcel)

David ReIVETS. ...ttt it e i i i iiiaaeanns 1
0212 (Kenny’s Foster Dad)

SIMON ReX ...t e e 1
0312 (Roy Meier)
Chelsea Ricketts ..........cooviiiiiiii i 2
0209 (Young Miranda); 0210 (Young Miranda)
Kenny Ridwan.............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii ... 1
0211 (Ely Lao)

Beth Riesgraf............co.ooiiiiiiiiiii 1
0213 (Daisy Brennan)

Scott Allen RINKer..........cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinennnn.. 1
0308 (Justin Briggs)

AZIM RIZK. ..o e 1
0108 (Student)

Dylan Roberts.........ouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin e 1
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0101 (Timothy May)

o) 2 e] o7 o 1
0101 (Philip Klane)
Freddy Rodriguez .............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiinnininn. 2
0109 (Wesley Sumter); 0110 (Wesley Sumter)
Bonnie Root....... ..o 1
0309 (FBI Agent Nina Curtis)

REVA ROSE. ...t 1
0306 (Neighbor)

Trenton Rostedt............oiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0307 (Jared Tennenbaum / Kaos)

Matt Roth. ... ..o i 1
0304 (Brendan Voss)

Richie Rothenberg ..................coooiiiiiiiiits, 1
0206 (Guest Star)

Will Rothhaar. ... 1
0104 (Eddie)

Brad ROWe . .....iutiiiiiiii et 6

0202 (FBI Agent Dalton); 0203 (FBI Agent Dalton);
0204 (FBI Agent Dalton); 0302 (FBI Agent Bobby
Dalton); 0303 (FBI Agent Bobby Dalton); 0309
(FBI Agent Bobby Dalton)
John Rubinstein
0213 (FBI Agent Jack Crawford); 0309 (FBI Agent
Jack Crawford); 0311 (FBI Agent Jack Craw-

ford)

ER RUIZ ..o e e 1
0302 ("T-Bone” Epps)

Marty Ryan..........ooooiiiiiiiiiiii e 1
0303 (O’Hare Attorney)

Fred Saldone.........coooviiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiiiniinannns 1
0212 (Cop (Hallucination))

Cole Sand. . ..ouvtii i e 1
0303 (Dillon Wilcox)

Al SaPIENZA . .o\ v ettt 1
0304 (John Pavel Sr.)

Danielle SavIe.......vuininininie i iiiiieieans 1
0312 (Reagan Harper)

Raphael Sbarge .......c.oouiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiineaen 1
0202 (Gerry Bruckner)

Sean Scarborough ................oooonnn 1
0213 (Motel Manager)

Jonathan Scarfe ...t 6

0101 (FBI Special Agent Roger Probert); 0102 (FBI
Special Agent Roger Probert); 0103 (FBI Spe-
cial Agent Roger Probert); 0104 (FBI Special
Agent Roger Probert); 0109 (FBI Special Agent
Roger Probert); 0110 (FBI Special Agent Roger

Probert)

Christina Scherer.............cooiiiiiiiiii i, 1
0108 (Shannon Duquesne)

Klea SCOtt....ovitii it 1
0314 (CPD Detective)

Reid Scott.. ..o e 1
0207 (Dr. Hutchins)

Dave ShalansKy ..........covuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinann 1
0205 (Kurt Simpson)

Kevin Sheridan.............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiainanan 1
0302 (Nicky)

Lisa Sheridan ..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiiiennn.. 1
0204 (Rebecca Abbott)

Armin Shimerman...........cooeeieiiiiniieeiinnenennn. 1
0103 (Dr. Cutler)

Lex Shontz. .....ooviiiiii i e 2
0209 (Larry McPhee); 0210 (Larry McPhee)

Tien Shue. ... .cooiii i i et 1
0301 (Dr. Soong)

Michael B. Silver..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiii i, 1
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0109 (Lawrence Crawford)

Angie Simms
0103 (Goth Girl)

Tom Sizemore
0107 (Bobby Lonergan)

Pat SKIPPeT....ooviuiiiii i
0309 (Ronnie (Sheriff))

Ryan Slater..........coouiiiiiiiiiiiiii i
0105 (Greg Jensen)

Jonathan Slavin...........c.ooiiiiiiiii it
0314 (Kevin (hallucination))

Allison Smith........oooiiiiii i
0110 (Laura Crane)

Taylor John Smith ...t
0204 (Braden Sullivan)

Bahar SoomeKkh ...t
0305 (Vael)

Patrick Stafford
0303 (Josh O’Hare)

Josh Stamberg...............ooiiiiiiiiiii
0214 (Dean)

Anthony Starke
0304 (Richard Douglas)

Meg Steedle. ..ot
0302 (Bonnie Mullane)

David Stifel.......ooviiiiii e
0204 (Worker)

Brooke Stone........c..oiiviiiiiiiiiii i
0201 (Neighbor)

Sadie Stratton............coiiiii i
0306 (Betsy)

Robbie Sublett
0205 (Jeremy Nordhoff)

Tehmina Sunny ............cooviiiiiiiiiiiiii i,
0208 (Nurse Rina)

JB Tadena....coviniiniiii i
0312 (FBI Agent)

Chris Tardio. .......covuiiiii i eae e
0310 (Detective Gomez)

John Hans Tester........couiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinennanns
0306 (Asgar Svensden)

Karen TeUNe. ... ..ovutiiiii it ii e
0208 (Nurse Laurie Mason)

Jules E. Theodore.........ovviiiiininininininninenenenns
0109 (Security Guard)

Dave Thomas. .....o.vvtiiii ittt
0109 (Editor Star-Herald)

Brian Thompson
0201 (Vernon Hill)

Dov Tiefenbach............coiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i
0108 (Andre Lustig)

Evelyn Christina Tonn................cooooiiiiiiiiinn,
0203 (Judge Cleland’s Secretary)
Richard Topol
0206 (Dr. Jeff Bowen); 0311 (Dr. Jeff Bowen)
Mark Totty.......oooiiiiiiiii
0308 (FBI Agent Phil)

Jonathan Tucker.............cooiiiiiiiii i
0107 (Brady McGraw)

Jim Turner (I)
0204 (Dr. Bilson)

JUA TYIOT .ot
0206 (Tess Williams)

PejVahdat........cooiiiiiiiiiiiii i
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0313 (Vice Consul Rashid Prasad) Del Zamora .. .o.o vt s
Steve Valentine........o.ovuiiiiiiiiiiii i 1 0203 (Emmanuel)

0302 (Dr. Napoleon Messier (Hallucination)) Winter Ave Zoli.......cooueiiiiii it
Kate VernOm . ..ottt 1 0102 (Paulina)

0309 (Mary Morrison)
Teddy Vincent............ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiii it 1

0202 (Donny’s Grandmother)
Tom VIrtUE . ..o e 1

0202 (Doctor)

Alisha Wainwright..............c.oooiiiiiiiii 2
0304 (Timid Girl); 0314 (Lily’'s Roommate)

Susan Walters......ouveveiiiiiiieieieieieieenenenenans 1
0204 (Anne Wallace)

LisaWaltz. .....couvni e 1
0105 (Sandy Shelby)

Sigmund WatKins ..........oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinninn... 1
0206 (Cop)

AleX WeEed. ..ottt s 1
0313 (Scott Pineda)

Garett Weinstein ...........coooiiiiii it 1
0307 (Young Teddy)

Kevin Weisman.........cooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnn. 1
0210 (Todd Erlich)

ROb WelsSh ...t e 1
0311 (Tyler the Stoner)

Kimberly Whalen...........c..ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin e, 1
0209 (Ruby)

Maggie Wheeler ..., 1
0202 (Barbara Bruckner)

Laura Wiggins.........oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0204 (Patti Wallace)

Cheyenne Wilbur...........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniinenen 1
0214 (Professor Schneider)

Gareth Willlams .......ooivniii i ciieees 1
0310 (Brian McGrath)

JoBeth Williams........coviiiiiiiiiiii i 2
0207 (Margaret Pierce); 0311 (Margaret Pierce)

Ray Wise......oooiiiiii i 1
0204 (Martin Sullivan)

Scott Wolf ... e 12

0201 (AUSA Donnie Ryan); 0202 (AUSA Donnie
Ryan); 0203 (AUSA Donnie Ryan); 0204 (AUSA
Donnie Ryan); 0206 (AUSA Donnie Ryan); 0208
(AUSA Donnie Ryan); 0209 (AUSA Donnie Ryan);
0210 (AUSA Donnie Ryan); 0211 (AUSA Don-
nie Ryan); 0212 (AUSA Donnie Ryan); 0213
(AUSA Donnie Ryan); 0214 (AUSA Donnie Ryan)

Adam Wylie. .. ..o 1
0214 (Tyler Woolf)

David H. Lawrence XVII ..........coiiiiiiiiiiiinnannnn. 1
0107 (Public Defender)

YilinYang........oooooiiiiiiiiiiii 1
0301 (Ms. Liu)
Elle Young........ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1
0304 (Brooke Robinson / Mistress Cyrenne)
Nancy Youngblut...............oooiiiiiiiiini 2
0201 (Judge Leslie Markway); 0209 (Judge Leslie
Markway)
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